
 

Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 
Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA 

ceredigion.gov.uk 
 

 

1 
 

8 October 2021 
Nia Jones 

 
 
 

Dear Sir / Madam 
 
I write to inform you that a Meeting of the Democratic Services Committee will be 
held remotely via video-conferencing on Friday, 15 October 2021 at 10.00 am for the 
transaction of the following business: 
 
1.   Apologies  

 
2.   Disclosure of personal /prejudicial interests  

 
3.   To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 21 

May 2021 and to consider any matters arising (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

4.   To consider a Report on aspects of the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act relevant to the Democratic Services Committee 
(Pages 9 - 12) 
 

5.   To consider a report on the Diversity in Democracy Action Plan 
(Pages 13 - 16) 
 

6.   To consider a report on the Electoral Review Ward Boundaries 
(Pages 17 - 22) 
 

7.   To consider a report on Elected Member Role Descriptions (Pages 23 
- 68) 
 

8.   To consider a report on a Development Framework for Councillors in 
Wales 2021 (Pages 69 - 84) 
 

9.   To consider a report on Member ICT Provision post elections 2022 
(Pages 85 - 100) 
 

10.   To consider a draft Ceredigion County Council Candidates' Guide 
(Pages 101 - 118) 
 

11.   To consider a draft Members' Induction Programme 2022 (Pages 119 - 
122) 
 

12.   To consider the Democratic Services' Committee Annual Report 
(Pages 123 - 136) 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/


13.   To consider a report in relation to the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales' Draft Annual Report 2022/23 consultation (Pages 137 
- 140) 
 

14.   Any other matter which the Chairman decides is for the urgent 
attention of the Committee  
 

 

 
 

A Translation Services will be provided at this meeting and those present are 
welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting. 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Miss Lowri Edwards 
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services 
 
To:  Chairman and Members of Democratic Services Committee 
 The remaining Members of the Council for information only. 



 

1 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 
held remotely via video-conferencing on Friday, 21 May 2021 

 
PRESENT;  Councillor Ceredig Davies (Chair), Councillors Clive Davies, Gwyn 
James, Dai Mason and Wyn Thomas 
 
Elizabeth Evans, Rhodri Evans, Gareth Lloyd and Ray Quant were also in 
attendance. 
 
Officers in attendance: Lowri Edwards, Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic 
Services; Elin Prysor, Corporate Lead Officer: Legal and Governance, Nia Jones, 
Corporate Manager: Democratic Services; Hannah Rees, Governance Officer. 
 

(10.00 - 11.50 am) 
 

 Procedure 
The Chairman welcomed all to the meeting. 

1 Apologies 
Councillor Lloyd Edwards apologised for his inability to attend the meeting. 
 

2 Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests 
There were no disclosures of interest. 
 

3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 15th October 2020 
It was RESOLVED to note the minutes of the meeting held 15th October 
2020 as correct. 
 
Matters arising 
Item 6: During the meeting of 15 October 2020, it was noted that a Councillor 
Keith Evans submitted a query in relation to investigating the possibility of 
providing a group high speed broadband / fibre contract for all Councillors 
and Senior Officers of the Council, requesting that Officers look into this 
matter.  
 
It was noted that providing high speed connections is possible with different 
solutions but all come at a much higher cost of installation and annual 
revenue costs, therefore this is not a technical issue but a financial and 
policy issue, who is eligible and how is it financed.  The Council currently 
have over a 1000 staff connecting daily from home over their broadband and 
able to carry out most of their duties and if the Authority decides that it will 
provide high speed broadband to certain individuals, then a policy needs to 
be agreed on who gets this service, why they are entitled and how it is 
funded. 
 
Councillor Clive Davies noted that he has been in regular communication 
with Openreach and Welsh Government regarding the advancement of 
broadband in Ceredigion, and that improvements were happening all the 
time.  He also noted that it had been announced earlier today that additional 
funding would become available from the UK Government in support of 
further developments. 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

 
4 Report recommending a review of the size of all committees 

The Corporate Lead Officer, Democratic Services presented the report to the 
committee, noting that the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for 
Wales had completed its boundary review for Ceredigion County Council and 
that we are currently awaiting a decision from Welsh Government Ministers 
upon the recommendations.  If an Order is made as per the Boundary 
Commission’s recommendations, the number of Councillors representing 
Ceredigion County Council will reduce from 42 to 38 from May 2022 which 
will also impact upon the capacity of Members and therefore the number on 
each committee. 
 
Following discussion, it was RESOLVED to establish a Cross-Party Task 
and Finish Group to consider a review in the size of Committees, for 
implementation from May 2022, following the Order being made; with a view 
to presenting recommendations to Council in January 2022. 
 

5 Report on Size of Governance and Audit Committee 
The Corporate Lead Officer, Legal and Governance Services presented the 
report to the committee, noting that the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 stipulates that from 5 May 2022 one third of members of 
the Governance and Audit Committee must be lay members. 
 
It was noted that this matter had been considered by the Governance and 
Audit Committee on 24 February 2021 and that the preferred option of that 
committee is that the number of lay members are increased from 1 to 3, and 
that the number of County Councillors remain at 6.  It was noted that there 
would be a cost implication resulting from increasing the number of lay 
members, however this would be an opportunity to bring in different expertise 
to the committee.   
 
The Council is currently in the process of recruiting additional lay Members to 
the Governance and Audit Committee.  The concern was raised that delaying 
this process until the Council decision in January 2022 may result in a failure 
to recruit sufficient members prior to May 2022. 
 
Following discussion is was RESOLVED to recommend to Council that from 
6 May 2022 that the Governance and Audit Committee should comprise of 3 
independent / lay members and 6 County Council Members. 
 

6 Report on the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 - 
matters relevant to the Democratic Services Committee 
The Corporate Manager for Democratic Services presented a report to the 
committee, outlining the main aspects of the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 relevant to the committee, including publishing a 
strategy encouraging participation by local people, the creation of an e-
petition scheme, a duty to publish official addresses, electronic broadcasting 
of meetings, enabling job-sharing, family absences, duties of leaders of 
political groups in relation to standards of conduct and the making of 
information available to Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 

Page 4



 

3 
 

The Corporate Lead Officer for Legal and Governance also note a 
requirement relating to qualification and dis-qualification of Members. 
 
Following discussion is was RESOLVED to note the aspects of the draft 
Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act specific to the Democratic 
Services. 
 

7 Report on changes to the Council's Constitution 
The Corporate Lead Officer for Legal and Governance presented a report to 
the committee, noting that the Council’s Cross-Party Constitution Working 
Group approved the amendments to the Council’s Constitution in its meeting 
held on 19th April 2021, to be presented to the Democratic Services 
Committee.   
 
The proposed amendments related to the Council’s procedure rules relating 
to Motions on Notice, Call-In procedures and the principles of the voting 
mechanism relating to simple majority and the Chairperson’s casting vote. 
 
The aim of these amendments to appendices 1 and 2 are to simplify and 
clarify the procedures in relation to the deadline for submitting a Motion, 
making amendment both prior to the meeting and during the meeting.  Also, 
clarifying what can and cannot be called in, criteria for referral to Council and 
consent in relation to urgent decisions.   
 
It was also recommended that the over-arching Council rules in relation to 
voting within the constitution are duplicated to all committees for clarity. 
 
Following discussion is was RESOLVED to recommend to Council the 
following amendments to the Constitution: 
 

1) to approve the proposed amendments regarding Notice of Motion and 
the Call-in Procedure 

2) to approve proposed amendments to regularise Cabinet and the 
Committees procedural arrangements to reflect the Council Procedure 
Rules as regards voting majority and Chairperson’s casting vote within 
meetings. 

 
8 Forward work programme for 2021/22 

Consideration was given to the forward work programme for 2021, and it was 
noted that Members are able to propose additions to the Forward Work 
Programme as matters arise. 
 

It was RESOLVED to approve the forward work programme as presented. 
 

9 Any other matter which the Chairman decides is for the urgent 
attention of the Committee 
It was noted that the Chairman had asked all Councillors in advance of this 
meeting if they had any matters to raise.  The following items had been 
presented to the Chairman: 
 

Page 5



 

4 
 

a) It was noted that the press had recently reported on dispensation 
applications presented to the Ethics and Standards Committee.  It was 
agreed that the Corporate Lead Officer would discuss this matter with 
the new Chairman of the Ethics and Standards Committee with a 
recommendation to stipulate on the dispensation form that information 
provided will be made public. 

b) Members queried as to the expected time-frame for returning to 
Penmorfa.  It was noted that it would not be possible to return during 
the installation of the new Council Chamber equipment. 

c) It was agreed that the Democratic Services Committee would ask the 
Leader of the Council to provide a substantial update on Covid-19 as 
an agenda item, focussing on short-term developments as opposed to 
providing a verbal update in order that Members are able to prepare 
questions in advance.  It was acknowledged that data relating to 
Covid-19 cases would need to be provided verbally on the day. 

d) Members noted that the ‘CLIC’ enquiry system in itself was working 
effectively, however Members do not know who is dealing with any 
particular enquiry, and often do not receive feedback when a matter 
has been dealt with.  It was also noted that the system provides 
separate ticket items when you follow up on a query, and that it can 
be difficult to keep track of queries.  It was noted that the Service is 
currently developing ‘your account’ which will facilitate this.  Officers 
were asked to clarify the time-frame for this development 

e) Members asked whether they would be eligible to receive eye-care 
vouchers which are currently available to employees.  It was noted 
that the regulations relating to Display Screen Equipment relate to 
health and safety legislations for employees and workers.  Whilst 
Members are not technically categorised as employees or workers, 
the advice from People and Organisation Services suggested that if 
Democratic Services believe that members fulfil the critieria within the 
DSE legislation, they may be eligible to claim under the Council’s eye-
care scheme.  The Health and Safety regulations stipulate that: “The 
Health and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) Regulations apply to 
workers who use DSE daily, for an hour or more at a time. We 
describe these workers as 'DSE users'. The regulations don't apply to 
workers who use DSE infrequently or only use it for a short time”.  It 
was noted that a process would need to be developed for Councillors 
and they themselves would have to declare that they use DSE daily, 
for an hour or more at a time. 

f) Members asked about the provision of a secondary piece of IT 
equipment for Chairs of Committees.  It was noted that last year, 
Cabinet Members and Chairmen of Committees who had previously 
requested an I-pad had been offered the loan of a lap-top in order to 
facilitate with the co-ordinating of committees whilst working from 
home.  Those Members that are no longer Chairs of Committees will 
be asked to return the loan equipment, and new Committee Chairmen 
will receive the same offer.  It was noted that information relating to 
the cost of providing additional equipment would be reflected in the 
Statement of Members’ Allowances paid during 2020/21 which would 
be published shortly. 

 

Page 6



 

5 
 

Confirmed at the Meeting of the Democratic Services Committee held 
on 12 October 2021 

 
Chairman:   

 
Date:   

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021  
 
Title: Update on the Local Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act 2021 – matters relevant to the Democratic 
Services Committee 

 
Purpose of report:  To update the committee as to aspects of the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 relevant 
to the Democratic Services Committee. 

 
Background 
The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act was passed in the Senedd on 18 
November 2020 and received Royal Assent on 20 January 2021. The Act will be 
implemented by means of 3 Commencement Orders, bringing into force various 
aspects of the Act by means of a phased approach. 
 
The Bill is extensive and has the potential to impact on numerous administrative and 
decision making processes of the Council, effecting most if not all Committees.  
Aspects which are resource intensive, relating specifically to the Democratic Services 
Committee have been highlighted below. However it is recommended that Members 
review the Bill in its entirety in relation to recommendations / proposals which will 
impact Members directly. 
 
Duty to encourage local people to participate in decision-making by principal 
councils 
Sections 39-41, Chapter 4 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 
stipulates that a principal council must prepare and publish a public participation 
strategy, including promoting awareness of the council’s functions, how to become a 
member, what membership entails, ways of facilitating access to information about 
decisions made, or to be made, making representations, bringing the views of the 
public to the attention of overview and scrutiny committees and promoting awareness 
among members of the benefits of using social media to communicate with local 
people. 
 
The draft engagement policy is currently under development and is due to be 
presented to Cabinet on 2 November 2021 following by a public consultation with 
residents of Ceredigion, and the amended policy presented to Cabinet on 15 March 
2022.   
 
This provision will come into force on 5 May 2022. 
 
Duty to make a petitions scheme 
Section 42, Chapter 4 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill relates to 
a requirement to set out a petition scheme, including electronic petitions. 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

We are currently awaiting guidance documents from Welsh Government as to the set 
parameters of the petition scheme. Once this information has been received, final 
amendments can be made to the online petition system, and amendments made to 
the draft scheme, in order to ensure compliance with the legislation. 
  
This provision will come into force on 5 May 2022. 
 
Duty to publish official addresses 
Section 43, Chapter 4 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill requires 
that a principal council must publish an electronic and postal address for each 
member of the council, to which correspondence for the member may be sent.  
 
Electronic and postal addresses for the majority of Ceredigion County Council 
Members are currently published on our website.  This provision will come into force 
on 5 May 2022, and details of electronic address for all Members will be added to the 
Council’s website following the elections in May 2022. 
 
Electronic broadcasts of meetings 
Sections 46-51, Chapter 4 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 
proposes that principal councils make and publish arrangements to ensure the 
broadcasting of proceedings at a meeting are available so that members of the public 
not in attendance can see and hear the proceedings, and made available for a 
specified time following the meeting.  This will apply to meetings which are open to the 
public, including the executive of a principal council, a committee or sub-committee of 
an executive of a principal council, a committee or sub-committee or a principal 
council, a joint committee, or a sub-committee of a joint committee, of two or more 
principal councils.   
 
From 1 May 2021, the 3rd Commencement Order of the Act came into force, which 
provides for attendance, including remote attendance at local authority meetings.  The 
Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020 provided 
flexibility to enable local authorities to operate safely, effectively and lawfully, whilst 
retaining the principles of openness and accountability to the public.  The 2020 
Regulations related to meetings held before 1 May 2021, therefore the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act enables authorities to transition from the 2020 
Regulations to the permanent provisions of the Act, as set out in the Local Government 
and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (Consequential Amendments and Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Regulations 2021. 
 
The Welsh Minister may by regulation make further provisions in connection with the 
broadcast of proceedings at a meeting.  This will come into force from 5 May 2022.  
The Welsh Government will also make guidance available to support local authorities 
in implementing these provisions. 
 
Ceredigion County Council has successfully applied for funding from the Welsh 
Government Digital Democracy Fund to cover the cost of purchase for the installation 
of hardware, which will support software for which will support hybrid meetings, with 
translation in addition to broadcasting. 
 

Page 10



3 
 

The tender process it now complete, and we are in the progress of installing the 
necessary hardware to support the hybrid meetings software, which will take place 
during November.  We are currently awaiting guidance from the Welsh Government 
with regards to which meetings will be required to be broadcasted.  Arrangements will 
be published once this information is received. 
 
Next steps: 
 
Work will be undertaken over the next year to ensure that the Council meets the 
statutory requirements of the Act. An Action Plan is currently being developed to 
ensure the timetable is met. 
 
 
Recommendations: That the Committee notes the aspects of the 

draft Local Government and Elections (Wales) 
Bill specific to the Democratic Services 
Committee. 

  
Appendices: None    
    
Background documents: The Local Government and Elections (Wales) 

Act 2021: 
 http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHom

e.aspx?IId=26688  
 
Name:                              Nia Jones 
Job Title:                  Corporate Manager – Democratic Services  
Date:    27.09.2021 
 

Page 11

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=26688
http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=26688


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021  
 
Title: Diversity in Democracy Action Plan 
 
Purpose of report:  For the Committee to consider and agree upon the 

Diversity in Democracy Action Plan  
 
Introduction 
 
At its meeting on 23 September 2021, the Council endorsed the Diversity Declaration 
as agreed by the WLGA Council as follows: 
 

This Council commits to being a Diverse Council. We agree to: 

• Provide a clear public commitment to improving diversity in democracy 
• Demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all, promoting the highest 

standards of behaviour and conduct 
• Consider staggering council meeting times and agreeing recess periods to 

support councillors with other commitments; and 
• Set out an Action Plan of activity ahead of the 2022 local elections; 

 
The Council also agreed that the Democratic Services Committee, in conjunction with 
the Group Leaders agree upon and deliver an action plan leading up to the 2022 local 
elections with the aim of improving diversity in democracy. 
 
 
 
Recommendation: To agree to the action plan leading up to the 2022 

local elections with the aim of improving 
diversity in democracy 

 
Appendix: Appendix A – Action Plan 
 
Background documents:  
 
Lowri Edwards      
Head of Democratic Services   
 
27th September 2021 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 

DIVERSITY IN DEMOCRACY ACTION PLAN 

OBJECTIVE ACTIONS TIMEFRAME 

Increase awareness of the role of 
members, the contribution they 
make to society and how to 
become an Elected Member 

Produce a Candidates’ guide 

Review the Council’s website 
page, to include the 
Candidates’ guide  

Promote the candidates’ 
guide via social media 

Draft to be reviewed by the 
Democratic Service 
Committee,  

Circa November / December 
following receipt of guidance 
from Welsh Government on 
the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
(LG&EW) and confirmation 
of Local Election (Wales) 
Rules 2021 

December 2021 

Increase awareness of 
importance of diversity in 
democracy 

Council to sign up to the 
Diversity Declaration 

Press release issued by the 
Communications Team  

Review the Council’s website 
to include the Diversity in 
Democracy declaration 

Promote diversity in Local 
Government elections via 
social media 

Agreed by Council on 
23.09.21 

23.09.2021 

October 2021 

December 2021 – March 
2022 

Maximise opportunities for 
individuals to work in ways that 
enable them to achieve a work-life 
balance which protects their 
welfare and well-being and allows 
them to manage any caring / 
dependency responsibilities 

Arrangements for hybrid 
meetings 

Promote job-sharing 
opportunities and other 
benefits such as family 
absence provisions, and 
contribution towards costs of 
care and personal assistance 
via social media 

Review of meeting times to 
have more flexibility to suit 
the committee Members 

January 2022 

December 2021 – March 
2022 

This review takes places 
annually – ongoing. Will 
take place following the 
elections. 

APPENDIX A

Page 14



Provide a training awareness 
programme for Members  

Review areas of training and 
development which can be 
made available online 
 
Members Induction 
Programme 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
ongoing 

Undertake a diversity and 
inclusion survey with current 
Members 

Undertake a diversity and 
inclusion survey with 
Members which will provide a 
benchmark for future 
elections and allow the 
feedback to be reviewed to 
support barriers that may 
have been experienced by a 
Member during their term in 
office.  This survey feedback 
will help to deliver a positive 
and diverse environment for 
future Member to undertake 
their roles 

 

Increase engagement with the 
public to raise awareness of the 
role and activities of the Council, 
and how the public can better 
inform local decision making 

The Draft Engagement 
Policy, which is currently in 
consultation provides 
information regarding the 
LG&EW Act and public 
consultation 
 
To produce an e-petition 
scheme 
 
 
To publish postal and 
electronic addresses for each 
Member 
 
To enable remote attendance 
at Council Meetings 
 
 
 
 
Members of the public are 
currently able to suggest 
issues or topics for Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, and 
to present their views on an 
upcoming item.  A protocol is 
in place which outlines this 
process and can be viewed 
on the Council’s website. 

Currently in consultation.  
Published circa November 
2021 
 
 
 
 
May 2022 
 
 
 
May 2022 
 
 
 
Councillor and members of 
the public are currently able 
to attend via zoom. This will 
be replaced by a hybrid 
option circa January 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 
To develop a protocol 
whereby members of the 
public will be given an option 
to either address the 
Development Control 
Committee directly via zoom 
or to have their comments 
read 
 
Publication of the Council’s 
Constitution guide.  

 
October 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Constitution is currently 
on the website. The guide is 
due to be in place by May 
2022 

 

Page 16



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021  
 
Title: Electoral Review of Ward Boundaries 
 
Purpose of report:  To highlight amendments to Ward Boundaries in 

Ceredigion, and impact on Committee Membership 
 
Background 
The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales recently conducted a 
review of electoral arrangements in Ceredigion in accordance with the Local 
Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013, publishing its Final Recommendations 
on 31 May 2019.  
 
The Commission proposed a council of 38 members, a reduction from the present 42 
members, with a county average of 1,384 electors per member. It also recommended 
34 electoral wards, a reduction from the 40 existing wards. The revised wards are 
derived as a result of creating four two-member electoral wards, namely Aberporth 
and Y Ferwig, Aberystwyth Morfa a Glais, Aberystwyth Penparcau and Beulah and 
Llangoedmor; and combining a part of a warded community, along with its 
neighbouring community.  These community splits are present within the Communities 
of Dyffryn Arth, Llandysul and Nantcwnlle.  
 
On 14 September 2021, the Minister for Finance and Local Government accepted the 
recommendations of the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales with 
modifications in respect of the County of Ceredigion, to be put in place for the 2022 
local government elections.  The final agreed version is due shortly, following minor 
outstanding items relating Ward names. 
 
Full details can be reviewed in the ‘Final Recommendations Report’ available online 
at: 
https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendati
ons%20Report%201_0.pdf 
 
Next steps: 
 
Work will be undertaken over the next few months in preparation for the Local 
Government Elections in May next year, and a communication strategy will be 
developed with an to ensure that residents are aware of the changes that will have an 
impact upon them. A Task and Finish group has been established to conduct a full 
review of the size and membership of all Committees of the Council in order to ensure 
appropriate representation, in lieu of the reduced number of Councillors.  The first 
meeting of the Task and Finish group was held on 29 September, and we are aiming 
to present the recommendations of this group to Council no later than December of 
this year. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6

https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%201_0.pdf
https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%201_0.pdf


2 
 

Recommendations: That the Committee notes the action plan noted in 
the next steps above; 

  
Appendices: A: Written Statement – Electoral Arrangements 

Decision 12 August 2021   
    
Background documents: Local Democracy and Boundary Commission Final 

Recommendations Report:  
https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredi
gion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%
201_0.pdf 

 
Name:                              Lowri Edwards 
Job Title:                  Corporate Lead Officer Democratic Services  
Date:    06.10.2021 
 

 

Page 18

https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%201_0.pdf
https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%201_0.pdf
https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%201_0.pdf


 1 

WRITTEN STATEMENT  

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 

TITLE Local Authority Electoral Boundary Review - Update 

DATE 12 August 2021 

BY Rebecca Evans MS, Minister for Finance and Local Government. 

On 16 June I wrote to members to set out the current position in respect of the current 
programme of Electoral Arrangements Reviews. I also set out the process by which I intend 
to communicate my decisions about each area.  

This included my commitment to provide regular updates to members through written 
statements.  This is the fifth of these updates. 

On 11 August I wrote to the Leader and Chief Executive of the County Borough of Merthyr 
Tydfil to confirm my decision to accept the recommendations of the Local Democracy and 
Boundary Commission for Wales with modifications, in respect of the County Borough of 
Merthyr Tydfil. 

The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales Final Recommendations 
Report for the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil can be found here.  The modifications 
made to these recommendations are set out in the annex to this statement 

In addition, I wrote to the Leader and Chief Executive of the County of Ceredigion to confirm 
the decision to accept the recommendations of the Local Democracy and Boundary 
Commission for Wales, with modifications, in respect of the County of Ceredigion.  

The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales Final Recommendations 
Report for the County of Ceredigion can be found here. The modifications made to these 
recommendations are set out in the annex to this statement. 

Work will now be taken forward to implement these decisions by Order. 

Further information will be provided once I have made decisions about other areas. 

This statement is being issued during recess in order to keep members informed. Should 

Page 19

https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Merthyr%20Final%20Report_e.pdf
https://ldbc.gov.wales/sites/ldbc/files/review/Ceredigion%20Final%20Recommendations%20Report%201_0.pdf


 2 

members wish me to make a further statement or to answer questions on this when the 
Senedd returns I would be happy to do so. 
 
 
  

Page 20



 3 

 
Annex  

 
Modifications made to the Commission’s Final recommendations for electoral arrangements 
in the following areas. 
 
 
County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil  
 

 The Commission proposed the electoral ward of Park is given the Welsh language 
name of Parc. The electoral ward will be given the Welsh language name of Y Parc.   

 The Commission proposed no change to the electoral ward of Bedlinog. The electoral 
ward will be given the English language name of Bedlinog and Trelewis and the Welsh 
language name of Bedlinog a Threlewis.  
 
 

 
 
County of Ceredigion 

 
 

 The Commission proposed the electoral ward of Ceulanamaesmawr is given the single 
name of Ceulanamaesmawr. The electoral ward will be given the single name of Ceulan 
a Maesmawr.   

 The Commission proposed the electoral ward of Llanarth be given the single name of 
Llanarth. The electoral ward will be given the single name of Llannarth.  

 The Commission proposed the electoral ward of Aberporth and Y Ferwig is given the 
Welsh language name of Aberporth a’r Ferwig. The electoral ward will be given the 
Welsh language name of Aber-porth a’r Ferwig. 

 The Commission proposed the electoral ward of Llandysul North and Troedyraur be 
given the Welsh language name of  Gogledd Llandysul a Throedyraur. The electoral 
ward will be given the Welsh language name of  Gogledd Llandysul a Throed-yr-aur  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021  
 
Title: Elected Member Role Descriptions 
 
Purpose of report:  For the Committee to consider and agree upon a 

revised suite of model Elected Member Role 
Descriptions produced by the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA) 

 
 
Background 
 
The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) have produced a revised set of 
Member Role Descriptions in association with Member and Local Authority Officers.  
The generic role descriptors which set out the responsibilities and functions of the role 
of the elected member are available as a suggestion rather than prescription.  Elected 
Members have a wide range or roles and responsibilities which they are expected to 
undertake, and the role descriptions aim to provide a framework and guidance upon 
these responsibilities and a range of activities that Members undertake. 
 
Appendix A include the model role descriptions for the following roles: 
 
Elected Member 
Leader (and Deputy) 
Cabinet Member 
Chair of the Council 
Chair of Democratic Services Committee 
Member of Democratic Services Committee 
Chair of Regulatory Committee 
Member of Regulatory Committee 
Chair of Standards Committee 
Member of Standards Committee 
Chair of Governance and Audit Committee 
Member of Governance and Audit Committee 
Overview and Scrutiny Chair 
Overview and Scrutiny Member 
Leader of the Opposition 
Political Group Leader 
Member Champion Purpose and Role 
Member Champion Role Description 
 
The Democratic Services Committee is invited to consider whether they wish to accept 
the generic versions, or if they wish to tailor any of the mode role descriptions to ensure 
that they accurately reflect the diversity of the role undertaken, or the nature of such 
roles within the context of Ceredigion County Council.   

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



2 

 

 
Conclusion 
 
Subject to the outcomes of this meeting, it is proposed that the Member Role 
Descriptions are submitted to the Council for approval, following which each Member 
will be issued with their Elected Member and other role descriptions following the 
elections in May 2022. 
 
They can also be published on the Council website as part of the ‘Candidate Guide’ 
webpage. 
 
Recommendation: To agree upon the revised set of Member Role 

Descriptions 
 
 
Appendix: Appendix A – WLGA generic Member role 

descriptions  
 
Background documents:  
 
 
Nia Jones     
Corporate Manager Democratic Services   
 
27th September 2021 
 

Page 24



 

   1   

Framework Member Role  

Descriptions and Person  

Specifications 

 June 2021 

Page 25



 

2 

Welsh Local Government Association  
 
The WLGA’s primary purposes are to promote a better local government, its reputation and to 

support authorities in the development of policies and priorities which will improve public 

service and democracy.  

 

It represents the 22 local authorities in Wales with the 3 fire and rescue authorities and 3 

national park authorities as associate members. 

 

Welsh Local Government Association  

Local Government House 

Drake Walk 

Cardiff CF10 4LG  

 

029 2046 8600 | www.wlga.wales 

@WelshLGA 
 
 
 
Published: June  
Copyright: Welsh Local Government Association 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

3 

Background  

This is a set of generic role descriptions and person specifications for elected members. They 
are applicable in any authority and are made available as suggestions rather than prescription.  

The role descriptions set out the responsibilities and functions of the role of the elected 
member. The person specifications describe the qualities and skills required of the member in 
the role and can help when considering personal development.   

Where members undertake more than one role it is anticipated that role descriptions would 
be combined. For example: Overview and Scrutiny committee chairs would be expected to 
undertake the role of, Elected member, Overview and Scrutiny Member and Overview and 
Scrutiny Chair.  

These role descriptions are designed to be used alongside the Welsh Member Development 
(Competency) Framework  which describes the skills knowledge and behaviours required of 
Councillors   

This document has been produced collaboratively by the Welsh local Government Association, 
working with members and officers from all the authorities in Wales. It takes account of all the 
UK and Wales legislation affecting the role of members, including, most recently, the Local 
Government and elections (Wales) Act 2021.  

Please contact Sarah Titcombe, Policy, and Improvement Officer (Democratic Services)  
WLGA. Tel 029 2046 8638 or e mail sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27

https://www.wlga.wales/councillor-development-competency-framework
https://www.wlga.wales/councillor-development-competency-framework


 

4 

 

 

Contents  

Role description  Page  

▪ Elected Member                                                                                                            5 
 

▪ Leader (and Deputy)                                                                                                      7 
 

▪ Cabinet Member                                                                                                           10 
 

▪ Chair of the Council                                                                                                       12 
 

▪ Chair of Democratic Services Committee                                                                  14 
 

▪ Member of Democratic Services Committee                                                            16 
 

▪ Chair of a Regulatory Committee                                                                                18 
 

▪ Member of a Regulatory Committee                                                                          19 
 

▪ Chair of Standards Committee                                                                                     21 
 

▪ Member of Standards Committee                                                                               23 
 

▪ Chair of Governance and Audit Committee                                                               25 
 

▪ Member of Governance and Audit Committee                                                         27 
 

▪ Overview and Scrutiny Chair                                                                                         29 
 

▪ Overview and Scrutiny Member                                                                                   32 
 

▪ Leader of the Opposition                                                                                               35 
 

▪ Political Group Leader                                                                                                    37 
 

▪ Member Champion Purpose and Role                                                                        41 
 

▪ Member Champion Role Description                                                                          43   
 
  

Page 28



 

5 

Elected Member Role Description  

1. Accountabilities  

▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the electorate of their ward 

2. Role Purpose and Activity  

             Representing and supporting communities 

▪ To represent ward interests 
▪ To be an advocate for the Council in the ward and communities they serve 
▪ To be a channel of communication to the community on council strategies, policies, 

services, and procedures 
▪ To represent individual constituents and local organisations, undertaking casework 

on their behalf and serving all fairly and equally 
▪ To liaise with executive members, other council members, council officers and 

partner organisations to ensure that the needs of the local communities are 
identified, understood, and supported. 

▪ To be vigilant and do everything possible to protect adults and children at risk from 
abuse. 

▪ To promote tolerance and cohesion in local communities 

  Making decisions and overseeing council performance 

▪ To participate in Full Council meetings, reaching and making informed and 
balanced decisions, and overseeing performance 

▪ To participate in informed and balanced decision making on committees and 
panels to which they might be appointed. 

▪ To adhere to the principles of democracy and collective responsibility in decision 
making 

▪ To take corporate responsibility for the protection of vulnerable children and 
adults 

▪ To promote and ensure efficiency and effectiveness in the provision of council and 
other public services. 

   Representing the Council (subject to appointment) 

▪ To represent the Council on local outside bodies as an appointee of the Council 
▪ To represent the Council on local partnership bodies, promoting common interest 

and co-operation for mutual gain 
▪ To represent and be an advocate for the Council on national bodies and at national 

events 

 

 

Page 29



 

6 

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships 

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs. 
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship. 
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government. 
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships 

with employees, the public and other members of the Council. 
▪ To adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, member/officer protocols and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office  
▪ To have regard to the requirements of the Group Leader (where one exists) in 

matters of conduct and behaviour. 
▪ To promote equalities and diversity 

 
Personal and role development 
To actively identify individual needs and participate in opportunities for development 
provided for members by the authority. 

3. Values  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public   
office 

▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 
▪ Sustainability  

Page 30



 

7 

Leader (and Deputy) Role Description  

1. Accountabilities  

▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the Public 

2. Role Purpose and Activity  

Providing political leadership to the Council 

▪ To be a political figurehead for the Council; to be the principal political 
spokesperson for the Council. 

▪ To provide leadership in building a political consensus around council policies 
▪ To form a vision for the Council and community 
▪ To provide strong, clear leadership in the co-ordination of policies, strategies, and 

service delivery 

       Appointing the Cabinet* 

▪ To designate the appropriate portfolios 
▪ To appoint appropriate elected members to each portfolio 
▪  To allocate cabinet members to roles with regards to their abilities.   
▪ To designate the Deputy Leader.     

      Representing and acting as ambassador for the Authority 

▪ To represent the Authority to a high standard. Provide a strong, competent, and 
eloquent figure to represent the Authority both within the County and at external 
bodies. 

▪ To represent the Authority on the WLGA coordinating committee and the WLGA 
regional partnership board. 

▪ To provide leadership and support local partnerships and organisations. 
▪ To represent the Authority in regional and national bodies as appropriate. 

Providing leadership within the portfolio 

▪ To fulfil the role of a portfolio holder, having regard to the role purpose and 
activities, and role specification of an executive member 

▪ Managing and leading the work of the Cabinet and chairing meetings 

▪ To ensure the effective running of the Cabinet by managing the forward work 
programme and ensuring its continuing development. 

▪ To ensure the work of the Cabinet meets national policy objectives. 
▪ To agree objectives with Cabinet Members and monitor progress. 

▪ To advise and mentor other cabinet members in their work. 
▪ To chair meetings of the Cabinet in line with the Constitution. 

Page 31



 

8 

▪ In the Leader’s absence the Deputy Leader should fulfil this role. 

▪ Participating in the collective decision making of the Cabinet 

 

▪ To work closely with other cabinet members to ensure the development of 
effective council policies and the budgetary framework for the Council, and the 
delivery of high-quality services to local people. 

▪ To accept collective responsibility and support decisions made by the Cabinet once 
they have been made. 

▪ Working with officers to lead the organisation. 

▪ To liaise with the Chief Executive, and other appropriate officers, on a regular basis 
▪ To work with employees of the Council in relation to the strategic vision and 

direction of the Council, the management roles of officers and the development of 
policy issues. 

▪ Leading partnerships and community leadership 

▪ To give leadership to local strategic partnerships and local partners in the pursuit of 
common aims and priorities 

▪ To negotiate and broker in cases of differing priorities and disagreement. 
▪ To act as a leader of the local community by showing vision and foresight 

▪ Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships 

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs. 
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship. 
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government. 
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships with 

employees of the Council. 
▪ To adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol, and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office 

3. Values  

▪ To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office: 
▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 
▪ Sustainability 
▪ Inclusive leadership 
▪ Consensus building 

 

 
 

Page 32



 

9 

Deputy Leader  

▪ To fulfil the duties of the Leader in his or her absence 
▪ To assist the Leader in specific duties as required 

* Under constitutional arrangements for a cabinet model, either the Full Council or the Leader 
may appoint the Cabinet. In Wales it is common practice for the Leader to appoint the Cabinet 
under this model. This Role Description has been written accordingly, noting that councils may 
vary this arrangement.   

Page 33



 

10 

Cabinet Member Role Description  

1. Accountabilities  

▪ To the Leader 
▪ To the Cabinet (through collective responsibility) 
▪ To Full Council 

2. Role Purpose and Activities  

Providing portfolio leadership 

▪ To give political direction to officers working within the portfolio 
▪ To gain the respect of officers within the portfolio; provide support to officers in 

the implementation of portfolio programmes. 
▪ To provide leadership in the portfolio 
▪ To liaise with the appropriate scrutiny chair and receive scrutiny reports as 

required. 
▪ To be accountable for choices and performance in the portfolio 
▪ To have an overview of the performance management, efficiency, and 

effectiveness of the portfolio 
▪ To make executive decisions within the Portfolio* 

Contributing to the setting of the strategic agenda and work programme for the 
portfolio 

▪ To work with officers to formulate policy documents both strategic and statutory. 
▪ Ensure that the political will of the majority is carried to and through the Cabinet. 
▪ To provide assistance in working up and carrying through a strategic work 

programme both political and statutory  
▪ Carry out consultations with stakeholders as required.  
▪ Make sure that the portfolio’s forward work programme is kept up to date and 

accurate. 

Providing representation for the portfolio 

▪ To provide a strong, competent, and persuasive figure to represent the portfolio.  
▪ Be a figurehead in meetings with stakeholders. 

Reporting and accounting 

▪ To report as appropriate to the Leader, Full Council, Cabinet, appropriate chair of 
scrutiny, regulatory bodies, and the media. 

▪ To agree objectives with the Leader and report progress. 

▪ To be the principal political spokesperson for the portfolio. 
▪ To appear before scrutiny committees in respect of matters within the portfolio. 

 
 

Page 34



 

11 

 
Taking an active part in cabinet meetings and decision making  

  

▪ To show an interest in and support for the portfolios of others  
▪ To recognise and contribute to issues which cut across portfolios or are issues of 

collective responsibility.   
  

Leading partnerships and community leadership   
  

▪ To give leadership to local strategic partnerships and local partners in the pursuit of 
common aims and priorities  

▪ To negotiate and broker in cases of differing priorities and disagreement.  
▪ To act as a leader of the local community by showing vision and foresight     

  

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships  
  

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs.  
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship.  
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government.   
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships with 

employees of the Council.  
▪ To adhere to the Members’ Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol, and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office         
  

3. Values  
 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public 

office:  

   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  
▪ Inclusive leadership  

  

* This only applies under constitutional arrangements where individual cabinet members 
or combinations of cabinet members are given individual responsibility for making 
decisions on behalf of the Executive.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

12 

Chair of the Council Role Description  
          Also suitable for Mayor* and Presiding Officer   

  

1.Accountabilities  
  

▪ To Full Council  
  

2.Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Acting as a symbol of the Council’s democratic authority  

  

▪ As the ceremonial head of the Council, to be non-political and uphold the democratic 
values of the Council.  

▪ To represent the Council at civic and ceremonial functions   
  

Chairing Council meetings  
  

▪ To preside over meetings of the Council, so that its business can be carried out 
efficiently.  

▪ To ensure the Council conducts its meetings in line with the Council’s Standing Orders  
  

Upholding and promoting the Council’s Constitution  
  

▪ To ensure the Constitution is adhered to and, if necessary, to rule on the interpretation 
of the Constitution  
  

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships  
  

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs.  
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship.  
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government.   
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships with 

employees of the Council.  
▪ To adhere to the Members’ Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol, and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office         
  

Work programming  
  

▪ To prepare and manage an annual work programme for the Council to meet its legal 
obligations (e.g. setting the budget and the Council Tax and making appointments)   
 
  

  

  

 

  

  

Page 36



 

13 

3.Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:    
 
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  

  

Vice Chair  
  

▪       To fulfil the duties of the Chair in his or her absence  

▪       To assist the Chair in specific duties as required  
  

* This Role Description describes the duties of the Chair or Presiding Officer of the Full Council 
or the Mayor in presiding over Council Meetings.  
It does not provide the detail of the wider ambassadorial or ceremonial responsibilities 
required of the Mayor.  
  

  

Page 37



 

  14 

Chair of Democratic Services Committee Role Description   
  

1. Accountabilities 
 

▪      To Full Council  
  

2. Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Providing leadership and direction  
  

▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity, 

participation and clear decision making.   

▪ To lead the committee in its role in:   
▪ Designating the head of Democratic Services  
▪ Keeping under review the provision of staff, accommodation and other resources made 

available to the Head of Democratic services, ensuring that these are adequate.  
▪ Make annual reports to the full council in relation to the above o Appointing sub 

committees and chairs of subcommittees to undertake functions delegated by the 
committee.  

▪ Considering reports prepared by the Head of Democratic Services o Developing the 
Authority’s member support and development strategy.  

▪ Ensuring that members have access to a reasonable level of training and development 
as described in the Authority’s member development strategy and the Wales Charter 
for Member Support and Development  

▪ Ensuring that the budget for member development is sufficient o Ensuring that 
members have access to personal development planning and annual personal 
development reviews.  

▪ Work with the member support and development champion where relevant to 

promote the role of members and necessary support and development.   

▪ To demonstrate integrity and impartiality in decision making which accord with legal, 
constitutional and policy requirements.  

  

Promoting the role of the Democratic Services Committee   
  

▪ To act as an ambassador for the DS committee, facilitating understanding of the role  
▪ To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the functions of 

the committee fairly and correctly.  
▪ To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, receiving and responding 

to professional advice in the conduct of meetings.  
  

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships  
  

▪ To develop the standing and integrity of the committee and its decision making  
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 

operating within the Democratic services committee’s area of responsibility  

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council.  
  

Page 38



 

  15 

3. Values  
  

▪   To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public office:   
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences  
▪ Sustainability   

Page 39



 

  16 

Member of a Democratic Services Committee Role Description   
  

1. Accountabilities  

 
▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the Chair of the Democratic Services committee  
  

2.   Role purpose and activity  
  

Understanding the nature of the Democratic Services committee:  
 

▪ To be aware of and effectively undertake the role of the committee in:  
▪ Designating the head of Democratic Services  
▪  Keeping under review the provision of staff, accommodation and other resources 

made available to the Head of Democratic services, ensuring that these are adequate  
▪ Make annual reports to the full council in relation to the above  
▪ Appointing sub committees and chairs of subcommittees to undertake functions 

delegated by the committee.  
▪ Considering reports prepared by the Head of Democratic Services  
▪ Developing the Authority’s member support and development strategy  
▪ Ensuring that members have access to a reasonable level of training and development 

as described in the member development strategy and the Wales Charter for Member 
Support and Development  

▪ Ensuring that the budget for member development is sufficient  
▪ Ensuring that members have access to personal development planning and annual 

personal development reviews  
▪ To have sufficient technical, legal and procedural knowledge to contribute fairly and 

correctly to the function of the committee.  
▪ To be thorough and objective in receiving and responding to professional advice in the 

conduct of meetings and issues before the committee   
  

Participating in meetings and making decisions  
  

▪ To participate effectively in meetings of the Democratic services committee,   
▪ To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of the 

committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements  

  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  
  

▪ To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of his/ her own role by 
adhering to the Code of Conduct(s) and other constitutional and legal requirements   

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council   
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties operating 

within the Democratic Services committee’s area of responsibility  
  

 

Page 40



 

  17 

3.  Values  
  

▪ To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:   
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  

  

Page 41



 

   18 

Chair of a Regulatory Committee Role Description  
  

1.     Accountabilities  

▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the members of the regulatory committee  

  

2.      Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Providing leadership and direction  
 

▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity,         

participation and clear decision making  

▪ To ensure that applicants and other interested parties are satisfied as to the 
transparency of the regulatory process  

▪ To demonstrate integrity and impartiality in decision making which accord with legal, 
constitutional and policy requirements  To delegate actions to sub committees as 
appropriate  

  

Promoting the role of the regulatory committee and quasi-judicial decision making  
 

▪ To act as an ambassador for the regulatory committee, facilitating understanding of 
the role  

▪ To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the functions 
of the committee fairly and correctly  

▪ To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, receiving and responding 
to professional advice in the conduct of meetings and in individual cases/applications 
before formal committee meetings  

  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  
  

▪ To develop the standing and integrity of the committee and its decision making  
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 

operating within the regulatory committee’s area of responsibility  To promote and 
support good governance by the Council.  

  

3.   Values  
  

▪ To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public 
office:   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences  
▪ Sustainability  

Page 42



 

19 

 
 

Member of a Regulatory Committee Role Description  
  

1.    Accountabilities  
  

▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the Chair of the regulatory committee  

  

2.    Role purpose and activity  
  

Understanding the nature of the regulatory committee and quasi-judicial decision 
making  

  

▪ To be aware of the quasi-judicial nature of regulatory committee decision making  
▪ To have sufficient technical, legal and procedural knowledge to contribute fairly and 

correctly to the function of the committee   
▪ To be thorough and objective in receiving and responding to professional advice in 

the conduct of meetings and individual cases/applications before the committee    
  

Participating in meetings and making decisions  
  

▪ To participate effectively in meetings of the regulatory committee, ensuring that 
both local considerations and policy recommendations are balanced to contribute to 
effective decision making  

▪ To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of the 
committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements  

  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  
  

▪ To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of his/ her own role 
by adhering to the Code of Conduct(s) and other constitutional and legal 
requirements  

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council  
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 

operating within the regulatory committee’s area of responsibility  
  

3.    Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:   
 

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  

Page 43



 

   20 

▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

21 

 

Chair of Standards Committee Role Description 

1.  Accountabilities 

▪ To Full Council 

2.  Role Purpose and Activity 

Providing leadership and direction to the committee 

▪ To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the  

▪ functions of the committee fairly and correctly 

▪ To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, when receiving and 

responding to professional advice on the Code of Conduct 

▪ To demonstrate independence, integrity and impartiality in decision making which 

accords with legal, constitutional and policy requirements 

▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity, 

participation and clear decision making 

 

To lead the committee in its role in:  

▪ Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, lay members 

and co-opted members  

▪ Assisting all members in their observance of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

▪ Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on matters 

relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

▪ Granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members  

▪ Dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any report 

from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the Public 

Services Ombudsman for Wales. 

▪ Developing and applying any local resolution protocols 

▪ The exercise of these functions (above) in relation to community councils and the 

members of those community councils 

▪ Working with Political Group Leaders to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct by the Group members 

▪ Monitoring compliance by Leaders of Political Groups with their duty to take 

reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of 

the Group and advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders of Political Groups 

about these duties. (From May 2022) 

▪ Making an annual report to the Authority (first report due in respect of the 2022/23 
financial year, as soon as possible after year end) describing how the committee’s 
functions have been discharged during the financial year. The report may include any 
matter within the functions of the committee. The report must include: 

Page 45



 

   22 

▪ How the committee has discharged its legal duties, particularly, how the committee 
has monitored the compliance of Group Leaders with their duties to take reasonable 
steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 
and the work of the Committee in advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders 
of Political Groups about these duties. 

▪ The degree of compliance of Group Leaders with their duty to take reasonable steps 
to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 
 

3. Values 

To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public office: 

▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences 
▪ Sustainability 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

23 

 

 

Member of a Standards Committee Role Description 

1. Accountabilities 

▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the Chair of the Standards Committee 

2. Role purpose and activity 

Participating in meetings and making decisions 

▪ To participate effectively in meetings of the Standards committee 

▪ To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of the 

committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements, internal 

governance, ethical standards and relationships 

▪ To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of her/his own role by 

adhering to the Code of Conduct and other constitutional and legal requirements 

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council 

To contribute to the role of the Standards Committee in effectively fulfilling its 

functions and to support the Committee Chair by: 

▪ Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, lay members 

and co-opted members  

▪ Assisting Councillors, lay members and co-opted members in their observance of the 

Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

▪ Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, lay members and co-opted 

members on matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members  

▪ Dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any report 

from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the Public 

Services Ombudsman for Wales 

▪ Contributing to the development and application of any local resolution protocol 

▪ The exercise of these functions (above) in relation to community councils and the 

members of those community councils 

▪ Working with Political Group Leaders to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct by the Group members 

▪ Monitoring compliance by Leaders of Political Groups with their duty to take 

reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of 

the Group and advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders of Political Groups 

about these duties. (From May 2022) 

Page 47



 

   24 

▪ Making an annual report to the Authority (first report due in respect of the 2022/23 
financial year, as soon as possible after year end) describing how the committee’s 
functions have been discharged during the financial year. The report may include any 
matter within the functions of the committee. The report must include: 

▪ How the committee has discharged its legal duties, particularly, how the committee 
has monitored the compliance of Group Leaders with their duties to take reasonable 
steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 
and the work of the Committee in advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders 
of Political Groups about these duties  

▪ The degree of compliance of Group Leaders with their duty to take reasonable steps 
to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 

 

3. Values 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  

▪ Openness and transparency 

▪ Honesty and integrity 

▪ Tolerance and respect 

▪ Equality and fairness 

▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 

▪ Sustainability 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

25 

 

 
 
 

 
Chair of Governance and Audit Committee Role Description 

 
1. Accountabilities 
 
▪ To Full Council  
 
2. Role Purpose and Activity 
 

Providing leadership and direction 
 
▪ To demonstrate independence, integrity, and impartiality in decision making according 

to legal, constitutional and policy requirements 
▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity, 

participation and clear decision making 
▪ To comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct 
▪ To work according to the Terms of Reference for the Committee 
▪ To work with senior officers of the authority including the Chief Financial Officer and 

Head of Internal Audit (or equivalent), to agree the forward work programme and to 
set agendas for the Committee. 

▪ To work with other members of the authority to ensure that the work of the 
Committee is communicated to and aligns with that of the Cabinet, Standards and 
Scrutiny functions whilst maintaining appropriate independence.  

▪ To promote the role of the committee within the authority.  
▪ To report as required to Council 
▪ To participate in and contribute to training and development required for the role 
▪ To support committee members to develop the skills required for the role. 
▪ To lead the committee in responding to any recommendations made by the Auditor 

General for Wales 
 
Leading the Committee in its role in reviewing and scrutinising the authority’s financial 
affairs  
 

▪ Make reports and recommendations in relation to the authority’s financial affairs  
▪ Oversee the authority’s internal and external audit arrangements 
▪ Work with internal and external auditors  
▪ Review the financial statements prepared by the authority and approve them when 

powers are delegated including making relevant reports and recommendations 
 
Leading the Committee in its role in contributing to the effective performance of the 
authority 
 

Page 49



 

   26 

▪ Review the draft report of the authority’s annual self-assessment. Make 
recommendations for changes to the conclusions or actions that the authority 
intends to take 

▪ Make recommendations in response to the draft report of the authority’s Panel 
Assessment (commissioned once per term from May 2022) 

▪ Review and assess the authority’s ability to handle complaints effectively.  
▪ Make reports and recommendations to the authority about the authority’s ability to 

handle complaints effectively.  
 
 
 
Leading the Committee in its role in Reviewing and assessing the Governance, Risk 
Management and Control of the authority 
 

▪ Review and assess the risk management, internal control, and corporate governance 
arrangements of the authority 

▪ Make reports and recommendations to the authority on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of those arrangements 

▪ Review and assess the financial risks associated with corporate governance, and be 
satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements including the annual governance 
statement reflect the risk environment and any activities required to improve it 

 
3. Values 
 
▪ To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public 

office: 
▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences 

Sustainability 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

27 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member of Governance and Audit Committee Role Description 
 

1. Accountabilities 

 
▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the Chair of the Committee 

 
2. Role purpose and activity  
 

Participating in meetings of the committee and making decisions  
 

▪ To demonstrate independence, integrity, and impartiality in decision making according 
to legal, constitutional and policy requirements. 

▪ To have regard to the requirements of the Chair of the Committee and the 
professional advice of senior officers of the authority including the Chief Financial 
Officer and Head of Internal Audit (or equivalent) 

▪ To Comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct 
▪ To work according to the Terms of Reference for the Committee 
▪ To contribute to the development of the forward work programme for the 

Committee.  
▪ To promote the role of the committee within the authority 
▪ To report as required to Council 
▪ To respond to any recommendations made by the Auditor General for Wales 
▪ To participate in any training and development required for the role 

 
 

Contributing to the work of the Committee in its role in:  
 

Reviewing and scrutinising the authority’s financial affairs  
 
▪ Make reports and recommendations in relation to the authority’s financial affairs  
▪ Oversee the authority’s internal and external audit arrangements 
▪ Work with internal and external auditors  
▪ Review the financial statements prepared by the authority and approve them when 

powers are delegated including making relevant reports and recommendations.   
 

Contributing to the effective performance of the authority 
 
▪ Review the draft report of the authority’s annual self-assessment and make 

recommendations for changes to the conclusions or actions that the authority intends 
to take 

Page 51



 

   28 

▪ Make recommendations in response to the draft report of the authority’s Panel 
Assessment (commissioned once per term from May 2022) 

▪ Review and assess the authority’s ability to handle complaints effectively.  
▪ Make reports and recommendations in relation to the authority’s ability to handle 

complaints effectively.  
 
Reviewing and assessing the Governance, Risk Management and Control of the authority 
 

▪ Review and assess the risk management, internal control, and corporate governance 
arrangements of the authority 

▪ Make reports and recommendations to the authority on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of those arrangements 

▪ Review and Assess the financial risks associated with corporate governance, and be 
satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements, including the annual governance 
statement, reflects the risk environment and any activities required to improve it 

 
 
3. Values 
 

▪ To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public office: 
▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences 
▪ Sustainability 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 52



 

29 

Overview and Scrutiny Chair Role Description  
  

1. Accountabilities   
  

▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the Public  
▪ To the Committee  

  

2. Role purpose & activity  
  

Providing leadership and direction  
  

▪ To provide confident and effective management of the committee   
▪ To promote the role of overview and scrutiny within the council, liaising effectively with 

officers, executive members and colleague chairs  
▪ To promote the integral role and contribution of scrutiny within the authority’s wider 

improvement planning and reporting arrangements  
▪ To lead joint scrutiny activities with other authorities or organisations when required  
▪ To champion and promote the role of Overview and Scrutiny to the public, helping the 

public better understand and, crucially, contribute to and engage with the scrutiny 
process.   

▪ To promote the role of Overview and Scrutiny to partner bodies, helping them to 
understand and engage with the Scrutiny function.   

▪ To demonstrate an objective and evidence-based approach to overview and scrutiny 
ensuring that scrutiny inquiries are methodologically sound and incorporate a wide 
range of evidence and perspectives   

▪ To follow-up scrutiny recommendations, evaluate the impact and added value of 
overview and scrutiny activity and identify areas for improvement   

▪ Work closely with scrutiny support staff to drive continual improvements in scrutiny  
▪ Assist in publicising the work of the scrutiny committee  

  

Managing the work programme  
  

▪ To develop a balanced work programme for the committee which includes pre decision 
scrutiny, policy development and review, investigative scrutiny, holding the executive 
to account, and performance monitoring  

▪ To ensure the programme takes account of relevant factors such as: the work 
programmes of the executive and other committees, strategic priorities and risks, audit 
and regulatory reports and recommendations, single-integrated plan and partners 
strategic priorities and relevant community issues  

▪ To ensure that the public are engaged in scrutiny activities by informing them about the 
work programme and encouraging participation  

▪ To ensure that the work programme is delivered   
▪ To report on progress against the work programme to Council, and others as 

appropriate   

Page 53



 

   30 

▪ To ensure that the work programme is manageable, and the workload delegated and 
prioritised to focus on the areas of most benefit or greatest risk to the organisation.   

▪ To ensure that task and finish/working/subgroups have clear terms of reference and 
deliver the required outcomes.   

   

Leading Joint Scrutiny  
  

▪ To apply the appropriate tests and criteria when deciding whether or not to undertake 
joint scrutiny  

▪ To ensure that regional bodies and partnerships are held to account and that their 
plans are subject to scrutiny  

▪ To develop protocols and terms of reference for joint working  
▪ To ensure public engagement in joint scrutiny activities  
▪ To enable the pooling of scrutiny resources for effective working and outcomes  
▪ To ensure the equal participation and contribution from all partners as appropriate  

  

Effective meeting management   
  

▪ To plan and set agendas containing clear objectives and outcomes for the meeting  
▪ To ensure that necessary preparation is done beforehand, if necessary, through pre-

meetings, including agreeing appropriate lines of questioning  
▪ To ensure that the approach to overview and scrutiny is impartial and that the 

committee meeting is conducted without political whipping (as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011)  

▪ To manage the progress of business at meetings, ensuring that meeting objectives are 
met, and the code of conduct, standing orders and other constitutional requirements 
are adhered to  

▪ To ensure that all participants have an opportunity to make an appropriate 
contribution  

▪ To ensure that members of the public are able to contribute to meetings and 
understand the protocols for public speaking.  

  

Involvement and development of committee members  
  

▪ To encourage effective contributions from all committee members in both committee 
and task and finish groups   

▪ To assess individual and collective performance within the committee and work to 
improve scrutiny outcomes  

▪ To ensure that committee members have the appropriate knowledge and skills to 
undertake their roles and work with lead members and officers to secure appropriate 
development.    

  

3. Values 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  

Page 54



 

31 

▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 
▪ Sustainability  

Page 55



 

   32 

Overview and Scrutiny Member Role Description  
  

1 Accountabilities   
  

▪ Chair of the appropriate scrutiny committee  
▪ Full Council  
▪ The public  

  

2 Role purpose & activity  
  

▪ To participate fully in the activities of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
development and delivery of its work programme and any associated task and finish 
groups  

  

Scrutinising and developing policy  
  

▪ To assist in the development of council policy through scrutinising of draft policies, 
and improvement and refinement of existing policy   

▪ To challenge policies on a sound basis of evidence for example against legislation or 
local political priority  

▪ To assess the impact of existing policy and identify areas for improvement  
▪ To identify where new policies might be required to address forthcoming legislation  

  

Holding the Executive to account, monitoring performance and service delivery  
  

▪ To monitor the performance of internal and external providers against standards and 
targets including questioning of executive and senior officers on the delivery of 
targets   

▪ To contribute to the identification and mitigation of risk  
▪ To investigate and make recommendations to address the causes of under 

performance or poor performance  
▪ To monitor action plans or recommendations following external audit, inspection or 

regulatory reports  
▪ To evaluate the validity of executive decisions and challenge decisions through call in 

where appropriate    
▪ To build trust with the executive so that appropriate matters could be sent to 

scrutiny for a pre-decision review prior to the executive taking a final decision  
  

Promoting the work of Overview and Scrutiny  

  

▪ To promote the role of overview and scrutiny within and outside the council, 
developing effective internal relationships with officers and other members and 
external relationships with community representatives.  

▪ To demonstrate an objective non political and evidence based approach to overview 
and scrutiny, by utilising a wide range of research in any work undertaken including 
sources of information outside the Council   

Page 56



 

33 

▪ To add value to the decision making and service provision of the authority through 
effective scrutiny  

▪ To be able to demonstrate where scrutiny is making a difference by its involvement  
  

Community engagement  
  

▪ To use scrutiny as a means to address community issues and engage the public in 
forward work programmes  

▪ To encourage stakeholders to participate in the work of the authority   
▪ To assist in developing locally viable and acceptable policy solutions  
▪ To build a dialogue around priorities, objectives and  performance, among 

communities and stakeholders  
▪ To take a county wide perspective in dealing with issues  

  

Participating in joint scrutiny  
  

▪ To work within the appropriate terms of reference and protocols governing joint 
working in scrutiny  

▪ To apply the appropriate tests and criteria when deciding whether or not to 
undertake joint scrutiny  

▪ To contribute to the scrutiny of regional bodies and partnerships  
▪ To encourage public engagement in joint scrutiny  
▪ To work effectively with partner scrutineers from other authorities and 

organisations.  
  

Meeting participation  
  

▪ To make adequate and appropriate preparation for meetings through research and 
briefings and planning meeting strategies  

▪ To participate in a proactive objective, informed and effective manner taking 
account of the Code of Conduct, Standing Orders and other constitutional 
requirements  

▪ To demonstrate effective scrutiny inquiry skills in questioning, listening and 
information handling  

▪ To be non-political  
▪ To focus on outcomes / making a difference by participation  

  

3.       Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  
   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  

Page 57



 

   34 

▪ Sustainability   

Page 58



 

35 

  

Leader of the Opposition Role Description  
  

1. Accountabilities  
  

▪ To the nominating group within the constitution   
  

2. Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Providing political leadership for an opposition group   
  

▪ To be a political figurehead for the opposition group; to be the principal political 
spokesperson for the Council’s opposition.  

▪ To provide leadership in the constructive challenge of the Council’s policies  
▪ To  constructively challenge the  vision for the Council and community where 

appropriate  
▪ To provide strong, clear leadership in the co-ordination of alternative policies, 

strategies and service delivery  
  

Representing  the Authority’s opposition  
  

▪ To represent the Opposition Group to a high standard; providing a strong, competent 
and eloquent figure to represent the opposition within the Authority.  

▪ To represent the Council on external bodies  
  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  

  

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs  
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship  
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government   
▪ To promote, support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective 

relationships with employees of the Council  
▪ To promote, support and adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member/Officer 

Protocol and the highest standards of behaviour in public office         

  

3. Values  
  

To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office:  
   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  
▪ Inclusive leadership  

Page 59



 

   36 

▪ Consensus building  
  

Role of the Deputy Leader of the Opposition  

  

▪ To fulfil the duties of the Leader in his or her absence  
▪ To assist the Leader in specific duties as required  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

37 

 
 
 
 

Political Group Leader Role Description 

1.    Accountabilities  

▪ To the nominating Group 

  
2. Role Purpose and Activity 

 

Providing political leadership to the Group 

▪ To be a political figurehead and role model for the Group 

▪ To be the principal political spokesperson for the Group 

▪ If in power, to provide Party Political leadership in the development of the Council’s 

vision or policies and, if in opposition to provide constructive challenge and 

alternatives to the ruling Political Group’s vision and policies.  

▪ To canvass a range of views within the Political Group in the formulation of policy.  

▪ To integrate and represent Political Group policy at a local level.  

▪ To co-operate with other Political Groups where appropriate, particularly in matters 

of a non-Party Political nature.  

▪ To chair and/or attend meetings where appointed to a representative role within the 

Council.  

▪ To liaise with other local and regional representatives of the party. 

▪ To be the representative voice of the Group for example and where applicable, in its 

dealings with outside organisations such as the Welsh Government or Senedd 

 

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships: 

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs  

▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship  

▪ To promote and support open and transparent government  

▪ To promote, support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective 

relationships with employees and other members of the Council  

▪ To promote, support and adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member/Officer 

Protocol and the highest standards of behaviour in public office 

▪ Encourage due regard to the Seven Principles of Public life and to civility in public life 

▪ To participate in and encourage Group members to take part in relevant 

development opportunities. 

▪ To set clear expectations of the behaviour of group members and challenge any 

inappropriate behaviour 

▪ To promote diversity among Group members 

Page 61



 

   38 

▪ To encourage Group members to claim salaries and reimbursements due to them in 

accordance with the determinations of the IRPW 

 

Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Group Members in 

accordance with the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021  

▪ Take reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the 

members of the Group. 

▪ Co-operate with the council’s standards committee (and any sub-committee of the 

committee) in the exercise of the standards committee’s functions. Specifically, to 

co-operate with the Standards Committee in its duty to monitor compliance of 

Group Leaders with their duty under the act and in providing information for the 

Standards Committee’s annual report.  

▪ To work constructively with the Monitoring Officer and other Group Leaders in 

relation to this duty 

▪ To work within the local resolution protocol where this applies 

▪ To participate in any training relating specifically to this duty. 

 

3.    Values  

To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office:  

▪ Openness and transparency 

▪ Honesty and integrity  

▪ Tolerance and respect  

▪ Equality and fairness  

▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  

▪ Sustainability  

▪ Inclusive leadership  

▪ Consensus building  

 

 

 

 
 

Page 62



 

39 

 Political Group Leader supplementary guidance  
 
 
The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act places a duty on Group Leaders to take 

“Reasonable Steps” to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of their 

group. The following note provides further interpretation of the Act in support of the Group 

Leaders’ role description.  

• Group Leaders have a duty to promote and maintain high standards of behaviour by 

members of their group in a Unitary Authority. This applies to those group members 

whenever they are acting or giving the impression of acting in their capacity as a member. 

• This duty has been introduced by the Welsh Government to encourage high standards of 

behaviour from members, including civility and respect in all situations and towards all 

people. The duty is not intended to be onerous and will not cover everyone (clearly those 

members who do not belong to a group), but rather to be proportionate and helpful and 

encourage the prevention of inappropriate behaviour before it becomes a breach of the 

Code.  

• All councillors already have a responsibility to report breaches of the Code of Conduct  

• The Duty applies to Group Leaders for their group members whenever these members are 

for example acting on the Council, in political group meetings, in the community and on 

outside bodies such as Fire and Rescue Authorities, National ark Authorities, Police 

Authorities, Community and Town Councils, Corporate Joint Committees and school 

governing bodies. 

• In the case of outside bodies, the standards of conduct which apply are those set out by the 

body on which the group member is serving. If these are not available, the Council Code of 

Conduct applies.  

• The Duty does not make Group Leaders accountable for the behaviour of their members as 

Conduct must be a matter of individual responsibility. However, Group Leaders must take 

“Reasonable steps” to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of 

the group. And must cooperate with the standards committee and any subgroup of the 

committee in the exercise of the standards committee’s functions. And must have regard to 

guidance issued by Welsh Ministers on these matters. 

• “Reasonable steps” might include Group Leaders: 

o Having informal discussions with and/or requesting training for members who may 

be showing early signs of inappropriate behaviour to ‘nip this in the bud’ before it 

becomes problematic or in danger of breaching the Code. 

o Working constructively with Standards committees to report compliance with their 

duty, any serious concerns about members’ behaviour which have not been 

remedied by informal actions, and training requirements for themselves and for 

their group members.  

o Working constructively with and supporting the Monitoring Officer in these matters 

o Acting as a positive role model for members, demonstrating the highest possible 

standards of behaviour, civility, and respect. 

o Maintaining an awareness of what constitutes very high standards of behaviour, 

civility, and respect, particularly with regard to equalities and diversity. 

o Working constructively with other group members on the council and on other 

councils to ensure the highest possible standards of behaviour both in the Council 

and throughout Wales.  

Page 63



 

   40 

o Welcoming and responding to concerns raised by Group members about behaviour 

in the group.  

• Standards committees have a duty to monitor compliance by Political Group Leaders with 

their duties and advising, training or arranging to train leaders of political groups on the 

council about matters relating to their duties.  

• Standards committees must give an annual report to council about their work including 

compliance of group Leaders with this duty.  

• The sanctions which may be applied to group members acting inappropriately on an outside 

body are those set out by those bodies. Where sanctions are not set out, the Council rules 

apply. 

• If a member has breached the Code of Conduct and is suspended, they are only suspended 

in the capacity as a member of one relevant authority. They would have to be disqualified 

for it to apply to their capacity as a member of more than one relevant authority. (Local 

Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees 

(Wales) regs 2001)  

• “A group leader who fails to comply with the new duty in a meaningful way may 

potentially be regarded as bringing their office into disrepute, in breach of paragraph 

6(1)(a) of the Code” The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, The Code of Conduct for 

members of local authorities in Wales May 2021.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64

https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-CC-CBC-NPA-PCP.pdf
https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-CC-CBC-NPA-PCP.pdf


 

41 

 
Member Champion Purpose and Role   

  

What are Member Champions?   
  

Member Champions exist to provide a voice for traditionally underrepresented groups, or 
issues which need to be kept at the forefront of council business although they may not be 
the responsibility of any individual or committee.    
  

Member Champions, (sometimes called lead members) are elected members who in 
addition to their other council responsibilities make sure that the issue or group that they 
are championing are taken into account when council policy is being developed and 
decisions are made. Members act as champions in areas such as children, homelessness, 
equalities, older people, young people, scrutiny, member support and development, health 
improvement and anti-poverty. There is a statutory role for a lead member of children’s and 
young people’s services with a responsibility for over-seeing the arrangements made under 
sections 25 and 26 of the 2004 Children Act.  
  

Guidance on undertaking the role with regard to the subject knowledge that members need 
is sometimes available from the outside bodies associated with the issue being championed 
for example the toolkit for older peoples’ champions from the LGA. Otherwise they will be 
reliant on their authority for guidance in the subject they lead on and also their role as lead 
member in this area.   
  

What do they do?  
  

Typically, the lead member will:  
   

▪ Make sure that their area of interest is taken into account when developing policy or 
making decisions  

▪ Ask questions about performance and resourcing for the area  
▪ Raise the profile of the area and make the authority aware of good practice.  
▪ Engage with external bodies who work in the area  
▪ Engage with other officers and members in relation to the role.   
▪ Engage with community groups with an interest/stake in the area  Report action to 

the council  
  

How does their role fit within the corporate structure?  
  

This will vary according to the area/issue that is being championed and how the authority 
functions. There is potential for confusion and overlap between the role of the member 
champion and those of the relevant executive member or overview and scrutiny members. 
The champion role itself could be undertaken by either the relevant executive member or a 
non executive member.   
  

Page 65



 

   42 

It is therefore important that members and officers work together to agree roles and action 
for the area being championed and that there are mechanisms for lead members to report 
on their activities. It is helpful for the authority to draft a protocol which sets out what 
powers champions have and do not have, such as whether or not they are able to make 
decisions on behalf of the authority. Similarly, the appointment of champions varies 
between authorities, and includes appointments being made by full council meetings or by 
the leader.  
  

The Role Description  
  

It is difficult to create a role description that fits with the different roles expected of 
champions and how they operate in the different authorities’ structures. The following is a 
generic model which will require local adaptation, particularly to reflect the difference that 
may exist between a statutory role, one undertaken by an executive member and a non- 
executive lead.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

43 

  

 

 Member Champion Role Description   
  

1. Accountabilities  
  

▪ To Full Council   
  

2. Role Purpose and Activities  
  

Within the Council   
  

▪ To promote the interest being championed within the Council’s corporate and service 
priorities   

▪ To promote the needs of the client group represented in the interest to the decision 
makers within the council  

▪ To work with the decision makers in the Council to establish strategies/ policies/work 
plans connected with the interest  

▪ To maintain an awareness of all matters connected with the interest  
▪ To contribute to good practice and the continuous improvement of services and 

functions related to the interest  
▪ To engage with members in matters related to the interest such as attending 

Overview and Scrutiny/Cabinet /Full Council meetings etc.  
▪ Raising awareness of and taking a lead role in the development of all members and 

officers in relation to the interest  
  

 In the Community  
  

▪ To raise the profile of the interest in the community  
▪ To engage with citizens and community groups in matters related to the interest  
▪ To lead and support local initiatives related to the interest  

  

3. Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  

   
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  
▪ Inclusive leadership  

  

  

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 

Report to: Democratic Services Committee 

Date: 15th October 2021  

Title: A Development Framework for Councillors in Wales 
2021 

Purpose of report: For the Committee to consider and agree upon the 
WLGA Development Framework for Councillors  

Introduction 

This framework has been developed by the WLGA, as a useful guide to identify 
priorities for continual personal and professional development and for providing 
support and training for members.  It includes a range of generic competencies 
required by all Councillors as well as specialist competencies related to specific roles 
on the Council. 

The generic competencies include: fundamental skills such as understanding the role 
of the Councillor, and the Local Authority, conduct, equalities and diversity, ICT skills 
and work-life balance etc; skills required by all councillors in their roles as community 
leaders such as consultation and engagement; casework on behalf of the public; 
partnership and representation; and working in a political environment. Specific role 
competencies include an understanding of the role of Scrutiny, policy development 
and review, holding the Executive to account, monitoring performance; Chairing skills; 
serving on statutory / regulator committees; Executive Members; and Council 
Leadership.  

The framework will feed into the training / induction programme for Councillors. 

Recommendation: 

Appendix: 

To agree to the adoption of the Development 
Framework for Councillors

Appendix A – WLGA Development
Framework for Councillor in Wales 2021 

Background documents: 

Nia Jones 
Corporate Manager Democratic Services 

27th September 2021 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



1 | P a g e

A Development Framework for Councillors in Wales 2021 

This framework outlines the knowledge and behaviours required by Councillors in Unitary 

Councils in Wales.  

It has been developed by Councillors and officers working with the WLGA. 

It will be useful for Councils when providing support and training for members and for 

Councillors to identify their priorities for continuing personal and professional development. 

It is not intended to be exhaustive or prescriptive, it can also be locally adapted to reflect 

the priorities of different councils. The competencies described reflect those that councillors 

will develop within the role rather than those required to stand for office.  

The Framework fits with the Wales Charter for Member Support and Development. The 

Charter provides Councils with a structure for local self-assessment and provision of 

member development, this framework provides a suggested content for that development. 

The framework also fits with the WLGA model role descriptions and the induction 

curriculum for new members. It takes account of legislative requirements for members 

including those set out in the Local Government (Wales) measure 2011 and the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

Using the Framework 

The Framework includes a range of generic competencies required by all Councillors and 

separate sections for specific roles on the Council.  

For each theme, the framework sets out the information that Councillors need to know, 

understand, and be able to do (knowledge and skills), together with examples of how they 

should act (behaviours).  

Part A will be useful for all councillors. Part B should be used selectively depending on 

additional specialist roles. 

APPENDIX A

Page 70



2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

Part A - relevant to all councillors 

Fundamentals: A range of general skills required by all members 

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective Behaviours 

A1  Understanding 
the role of the 
Councillor 
 

The extent and limits of a Councillor’s 
individual responsibilities, and the 
powers and responsibilities required for 
governing the Council.  

Undertakes the member role 
effectively in the Council, the 
community and with partner 
agencies.  Acts proactively to 
deliver outcomes. 
Understands when it is and is 
not appropriate to act for the 
Ward or in the interests of the 
whole area. 

A2  Understanding 
the role of the 
Local 
Authority 

The services delivered by or on behalf of 
the Council both statutory and 
discretionary, and the policies, 
procedures, plans and strategies which 
underpin them.  
The division of responsibility between 
the different tiers of government, the 
voluntary and health sectors.   
Collaboration between Local 
Authorities, different sectors, 
organisations, and the public.  

Works within the scope of the 
work of the Council and 
represents this appropriately 
to the public.  
 Contributes to the 
development of council plans 
and strategies and takes 
decisions in the light of these. 
Works collaboratively with 
other public service delivery 
agencies and the public.  

A3 Conduct The ethical framework that Councillors 
must work to. 
The Code of Conduct. The role of the 
Monitoring Officer, Standards 
Committee, Local Resolution Protocol. 
the role of and guidance from the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales.  

Always abides by the Code of 
Conduct. Always declares and 
defines interests when 
necessary. Seeks advice from 
the monitoring officer when 
necessary.  

A4 Corporate 
Governance  

The principles of good corporate 
governance.  
How the Council understands and meets 
the needs of the community ethically, 
responsibly, and efficiently.  
The Council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance and approach to risk.  
The Public Participation Duty to 
encourage local people to participate in 
decision making.  
The decision-making and accountability 
structure of the Council, including the 
role and value of Scrutiny. The role of, 
and relationships between, Cabinet, 

Acts effectively across a range 
of council roles, supporting 
good corporate governance 
through seeking the views of 
the public, taking or 
scrutinising decisions ethically, 
and ensuring services are 
delivered responsibly and 
efficiently.  

Page 71



3 | P a g e  
 

Scrutiny, Full Council, Regulatory and 
other committees. 
Joint working between Councils and 
sectors. Structures including Growth 
Deals and Corporate Joint Committees.    

A5 Equalities and 
Diversity 

Respect for others and taking decisions 
based on the principles of equality.  
Unconscious Bias. The need to take 
account of the protected characteristics 
of individuals, - sex, race, religion, age, 
disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity and  sexual 
orientation, in all aspects of council and 
community work.   
The needs and views of those who are 
socio economically disadvantaged.  
Equalities and diversity law relating to 
the work of the Council and the role of 
the Councillor.  
 

Demonstrates equalities 
values in personal behaviour 
and Council actions. Takes 
account of the needs of all 
members of society. Acts 
within equality and diversity 
law.  
Challenges inappropriate 
behaviour. Acknowledges and 
compensates for personal 
bias. 

A6 Civility  Respectful behaviour and what 
constitutes abuse, harassment, and 
bullying. 

Always treats everyone, 
officers, members of the 
public and other members 
with absolute respect, 
whether in the Council, 
community, or political group. 
Both face to face, in 
correspondence and on social 
media.  
Challenges inappropriate 
behaviour in others. Supports 
those suffering abuse, 
harassment, or bullying.  

A7 Balancing 
Council and 
community 
expectations 
and 
responsibilities 

The distinct responsibilities of a 
councillor as a member of a corporate 
body and as a representative of a Ward. 

Takes decisions relating to the 
Council or Ward  ethically. 
Manages both community and 
council expectations through 
effective communication. 

A8  Audit 
inspection and 
regulation 

The role of the Audit, Inspection and 
Regulatory bodies and associated 
Council processes. 

Engages effectively with the 
audit, inspection and 
regulatory process within the 
council, using this information 
to take decisions, monitor 
performance, constructively 
challenge and support the 
affected services. 

A9 Work life 
balance 

Time management principles including 
prioritisation and delegation. 
Management of information.  

Maintains an effective balance 
between council, personal life, 
and other work commitments. 

Page 72



4 | P a g e  
 

Managing the time available 
for Council work to 
concentrate on the issues with 
the most significant outcomes. 

A10  Self-Care Well-being, including stress 
management and personal resilience.  

Maintains an awareness of the 
impact that being a councillor 
can have on wellbeing. Seeks 
support and assistance before 
pressures become stress. 

A11 Information 
and data 
handling and 
management 

Understanding and interpreting 
information and data. Handling 
confidential information.  
Freedom of Information legislation. 
Understanding the role of a Councillor 
as a data handler or controller.  

Uses and interprets data to 
take decisions and monitor 
and assess performance.  
Acts competently as a data 
controller or data handler in 
different contexts when acting 
on behalf of the council or in a 
community leadership role.  
 

A12 ICT skills Ability to use all  ‘Office’ applications. 
Email, Word, PowerPoint, Excel. 
Proficiency in remote working and 
attending meetings electronically. 
Standard IT troubleshooting. 
 

Conducts council business and 
community engagement 
electronically and remotely as 
a default approach. Using face 
to face when possible or more 
appropriate.   

A13 Social media 
skills 

Ability to use Social Media through 
different platforms and Apps. 
Appreciation of what content is 
appropriate. 
Council Social Media Use policy. 
Guidance from Council comms teams.  

Maintains an effective, 
positive, and ethical online 
presence in line with the 
Council’s Social Media Policy. 

A14 Meeting 
preparation 
and 
participation 

Multi-location meetings, remote, hybrid 
or face to face.  Standing Orders, 
meeting protocols and etiquette, rules 
of debate. Public speaking, debating, 
and asking questions. 

Participates effectively in 
formal and informal meetings 
both remotely and face to 
face. Prepares effectively for 
meetings by reading reports 
and analysing data. 
Undertakes personal research 
and participates in any pre 
meetings. Contributes to 
positive meeting outcomes by 
seeking tangible decisions or 
actions. Effectively contributes 
to meetings making points 
clearly and succinctly. Remains 
focussed on the business in 
hand. Understands and 
applies meeting ‘rules’. Seeks 
guidance from officers and 
Group Leaders before 
meetings as appropriate. 

Page 73



5 | P a g e  
 

A15 Working with 
the media  

Building relationships with the Media 
Interview skills for TV, radio, the press 
and online media. 

Is a recognised source of 
credible information for the 
Media. Speaks confidently, 
authoritatively and 
appropriately in interviews. 
Enhances the reputation of 
the council when appearing on 
screen or in print. 

A16 Self-
promotion 

Developing a profile in the community 
through local activities and effective 
communication and consultation. 

Reports on achievements and 
activities. Is highly visible in 
the community. Maintains a 
high standard in both personal 
reputation and that of the 
Council. 

A17  Working with 
officers 

The role of officers generally and the 
‘rules’ they need to abide by including a 
deeper understanding of the role of 
senior officers such as the Chief 
Executive, Senior Management Team, 
Monitoring Officer and Heads of 
Finance, Legal and Democratic Services. 
Skills in acting as a corporate employer. 
Understanding of the appointments 
process and interviewing skills. 

Maintains professional 
relationships with officers, 
recognising boundaries and 
abiding by the Member Officer 
Protocol. Acts as an effective 
member of an appointment 
panel, applying sound HR and 
equality and diversity 
principles to make 
appointments.  

A18 Personal 
safety  

How to protect yourself in the Council, 
in the community, when travelling and 
at home and online. Including when lone 
working, in surgeries or meeting with 
residents.  

Acts proactively to take 
necessary safety measures. 
Does not put themselves in 
harm’s way. Asks for support 
from the Council or Police 
whenever necessary.  

A19  Support for 
members  

The importance of continuous learning.  
The sources and materials for 
Councillors’ professional development 
available from the Council.  
Salaries and allowances. 
Job sharing opportunities.  
Family absence. 

Proactively seeks out learning 
and development 
opportunities. Receives 
personal development 
reviews. Identifies support 
and development needs. 
Participates in all relevant 
learning opportunities.  
Claims allowances and salaries 
to which they are entitled. 
 

A20  Financial 
capability 

Where Council funding comes from. 
Financial planning and budget setting. 
Personal financial skills. 
The impact of Welfare Reform, Brexit, 
Austerity and Covid including the 
vulnerable and those with protected 
characteristics. 

Engages effectively in the 
budget setting process. Is 
prepared to take hard, 
evidence-based decisions. 
Demonstrates skills in 
numeracy when interpreting 
data and asking questions. 

A21  Interpersonal 
skills  

Self-awareness, and skills in self-
management, “good manners” respect. 
Emotional Intelligence, listening, 

Acts in a professional and 
respectful manner to all 
people and in all places. Is 

Page 74



6 | P a g e  
 

negotiation, conflict management and 
mediation skills. 

self-aware and able to develop 
and manage relationships 
both within and outside the 
Council. Brokers relationships 
and manages conflict in the 
community and Council and 
between the two. 

A22  Corporate 
Parenting  

The role and responsibilities of the 
Councillor as a Corporate Parent. 

Takes appropriate corporate 
responsibility for the welfare 
of looked after children, 
actively seeking appropriate 
information on their situation 
and progress but not 
becoming involved in 
individual casework.  

A23 Sustainability  The requirements of the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations Act. Including the 
goals for sustainability and the ways of 
working to meet them.  

Works collaboratively and 
makes decisions with others 
to make sure that the needs of 
future generations as well as 
the current population, are 
considered. Seeks to prevent  
any problems happening in 
the first place.  

A24 Safeguarding  The legal requirements, and the 
responsibilities placed on authorities 
and individual councillors to protect 
children and vulnerable adults at risk of 
abuse, including reporting mechanisms.  

Is vigilant, and acts to make 
sure that children and 
vulnerable adults are 
protected from abuse, taking 
decisions and reporting 
incidents.  

 

Local Leadership. A range of skills required by all councillors in their role as community 

leaders 

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective Behaviours 

A25 Working with 
the community 

Contacts for local community groups 
and leaders.  
Community issues and concerns.  
Council plans which impact on local 
issues. 

Understands the needs of the 
local community. Makes sure 
that the Council acts on behalf of 
local people. Communicates with 
the community, individuals, and 
the council to ensure 
engagement and understanding 
of all parties. Works with the 
community and the Council to 
find solutions to local problems. 
Secures funding for local 
initiatives. 

A26 Consultation 
and 
engagement  

The Public Participation Duty. 
The local Public Participation 
Strategy.  
Different approaches to engagement 
ranging from communication to co-

Demonstrates positive outcomes 
because of their effective 
engagement. Uses a range of 
communication and consultation 
tools including social media to 

Page 75



7 | P a g e  
 

production set out in the national 
principles of engagement for Wales. 
http://www.participationcymru. 
org.uk/national-principles 
 
 

understand the needs and views 
of the community. 
Works within the national 
principles of  engagement. 

A27 The Voluntary 
Sector  

The role, responsibilities, services 
provided and contacts for the 
voluntary sector in the area. 

Works with voluntary sector 
organisations. Signposts local 
people to voluntary agencies 
who can help them.  

A28 Working with 
community and 
town councils 

The responsibilities of Community 
and Town Councils, the role of their 
members. contacts for the Clerk and 
their forward work programmes.  
Services transferred or to be 
transferred to community councils. 
 

Works with community councils 
to deliver outcomes for the 
community. Fosters positive 
relations and active 
communication with the 
members of the Community 
Council and the Clerk. 

 

Casework on behalf of the public  

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective Behaviours 

A29 Being accessible 
to the public 

Understanding of, and ability to 
arrange and publicise opportunities 
to discuss casework with the public. 

Makes themselves available 
through the most useful means 
to connect with the greatest 
number of people. Uses 
surgeries, street surgeries, 
informal settings, and social 
media as appropriate. Takes 
steps to ensure personal safety. 
Promises only that which can be 
delivered. 

A30 Managing 
casework  

The availability and use of case 
management techniques and 
software. 
The officers that can help. 
Council procedures to support 
Members with casework.  

Responds promptly to requests 
for help. Keeps the people on 
whose behalf they are working 
informed of progress. Monitors 
progress of cases after they have 
been referred to officers or other 
agencies. Uses the established 
referral schemes within the 
Council.  

A31 Signposting  Sources of information and advice 
within and outside the council of use 
to all community groups.  

Makes links between members 
of the public and the appropriate 
source of help in the council or in 
the community. 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



8 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Partnership and representation  

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective Behaviours 

A32 Work on 
outside bodies 

The capacity in which Members are 
appointed. For example, Council 
representative, locality 
representative, or as an individual. 
Whether you are a trustee.  
The role of the outside body. Its status 
for example company, trust, charity, 
unincorporated association. The 
relationship between the Council and 
the body and any conflicts of interest. 

Reports to and from the 
Council and outside body as 
appropriate. Represents the 
views of the Council, personal 
views, or that of the 
community effectively and 
appropriately according to the 
role. Engages in briefing and 
training provided by outside 
bodies. 
Operates within the relevant 
Code of Conduct.  

A33 Working as a 
school governor 

Education policy. 
School organisation. 
The remit of a governor. 
Principles of conduct for governors. 
See also  
School governance | Sub-topic | 
GOV.WALES 

Oversees the school 
performance. Challenges the 
school management as a 
critical friend. Takes part in 
governor training. 

A34 Working as a 
member of a 
community or 
town council 

Community council governance.  
The role of the community council and 
its limits. 
Transfer of assets and services. 
Protocols between Community or 
Town Councils and Unitary Councils. 
See also  
The Good Councillors Guide - One 
Voice Wales 
 
 

Contributes to the governance 
of the community or town 
council. Makes links between 
the Community Council and 
Unitary Council, Takes part in 
Community Council training. 
 

 

Working in the Political environment 

 Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective Behaviours  

A35 Party policy (if a 
party member)  

Awareness of values and manifestos 
both nationally and locally. 

Balances the needs of local 
people, Party, Group and 
Council 

A36 Liaison with the 
UK 
Government, 
Welsh 
Government 
and the Senedd 

Understanding of the functions of the 
different tiers of government and 
methods of engagement. 

Liaises with local MPs and MS. 
Brings local issues to the 
attention of the WG when 
appropriate. 

Page 77

https://gov.wales/school-governance
https://gov.wales/school-governance
http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk/OVWWeb/the_good_councillors_guide-7450.aspx
http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk/OVWWeb/the_good_councillors_guide-7450.aspx


9 | P a g e  
 

A37 Party Group 
membership 

Party rules and constituency group 
structure and policies. 

Works effectively and 
respectfully with Party Group 
members and officials.  

A38 Group 
discipline 

Understanding of the behaviours and 
conduct required of a group member  

Works according to the 
standards of behaviour 
required by the Group Leader. 

 

 

 

 

Part B – relevant to councillors undertaking these specialist roles.  

Scrutiny  

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective behaviours  

B1 The role of 
Scrutiny  

The value of Scrutiny as an essential 
part of the Council’s corporate 
governance.  
The role of the Scrutiny function in: 
Contributing to better outcomes - 
driving improvements in services. 
  
Better decisions - ensuring that 
democratic decision making is 
accountable, inclusive and robust. 
 
Better engagement – ensuring that 
the public is meaningfully engaged in 
democratic debate about the current 
and future delivery of public services.  
 

Contributes to the 
development of forward work 
programmes. 
Selects topics where Scrutiny 
can have most impact. 
Promotes the work of 
Scrutiny within the council. 
Acts in a non-parochial and 
non-Party Political manner 
when undertaking Scrutiny.  

B2 Policy 
development 
and review  

General understanding of the policies, 
plans, services and functions in 
development or review. 

Makes informed and 
evidence-based 
recommendations for policy 
development. 

B3 Holding the 
Executive to 
account  

Understanding of the remit of the 
Executive in general and items on the 
Executive Forward Work Programme.  
Processes for the constructive 
challenge of Executive decisions and 
when and how to use the power to 
call in decisions.  

Monitors and constructively 
challenges the decision-
making process of the 
Executive, in the best 
interests of the community.  

B4 Monitoring 
performance 

Interpreting data, financial 
information.  
Risk, reports from audit, inspection 
and regulatory bodies, and other 
information required for 
performance measurement. 

Identifies and challenges poor 
performance based on 
evidence, to improve services.  

Page 78



10 | P a g e  
 

B5 Individual 
Scrutiny skills 
 

Data handling and research.  
Meeting preparation for formal and 
informal scrutiny meetings and 
groups.  
Contributing to questioning strategies 
and asking questions. Active listening. 

Prepares thoroughly for every 
Scrutiny activity and meeting 
by reading reports, preparing 
lines of enquiry and 
undertaking personal 
research.  
Contributes to questioning 
strategies and asks relevant, 
effective questions. Actively 
seeks outcomes for every 
Scrutiny activity.   

B6 Engaging the 
public in 
Scrutiny 

How the Public Participation Duty, to 
encourage local people to participate 
in decision making is supported by 
Scrutiny.  
Appropriate local individuals and 
organisations who can contribute to 
the work of Scrutiny, especially those 
traditionally excluded. 

Raises public awareness of 
the work of Scrutiny and work 
programmes. Encourages the 
public to become involved in 
the policy and decision-
making process through 
Scrutiny. 

B7 Collaborative 
Scrutiny  

Joint Scrutiny - Understanding of the 
remit and terms of reference of any 
joint Scrutiny committees. 
Scrutiny of joint arrangements   - the 
role, responsibilities and 
accountability of regional bodies, 
partnerships and organisations 
outside of the Council which are 
subject to Scrutiny.  
 

Seeks outcomes from 
effective joint working with 
scrutiny members from other 
authorities, partnerships, and 
organisations. 
 

 

Chairing  

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills  Effective Behaviour 

B8 Committee 
leadership  

An in depth understanding of the role 
of the committee and its scope.  
Ability to liaise with relevant officers, 
members, and agencies.  
Commitment to enabling all 
committee members to develop skills 
and participate effectively in 
meetings. 

Promotes the work and value 
of the committee in the 
Council and to the public. 
Works with the committee 
outside of meetings to make it 
work more effectively. 
Communicates with members 
and officers with an interest in 
committee proceedings. Builds 
relationships with the relevant 
Heads of Service/ Directors to 
ensure that the work of the 
committee is relevant, well 
informed and provides the 
outcomes needed.  

Page 79



11 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Serving on statutory/regulatory committees 

REF Requirement  Knowledge and Skills Effective behaviours  

B12 Planning  Statutory role of the committee. 
Planning and rights of way law 
generally. How to apply the Code of 
Conduct to planning issues. Declaring 
interests in Planning. 

Demonstrates objectivity by 
taking independent decisions 
based on evidence and the 
legal responsibility placed on 
committees acting in a semi-

B9 Work 
programme 
development 
and 
management 

The subjects within the scope of the 
committee and how these interact 
with council policies generally and the 
roles of other committees.  
Any Council and community priorities 
which should inform the work 
programme.  

Works with officers and 
committee members to 
develop the work plan.  
Ensures that the work 
programme takes account of  
The Executive Work Plan, risks 
to the Council,  
other committee programmes, 
national, regional and local 
plans and policies, and the 
expressed needs of the 
community for services. 
Makes sure that the 
committee uses reports from 
audit, inspection and 
regulatory bodies. 

B10 Meeting 
preparation and 
management 

Meeting management in a variety of 
settings and using different channels 
for physical, hybrid and remote 
meetings.  
Broadcasting.  
Meeting protocols and the rules of 
debate. Agenda management 
including fair contributions and time. 
Public and press participation. 

Chairs act clearly and 
authoritatively to enforce 
meeting rules and 
encouraging fair and focussed 
participation. Manages the 
agenda by introducing items, 
summarising debate, focussing 
on outcomes and limiting 
contributions which do not 
contribute to the outcomes. 
Ensures that the public feel 
welcome, understand the 
meeting purpose and how 
they can contribute. 

B11 Committee 
support  

The support, appropriate level and 
variety of information and finances 
the committee needs to function 
effectively. 

Negotiates and ensures the 
support required by the 
committee. 

Page 80



12 | P a g e  
 

Local Development Planning. 
Development Management.  
Sustainable Development principles 
and legislation including 
environmental, welfare, future 
generations, and design 
considerations. 
The respective roles of Welsh 
Government and Local authorities. 
Environmental impact assessment in a 
planning context.  

judicial role. Transparently 
adheres to the Code of 
Conduct. Seeks appropriate 
professional officer advice, 
personal development or 
briefing before taking 
decisions. 

B13 Governance 
and Audit 

Statutory role of the committee. 
Effective Governance and 
performance management.  
The Council’s and national 
performance reporting frameworks. 
Complaint handling in the Council. 
Scrutiny of financial performance. Risk 
Management and the local Risk 
Management Strategy. The Annual 
Governance Statement Internal and 
external audit arrangements. The 
relative roles of Audit and Scrutiny 
committees.  

B14 Licensing Licensing regulations and Licensing 
policy. Local policies which impact in 
this area such as the Community Plan 
and wider considerations for 
sustainability. 

B15 Democratic 
Services  

The legislative requirements for a 
Democratic Services committee. 
National and local requirements for 
member support and development. 
Role of the Head of Democratic 
Services/Monitoring Officer (if 
separate). Role of and collaboration 
with the Lead Member/Champion for 
member support and development. 
Diversity in Democracy.  

B16 Standards The law and constitution in relation to 
conduct. 
Local resolution protocols. 
Needs of both County Council and 
Town and Community Councils for 
Training in relation to the Code of 
Conduct. 
Member behaviour, dealing with 
reports from Group Leaders and 
annual reporting 

 

Page 81



13 | P a g e  
 

REF Requirement Knowledge and skills Effective behaviours 

B17 Collective 
responsibility 

Developing a collective vision for the 
Council. 
The Executive role in enabling public 
participation within the Public 
Participation Strategy.  
Information, good practice and 
evidence sourcing and handling. 
Taking decisions collectively. 
Prioritising issues of most importance 
to the Authority.  
Working with other authorities and 
agencies to secure services for the 
Council. 
Working effectively and constructively 
with the senior management team 
and Chief Executive.  
 

Works collaboratively to 
develop the vision for the 
Council. Ensures the 
participation of the public in 
the decision-making process. 
Takes effective strategic 
decisions. 
Ensures the best possible 
performance of the Council. 
Guides and enables the 
performance of the Chief 
Executive and Senior 
Management Team.  

B18 Portfolio lead A thorough knowledge of local and 
national policy relating to the relevant 
service areas. Effective and respectful 
joint working with relevant lead 
officers and Scrutiny chairs.  
Developing a vision for the portfolio. 
Integrating the work of the portfolio 
with the wider Executive programme.  
High level media skills  
 

Provides political direction to 
officers in the portfolio area. 
Is publicly accountable for 
communication, policy, and 
performance in the portfolio 
area. Works with officers to 
consider issues, priorities and 
take decisions. Represents 
the Council in the media  

B19 Working with 
Scrutiny 

Valuing and working constructively 
with Scrutiny, to ensure that the 
Executive is demonstrably 
accountable for decisions and takes 
and reviews decisions which have 
been rigorously scrutinised.  

 Actively seeks and values the 
input of Scrutiny to policy 
development and 
performance monitoring. 

B20 Delegated 
responsibilities  

The scheme of delegation and process 
for taking responsibility for decisions 
under the scheme.  

Takes decisions after 
appropriate research and 
consultation.  

 

Council Leadership 

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills  Effective Behaviours  

B21 Promoting and 
managing the 
reputation of 
the council 

Acting as an ambassador for the Local 
Authority.  

Effectively represents the 
Council, ensuring that 
information about the Council 
and its services and citizens is 
communicated positively and 
with authenticity and 
integrity. 

Page 82



14 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Civic Leadership  

REF Requirement Knowledge and Skills Effective Behaviours 

B25 Chairing Full 
Council 

Advanced chairing skills. In depth 
understanding of standing orders and 
rules of engagement. Remote, hybrid 
and physical meetings. Broadcast 
meeting skills.  

Effectively and confidently 
chairs meetings of the full 
Council through a range of 
channels. Sets standards and 
expectations for appropriate 
behaviour.  

B26 Representing 
the Council at 
Civic functions  

Tact and diplomacy. 
Advanced public speaking 
Relationship building. 

Demonstrates high level 
interpersonal communication, 
and social skills, appropriate 
to the context.  

 

B22 Leading the 
vision for the 
area. 

Development of a vision for the 
Council area or wider region.  

Works collaboratively with the 
community, members, officers 
and Political Party (if a 
member) to create and 
communicate a shared vision 
for the area. 

B23 Leading the 
Council  

Develop a vision for the work, culture 
and outcomes sought by the Council.  
Senior Corporate Governance 

Works collaboratively with the 
community, members, officers 
and Political Party (if a 
member) to create and 
communicate a shared vision 
for the Council. Oversees the 
delivery of effective corporate 
governance in the Council.  

B24 Relationships 
with the Chief 
Executive and 
Senior 
Management 
Team 

Advanced communication and 
relationship building. 
Understanding of and empathy for the 
work of the Chief Executive and Senior 
Officers.  
Performance management and 
appraisal of chief officers. 

Meets and communicates 
openly and regularly. Makes 
expectations clear and 
provides political leadership. 
Undertakes performance 
reviews with senior officers as 
appropriate. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15 October 2021  
 
Title:    Member ICT Provision post elections 2022. 
 
Purpose of report:  To propose future ICT equipment and support 
 
Introduction 
 
This report only describes the proposed ICT equipment and support provided by the 
ICT Service.  
 
Current Arrangements 
 
Members’ are currently provided without charge an iPad or Laptop with e-mail and 
Microsoft office productivity software as follows: 
 

Option 1 – Laptop Computer and Printer 
 

The Council will provide 

 Windows 10 Laptop computer with Microsoft Office software 
(Email, Word, Excel, Power Point) 

 Access to Corporate Document Systems (Agendas, Minutes 
and Reports) 

 All information on the laptop will be encrypted as a safeguard 
against loss or unauthorised access. 

 Carry case for the Laptop 

 Multi-Functional Printer (Printer, Scanner, Copier & Fax) with 
WIFI connection. 

 Only Corporate approved software programs will be installed on 
the Laptop. 

 
 
Option 2 – Apple iPad Computer and Printer 
 

The Council will provide 

 New iPad with Wi-Fi and 3G data connection (dependant on 
mobile provider signal coverage). 

 Flip Cover, two Mains Power Supplies and protective case 

 Optional choice of External Keyboard or Keyboard Integrated 
with Case. 

 iPad will be preloaded with additional software programs 
o Keynote (Presentations)  
o Notes (Word Processor)   
o Numbers (Spread sheet)   

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

o Members will be allowed to purchase additional software 
from the Apple AppStore (via their own personal 
account). 

 Multi-Functional Printer (Printer, Scanner, Copier & Fax) with 
WIFI connection. 

 Access to Corporate Document Systems (Agenda’s, Minutes 
and Reports) 

 
Option 3 – NO ICT Service 
 

The Member wishes to receive NO ICT equipment and service. 
 
Please Note – Members not receiving the ICT service will not be able 
to receive Council Emails and Documents via their own personal email 
service. Members that are currently not receiving the ICT service are 
able to access remote meetings by telephone, however they are not be 
able to view documents shared on screen.  It is also noted that Section 
43, Chapter 4 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
requires that from May 2022, a principal council must publish an 
electronic address of each member of the council.  

 
Additionally, in the meeting of the County Council on 25/10/2012 it was resolved that 
members be given the option to purchase an additional item of equipment (i.e. Take 
both Option 1 and Option 2). provided that the second piece of equipment is paid for 
by the requesting Member. 
 
 
Proposed ICT Solution for 2022 
 
The council propose to provide councillors with the same provision as council staff 
both to reduce support costs with nonstandard equipment and because this is 
proven to meet modern office and home working requirements.  It is proposed that 
the current solution is replaced with the single option below. 
 

1. A Windows Laptop with the same specification as for council staff. 
2. Software configuration specifically for councillors with no direct access to 

internal corporate systems other than councillor or democratic systems 
required for their role. 

3. A 24” screen with internal docking capability or separate docking station. 
Allowing the laptop to be connected with a single cable. 

4. A keyboard, mouse and headset 
5. Carry cases require personal choice to meet the users needs and 

preferences. Members should source their own to meet their personal needs. 
However, a basic laptop case will be provided on request. 

6. Ceredigion email address and Office E3 365 account. 
7. Use of Microsoft 365 Office applications in line with Microsoft licencing 

agreement. Including the ability to install Office application on up to 5 personal 
devices. 

8. Provision of a printing and scanning facility in each of the Members’ Rooms. 
9. Access to Wi-Fi in all council offices.  

Page 86



3 
 

10. Access to email and Office files from personal devices and mobile phones 
11. Appropriate training and briefing on data protection and use of any issued 

devices. 
12. ICT support from corporate ICT service desks and remote support via 

telephone and remote access during service desk hours. 
13. Only agreed software to be installed as with council staff 
14. Printers will not be provided as we seek to support electronic working and 

environmentally friendly practices. 
15. Agreement to council acceptable use policy and Councillor data security 

policy 
 
Refresh considerations for continuing Members 
 
All members will be requested to return existing equipment and will be issued with 
new.  
 
Non-returning Members 
 
Where Members are not returning. Return of any issued equipment will need to be 
dropped off at Penmorfa or Canolfan Rheidol service desks. This equipment will be 
either refurbished and re-issued or disposed of in-line with our usual corporate 
refresh arrangements. 
 
The return of any personal files or documents from personal devices that can be 
retained will require the completion of the Personal / Confidential Data Encryption 
Agreement (see additional attachment). 
 
Recommendations 
 
As this is a consultative report confirmation is sought that the proposed solution and 
terms reflect the current and future needs of Members. 
 
Arwyn Morris      
Corporate Lead Officer: Customer Contact  
 
27th September 2021 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021  
 
Title: Ceredigion County Council Candidates’ Guide 
 
Purpose of report:  To receive the view of the Committee in relation to 

the planned County Council Candidates’ Guide in 
advance of the elections in May 2022. 

 
Background 
In advance of the Ceredigion County Council elections in May 2022, Democratic 
Services has developed a guide for prospective candidates to provide information 
regarding the role, and process for nominations. 
 
The guide will be available electronically, and hard copies will be available at the 
Council libraries from November of this year.  Information relating to the Candidate’s 
Guide will also be promoted via the Council’s social media page. 
 
The document will be updated electronically as and when further information is known 
regarding the outcome of the consultation regarding the draft Local Elections (Principal 
Areas) (Wales) Rules 2021 and further information is made available. 
 
Recommendations: That the Committee approves the guidance 

document 
  
Appendices: A: Guidance Document for County Council 

Candidates’ Guide   
    
Background documents: None 
 
Name:                              Nia Jones 
Job Title:                  Corporate Manager – Democratic Services  
Date:    27.09.2021 
 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



Prospective Candidate Guide 

 

Are you passionate about your local community? 
Is there something you want to change? 
Can you make challenging decisions? 
 
Why not stand up for what matter to you and become a 
local Councillor 

 

 

Version 1: Date: 05.10.2021 

P
age 86



Information about Ceredigion County 

Council  
Ceredigion County Council is one of the 22 unitary local authorities in Wales. We are 
responsible for a wide range of services including  Schools, Libraries, Social Care, 
Promoting the Economy, Planning and Development, Environmental Health, Public 
Protection, Emergency Planning, Tourism, Leisure and Cultural Services, Public 
Footpaths, Highways, Waste Collection, Housing Benefits and the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme. 
 
Our main officers are located in Aberaeron and Aberystwyth and there are also 
customer service centres in Cardigan and Lampeter.   
 
The Council is divided into 34 electoral wards, represented by 38 Councillors elected 
every 5 years.  $ of these wards are represented by 2 Councillors. 

P
age 87



What can I do as a Councillor?  

 Here are some comments made by our present Councillors 

 “the rural economy is important to 

me, so I always make sure the 

voice of the small businesses is 

heard” 

“the environment is a priority for 

me, and Ceredigion is leading the 

way on these issues” 

“…………………………………….” 

“our young people are 

our future, so it is important 

to ensure a first class educa-

tion and opportunities” 

“I want to see our language 

and culture take precedence 

and prospers in our commu-

nities” 

“being a Councillor 

has enabled me to help indi-

viduals in my area” 

“…………………………………….” 

“Ceredigion is an agricultural 

area, and it is important 

than we support our farm-

ers” 

P
age 88



What is the role of a Councillor? 

Councillors represent the residents living in their ward, by listening and and holding conversations with them so that the needs of the 
community can be identified when making decisions on how local services are provided, funded and prioritised, including having to chose 
between the different demands on services and allocation resources. 
 
IT’s important that you can speak on behalf of everyone in your 
community and we need a range of different people and skills to 
represent different communities including women, young people, 
disable people, minority groups and LGBTQ+. 
 
You will be required to sit on the Council’s Committees. Your 
responsibilities may also vary with the committees you have been choses 
to be a member of. 
 
 

P
age 89



Ceredigion County Council Committees 

In terms of governance arrangements, the Council has adopted a “Cabinet” approach, 
which includes the Leader of the Council and portfolio members. 
 

Perhaps you will be selected to be a Member of one of the following Committees: 
 

 5 Overview and Scrutiny Committees including: 
 Coordinating 
 Corporate Resources 
 Thriving Communities 
 Healthier Communities 
 Learning Communities 

 Development Control Committee 
 Licensing Committee (statutory and non-statutory) 
 Ethics and Standards Committee 
 Governance and Audit Committee 
 Democratic Services Committee 
 Language Committee 
 Charity Trustee Committee 
 

Every meeting is open to the public unless there is discussion on a 
confidential matter 

P
age 90



How to get elected? 

 Do you want to represent your local community and help local people?  
 Are you concerned about the future of local services and feel you 

can be a voice for your community? 
 
If so, perhaps you should consider standing for election as a local 
Councillor.  
 
Councillors are elected by residents living in their ward to represent 
them. 
 
The next local election is held on 5 May 2022. 
 
This is an exceptional opportunity to contribute to the work of a 
progressive Council that has a unique place in Welsh culture and 
geography. 

P
age 91



 

Ceredigion County 

Council Wards 

P
age 92



A Councillor can be of any background or ability. What is important is 

that you can represent your community, have good people skills and a 

willing ness to listen to what they need. 

 

The Councillor must agree to abide by the Members’ Code of Conduct in 

order to ensure high standards in the way they carry out their duties. 

 

Councillors need to be able to understand reports in order to make 

decisions, and most of the work will be expected to be done by 

computer. Equipment will be provided, and the Council will make 

appropriate arrangements for accessibility and practical support where 

required for anyone that has a disability.  

Do you need special qualifications or skills to become a 
Councillor? 

P
age 93



What is the expected time commitment? 

 

Councillor spend the equivalent of 3 days a week on Council business.  

However, not all the Council’s commitments are during the working day, 

especially some of your Ward duties.  Council meetings can be attended 

remotely, and a job can be shared in the Council’s Cabinet and Executive 

including the role of the Leader. 

 

If you work for another employer, check their terms and conditions for time 

off to attend Council meetings. 

P
age 94



You can stand for election as in independent or group / political 

party candidate.  

If you are a party member or plan to join or stand as a member of a 

political party it’s possible that an agent will work on your behalf. 

If you want to know more about the role of an independent 

councillor, the Local Government Association has a group for 

independent members 

A full list of registered political parties is available from the Election 

Commission. 

Independent or group / party 
candidate? 

   

   

   

P
age 95

https://www.local.gov.uk/lga-independent/ceredigion.gov.uk/CERESTORE/Profile.v2/niajones1/Documents/Add-in%20Express
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/cy
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/cy


 
When Councillors are first elected, Council officers will arrange training, and 
an induction programme for you to get to know everyone, to understand your 
role, council procedures, laws, policies and practicalities for example chairing 
meetings, using programmes for virtual meetings etc.  
 
Ongoing training will be provided to suit your needs. 
 
All Councillors receive a basic salary, with additional payments to 
Councillors who take on additional responsibilities such as Committee 
Chair, Political Group Leader and so on. You will be entitled to a 
pension scheme, family leave allowance and support towards the 
costs of caring. 
 
 

What support will you get? 

P
age 96



Our Leadership Group 

Barry Rees 

Corporate Director 

Vacant 

Corporate Director 

Elin Prysor 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Legal & Governance 

Meinir Ebbsworth 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Schools & Culture 

Sian Howys 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Porth Cynnal 

Lowri Edwards 
Corporate Lead  

Officer - Democratic Services 

Donna Pritchard 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Porth Gofal 
Russell  

Hughes-Pickering 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Economy & 

Regeneration 

Elen James 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Porth Cymorth 

Cynnar 

Steve Johnson 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Finance & 

Procurement 

Rhodri Llwyd 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Highways & 

Environmental 

Arwyn Morris 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Customer Contact 

Alun Williams 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - Policy, Performance 

and Public Protection 

Geraint Edwards 

Corporate Lead  

Officer - People & 

Organisation 

Eifion Evans 

Chief Executive 

P
age 97



How do you go about standing as a candidate? 

You or your agent (if you have one) will need to complete a nomination form which can be found on the ‘Elections 

and Electoral Registration’ page of the Ceredigion County Council website. You will need to submit the form shortly 

after the date of issue of the Notice of Election with your full name and home address.   

The nomination form must be signed by 10 registered electors from the ward in which you are standing as a 
candidate. The first two to sign will be the proposer and seconder and the other eight registered electors will be 
witnesses.  Please note that the names of the 10 subscribers will be published. 
 
The nomination period begins on 21 March 2022, and closes at 4pm on 5 April 2022. 

You will need to arrange an appointment by contacting: swyddogcanlyniadau@ceredigion.gov.uk,  or you can 

telephone the main recenption on 01545 570881, and ask the service to contact you.    

P
age 98



The nomination process 
 

If you have been selected by a party as a candidate or are standing as an independent candidate, you must ensure 
that you are officially ‘nominated’ and give your nomination permission in writing. 
 
If you are a candidate for a registered political party, you must also submit a certificate from the party’s nomi-
nating officer, authorizing you and your use of the party’s description and emblem.  If you are independent, you 
can only describe yourself as ‘independent’ (or a bilingual version) or not provide a description at all.  
 
Candidates standing for political parties can hae an election ‘agent’.  This is the person legally responsible for 
running your campaign and negotiating with the council.  Independent candidates can be their own agent.  If no 
election agent is appointed, then the candidate automatically becomes their own agent. 
 
Further information can be found on the Electoral Commission website. 
 
 

P
age 99



Contact details: 

Ceredigion County Council 
Penmorfa 
Aberaeron  
Ceredigion  
SA46 0PA 
 
Tel: 01545 570881 
 
 
The information contained in this document will be revised as 
information is made available. 
 

P
age 100



P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021  
 
Title: Members’ Induction Programme 2022 
 
Purpose of report:  For the Committee to consider and agree upon a 

programme for Members following the County Council 
Elections in May 2022. 

 
Introduction 
 
County Council Elections will be held on 5th May 2022 and it is possible that there will 
be a number of new Councillors. It is therefore important that a robust and appropriate 
Member Induction programme is put in place to ensure that Councillors are able to 
understand the structure of the Council, its governance arrangements, their roles and 
responsibilities etc. 
 
The draft Members’ Induction programme outlines the areas that will be covered –
refer to Appendix A (the dates and times are subject to change).  
 
Further training will be held later in the year and would include: 
 

 Ask and Act (VAWDASV) and 
Prevent 

 Data Management and FOI 

 Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS)  
 

 Finance inc. budgeting and 
treasury management 

 Introduction to Equalities 

 Introduction to Welsh Language 
Standards. 

 Social Media 
 

 
The Induction and training programme will be tailored to each individual Member, 
dependant on their roles and responsibilities i.e. which Committees they are members 
of and whether they are Chairs / Vice Chairs. 
 
Many of the training sessions will be mandatory for all or some Councillors (both new 
and existing Councillors). 
 
Conclusion 
 
The programme outlined in Appendix A should offer Members the opportunity, within 
the first few weeks of their election, to gain a firm understanding of their roles and the 
functions of the Council. 
 
Ongoing support will be provided to all Councillors by Democratic Services, the 
Monitoring Officer and all Services. 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 11



2 

 

 
Recommendation: To agree upon a Member Induction programme 

for Members following the County Council 
Elections in May 2022. 

 
 
Appendix: Appendix A – Draft Members’ Induction 

programme 2022. 
 
Background documents: Local Government Act 1972 
 Local Government Measure 2011 
 Local Democracy Act 2013 
 Ceredigion County Council’s Constitution 
 
 
Nia Jones      
Corporate Manager Democratic Services   
 
27th September 2021 
 

Page 104



 
 

 
 

Members’ Induction and Training Programme  
2022 

 

All training will be held in the Council Chamber, Penmorfa, Aberaeron and/or 
remotely via video-conference unless stated below 

 

Date 
 

Time  Details Comments 

10th May  10.00am Introduction to the Council 
To include Code of Conduct 
Training 

Mandatory for all 
Councillors 

23rd May 10.00am Role and function of Cabinet 
members 
 

Mandatory for all Cabinet 
Members 

1st June 9.30am Development Control Committee 
training 
 

Mandatory for all members 
of the Development 
Control Committee* 

1st June 2.00pm Planning for Councillors who are not 
on the Development Control 
Committee 
 
 

Mandatory for all 
Councillors (excluding 
those on the Development 
Control Committee) 

8th June 10.00am The role of Overview and Scrutiny Mandatory for all members 
of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees   

22nd 
June 

2.00pm Governance and Audit Committee 
training 
 

Mandatory for all members 
of the Audit Committee* 

23rd June 9.30am 
 

Wellbeing of Future Generations 
and effective decision making 

Mandatory for all 
Councillors 

4th July 10.00am Licensing Committee training Mandatory for all members 
of the Licensing 
Committee* 

6th July 
9.30am 
and 
2.00pm 

Safeguarding – Level 1 training 
Mandatory for all 
Councillors 

21st July 

9.30am Overview and Scrutiny Chairing 
 

Mandatory for all Chairs 
and Vice Chairs of 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 

2.00pm The role of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Co-ordinating Committee in 
relation to the Public Service Board 
and the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations 

 

Further dates will be confirmed in due course and you will be notified accordingly.       
 

 

 *Please note – you will not be permitted to sit on these Committees unless you have attended the 
mandatory training. 

Page 105



 
 

 
 

 
 

e-Learning modules 
 

All Councillors will also have access to the e-learning modules on the All Wales Academy 
Portal. 

 
We will inform you when you have been registered and are able to access the e-learning 

modules. 
 
 
 

Page 106



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021 
 
Title: Democratic Services Committee Annual Report, 

2020/21.  
 
Purpose of report:  To present the draft Democratic Services Committee 

Annual Report for consideration, prior to presenting to 
Council. 

 
Introduction 
 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires each County Council to 
establish a Democratic Services Committee. The Measure prescribes the functions of 
the Democratic Services Committee and states that the Committee must make a 
report at least annually to the Council. 
 
The Democratic Services Annual Report is used to: 
a) Highlight the work carried out by the Democratic Services Committee; 
b) Show how the Democratic Services Committee has made a difference; 
c) Support continuous improvement for Councillors. 
 
The Annual Report will be presented to Council by the Chair of the Committee and 
subsequently be published on the Council website, in order to meet the requirements 
of the Measure. 
 
 
Recommendations: The Committee approves the draft Democratic 

Services Committee Annual Report, for 
presenting to Council on 21th October 2021. 

 
Appendices: Appendix A – Draft Democratic Services 

Committee Annual Report, 2020/21. 
  
Background documents: Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011; 
 Papers and minutes of Democratic Service 

Committee meetings. 
 

 
 
Lowri Edwards      
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services  
 
27th September 2021 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 12



1 
 

 

Democratic Services 

Committee  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 

2020/21 

 

 

 

Page 108



2 
 

Contents 
 

 

 Page  

Foreword by the Chair of the Committee 

 

3 

Terms of Reference of the Committee 4 

 

Members of the Committee 2020/21 

 

6 

The activities of the Committee 

 

7 

The year ahead 

 

11 

Attending the Committee / Contact us 

 

12 

 

  

Page 109



3 
 

Foreword from the Chair of the 

Committee 

 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 required each County and 
County Borough Council to establish a Democratic Services Committee 
and it has been a privilege to return to the role of the chair of the 
Democratic Services Committee following the Local Election in 2017. 
 
The Committee has focussed its work on ensuring that the needs and 
requirements of Members are addressed and that appropriate 
arrangements are made to support Members in their duties. During the 
year we reviewed developments in relation to the ‘Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act’ including a duty to encourage participation in 
decision-making, duty to make a petition scheme, duty to publish official 
addresses, electronic broadcasting of meetings, enabling job sharing for 
Leader and Cabinet Member positions as well as non-executive offices, 
family absence for Members, standards of conduct, and making 
information available to Overview and Scrutiny Committees.   Many of 
these changes will come into force from May 2022, however due to the 
pandemic, several have already been implemented. It was agreed to 
review these following the publication of guidance documents by the 
Welsh Government which is anticipated post November 2021.  The 
Committee also reviewed the size of the Governance and Audit 
Committee, revisions to the ‘Motions on Notice’, ‘Call In’ procedures, and 
voting procedures,  
 
 
The last 12 months have been extremely challenging, due to the Covid-
19 pandemic, with both Members and Officers working from home. 
Members have adapted extremely well to the new arrangements, thanks 
to all the support and training provided by the Democratic Services 
Officers.  I would like to extend my thanks and appreciation to the 
Committee for their time, dedication and support, and Officers who have 
supported the work of the Committee and all Members and I thank them 
all for their willingness, commitment and continued support. 
 
There are several matters that the Committee will be considering during 
the remainder of 2020/21, including continuing to ensure that the needs 

Page 110



4 
 

and requirements of Members are addressed in relation to  new facilities 
in the Council Chamber as well as ICT solutions for Members. 
 
 
Councillor Ceredig Davies 
Chairman of the Democratic Services Committee, Ceredigion County 
Council 
2020/21 

 

  

Page 111



5 
 

Terms of Reference of the 

Committee 

 

Democratic Services Committee Terms of Reference 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (the Measure) requires the 
local authority to appoint a Democratic Services Committee. At its first 
meeting in July 2012, the Terms of Reference were agreed as follows: 
 
The functions of the Democratic Services Committee are to: 

 Carry out the local authority’s function of designating the Head of 
Democratic 
Services (HDS) 

 Keep under review the provision of staff, accommodation and other 
resources 
made available to the HDS, in order to ensure that it is adequate for 
the responsibilities of the post 

 Make reports, at least annually, to the full council in relation to these 
matters 

 To consider, and make recommendations to the Council, 
concerning the timing of meetings 

 To oversee the training and development of Members. 
 
Membership 
The Committee will comprise 6 Members as appointed by the Council. 
 
Chairman 
The Chairman will be appointed by the Council and will serve for a term 
of two consecutive municipal years (in accordance with Article 5.2 of Part 
2 of the Constitution). 
 
Co-option 
The Measure does not provide the Committee with powers to co-opt 
persons onto the Committee. 
 
Sub-committees 
The Committee may appoint sub-committees as and when required and 
delegate functions to them. 

Page 112



6 
 

 
The Committee will appoint the Chairman of any sub-committee. 
 
Attendance to answer questions 
The Committee (and any sub-committee) has the power to require the 
attendance of any Members or Officers of the Council to answer questions 
and can invite anyone else it likes to do so also. If a member or officer is 
required to attend they must answer any questions unless the question is 
one which they would be entitled to refuse in a court. 
 
Access to information 
The Committee’s proceedings are subject to the Council Access to 
Information Rules as found in Document B Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
Frequency of meetings 
The Committee will meet at least three times in any municipal year. 
 
A meeting of the Committee can also be convened if the full Council so 
decides or at least a third of the members of the Committee demands a 
meeting. 
 
The onus lies on the Chairman to ensure that meetings are held when 
required. 
 
Welsh Government Guidance 
The Committee must have regard to guidance from Welsh Ministers when 
exercising its functions. 
 
Reports of the Head of Democratic Services 
Any report presented to the Committee by the HDS must be considered 
by the Committee within three months. Similarly, any report made by the 
Committee must be considered by the full Council within three months. 

  

Page 113



7 
 

Membership of the Committee 

 

Members of the Democratic Services Committee 

2020/21 

The Committee is made up of 6 Members and is politically balanced. In 
2020/21 it was chaired by Councillor Ceredig Davies. The Members have 
worked together to progress the work of the Democratic Services 
Committee: 

 

Councillor Possible Actual 

Councillor Ceredig Davies (Chair) 

Liberal Democrats 

1 1 

Councillor Clive Davies 

Plaid Cymru 

1 1 

Councillor Lloyd Edwards 

Liberal Democrats 

1 1 

 

Councillor Gwyn James 

Independent 

1 1 

Councillor Dai Mason 

Independent Voice 

1 1 

Councillor Wyn Thomas 

Plaid Cymru 

1 1  

 

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak in March 2020, it was not possible to 

convene the meeting in May 2020, as scheduled.   

Page 114



8 
 

The activities of the Committee 

2020/21 

 

In the past year, the Democratic Services Committee has undertaken a 

range of activities. The information below highlights the issues discussed 

and the views expressed by the Committee: 

 
Remote Meetings 
 
 

It was noted that Council’s Annual General Meeting had been held prior 
to lock-down in March.  Following an extensive review of the various 
systems and mechanisms for holding remote meetings, it was decide that 
‘zoom’ would be the most appropriate mechanism as it provided for 
simultaneous translation.  At that time, Microsoft were developing a 
platform for translation via ‘Teams’, however this facility has yet to be 
launched.  
 
One-to-one training was offered to every Member, and since meetings 
resumed over the summer, all Councillors have been able to attend via 
‘zoom’ with one Councillor joining the meeting by telephone.   
 
Guidance notes and a good practice guide for attending and participating 
at remote meetings were agreed and published on the website. 
 
 

 
Self-Evaluation of Overview and Scrutiny Survey 
 
Consideration was given to the findings of the self-evaluation survey 
which considered the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. It was noted that the number of respondents was twenty-
five, an increase of five from the previous year.  The Committee was 
pleased to note that overall, the response to the survey were reassuring.  
It was noted that on the recommendation of this committee, the number 
of questions had been reduced to 9 with an aim to increase participation, 
which had been successful.   
 

Page 115



9 
 

The committee noted that each time the review is held in relation to the 
timing of the meetings, the majority have asked that the current pattern 
continue.  It was noted that attending remote meetings is less demanding 
on the time of those who work during the day and that there would be 
additional challenges to holding remote meetings outside of office hours. 
 
The Committee agreed that the self-evaluation should be undertaken 
annually, that the number of questions should be reduced with an aim to 
increase participation and to review the format of the report presented to 
the Committee 
 
 
Webcast system for the Council Chamber 

 

 

It was noted that during a previous meeting, the Committee decided to 

postpone the purchase of a webcast system for the Council Chamber until 

further information becomes available, and to monitor and review 

developments in relation to the ‘Local Government and Elections (Wales) 

Bill’.  In December 2020, the Welsh Government Announced a support 

package to support the implementation of the Local Government and 

Elections (Wales) Act with £500,000 of that allocated to support the digital 

transformation of democracy to underpin many of the provisions contained 

within the Act.  Ceredigion County Council submitted an application, and 

were notified on 31 March 2021, that we had been successful in obtaining 

funding in order to upgrade the equipment within the Council Chamber 

which would enable us to host hybrid meetings, where Councillors and 

Members of the public are able to attend in person or remotely from May 

2022 in accordance with the requirement of the Act.  

 

A tender process followed and the successful bidder will commence the 

work from November of this year.  Training will be provided to all 

Members, as well as guidance to members of the public who may wish to 

attend. 

 

 

Implementation of the ‘Modern.gov’ Meeting Management 

System. 

 

Page 116



10 
 

During the lock-down, the ‘Modern.gov’ meeting management system 

was also implemented and 3 workshops were held to provide training 

to Members. 

 

Members’ Training and Development 

 

The following training / briefing sessions have been available remotely 

to Members during 2020/21: 

 Development Control Committee Workshops 28.09.2020 / 
09.11.2020 / 08.12.2020 

 Census 16.12.2020 

 Porth Ceredigion 16.12.2020 

 Budget Workshop 19.01.2021 

 Overview and Scrutiny – Learning Communities workshop 
01.02.2021 

 CYSGA (Language Committee) 08.02.2021 

 Cyber Fraud 30.04.2021 

 Modern.gov 29.04.2021 / 30.04.2021 / 04.05.2021 
 

 
  

Page 117



11 
 

The Year Ahead 

 

The key areas the Democratic Services Committee will consider during 

2021/22 are as follows: 

 

 Consideration to the results of the annual self-evaluation of 

Overview and Scrutiny survey; 

 To review participation in relation to the Members’ Annual Reports; 

 Monitoring implementation of the Local Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act in relation to: 

 

- Candidate guide for the 2022 election 

- Revised job-descriptions for Members 

- Training for new and returning Members following the election in 

2022 

- IT provision for Members post the election in 2022 

- E-Petition 

- Facilitating hybrid meetings 

 

 Review the size of all Committees in relation to reduction in overall 

Members from 2022, following the Local Elections; 

 Developing an action Plan following approval of the Diversity in 

Democracy Declaration; 

 Ensuring adequate support is provided to Members; 

 Any matters that are raised by Members that requires the 

Committee’s consideration. 

 

  

Page 118



12 
 

Attending the Democratic Services 

Committee / Contact us 

 

Attending meetings of the Democratic Services Committee 

The Council is keen to see members of the public attend Democratic 

Services Committee meetings and all other Council meetings, including 

Council itself, Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings, 

Development Control Committee and the Licensing Committee. 

 

With the exception of confidential items, all business is held in public. All 

of the public papers are published online 3 working days in advance of the 

meeting  

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-

committees/committees/  

 

Contact us 

If you wish to find out more about the Democratic Services Committee or 

make a comment or suggestion, please contact us:  

 

Democratic Services, Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, Aberaeron, 
SA46 0PA 
 
01545 570881          democracy@ceredigion.gov.uk 
 

Follow the Council on Facebook and Twitter 

 

www.facebook.com/CeredigionCC 

 

 

@CeredigionCC 

Page 119

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-committees/committees/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-committees/committees/
mailto:democracy@ceredigion.gov.uk
http://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http://www.site-seeker.com/wp-content/uploads/twitter-logo.png&imgrefurl=http://www.site-seeker.com/case-study-twitter-ads-target-audience/&h=790&w=2100&tbnid=UG8p4n8HrmOp6M:&zoom=1&docid=hB0zxVBZKDrOuM&ei=oPyGVLn_CMT9UJuTg9gI&tbm=isch&ved=0CEMQMygJMAk&iact=rc&uact=3&page=1&start=0&ndsp=30


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
Report to:   Democratic Services Committee 
 
Date:    15th October 2021 
 
Title: Report in relation to the Independent Remuneration 

Panel for Wales (IRPW)’s Draft Annual Report 2022/23 
consultation 

 
Purpose of report:  To outline to the Committee the main proposals 

contained within the IRPW’s Draft Annual Report 
2022/23, for comment 

 
Introduction 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) has published its Draft 
Annual Report for 2022/23, which is out for a period of consultation up until 26th 
November 2021.  
 
The full draft Annual Report is available in Appendix A; however, the Panel’s 
Determinations relating to Local Authorities are summarised as follows: 
 

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Principal Councils 

Determination 1: 
The basic salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be 
£16,800. 

Determination 2:  
Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set out 
in Table 4. 

Determination 3:  
Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in accordance 
with Table 4. 

Determination 4:  
Where paid, a deputy civic head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in 
accordance with Table 4. 

Determination 5:  
Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid £25,593 in 
accordance with Table 4. 

Assistants to the Executive 

Determination 13:   
The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if any, 
for assistants to the executive. 

 
Recommendations: For the Committee to consider the Independent 

Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW)’s Draft 
Annual Report 2022/23 and propose a response 
for consideration by a Cross Party Members’ 

Page 121

Agenda Item 13



2 
 

Panel. 
 

Appendices: Appendix A – Independent Remuneration Panel 
for Wales (IRPW)’s Draft Annual Report 2022/23 
 

Background documents: Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 
 

Lowri Edwards      
Corporate Lead Officer – Democratic Services 
  
30th September 2021 
 
 
 
   

Page 122



 

To:  
Leaders and Chief Executives of County and County Borough Councils  
Chairs and Chief Executives of National Park Authorities  
Chairs and Clerks of Fire and Rescue Authorities  
Chair and Chief Executive of One Voice Wales  
Leader and Chief Executive of Welsh Local Government Association  
Head of Democratic/Members Services of County and County  
Borough Councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities  
Community & Town Councils 
 

29 September 2021 
 
Dear Colleague 
 
Independent Remuneration for Wales – Draft Annual Report 2022/2023 
 
The Panel’s draft Annual Report for 2022/23 is attached. We would appreciate 
and welcome comments during the consultation period which ends on 26 
November 2021. 
 
Elections for principal councils and community and town councils will take 
place in May 2022, so the next Report of the Panel will coincide with the new 
municipal term. For several years payments to elected members of the 22 
principal councils has not kept pace with the original comparator that was used 
to set the basic salary, or any other public sector comparison. The Panel has 
decided this is an opportune time to rectify this situation and to reinstate the 
link to the average welsh earnings (based on 3 days).  
 
The draft Report also sets out changes to the remuneration framework for 
community and town councils following an extensive consultation exercise 
which we undertook earlier in the year.   
 

Page 123



We look forward to receiving comments on the proposals contained in the 
draft Report and  will consider all of the responses prior to producing the final 
Report for publication in February 2022. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
John Bader  
Chair 
 

Page 124



 
 

0  

Page 125



 
 

1  

ANNUAL REPORT 
2022/2023 
 

FOREWORD 

The Covid pandemic continues to impact on the work of the Panel in that we have 
been unable to meet with authorities and their representative organisations face to 
face. However, we have continued to meet regularly and have meaningful 
discussions to meet our statutory obligations via Microsoft Teams or Zoom. 
 
It has been a difficult time for the public sector but local authorities in Wales have 
demonstrated their resilience and capabilities over the past 18 months. 2022 is an 
election year for local government and the new five year term provides the 
opportunity to reset the basic salaries of elected members to align with the average 
earnings in Wales. This has been eroded in successive years, primarily as a result of 
austerity measures. We consider that it is important that the payments to elected 
members of principal councils be fair and at a level that is not a disincentive to 
potential candidates for election.  
 
We have undertaken a major consultation exercise in respect of the Remuneration 
Framework for community and town councils and the outcome is contained in 
Section 13 of this draft Report. I would like to express my appreciation to all the 
councils and individual members and officers for their involvement in the exercise. 
 
There have been changes to the membership of the Panel. Ruth Glazzard joined the 
Panel in April and Helen Wilkinson replaced Claire Sharp in July. My personal thanks 
to Claire for her contribution to the work of the Panel. 
 
The consultation period for this draft Report ends on 26 November 2021. The Panel 
would appreciate comments which will be considered prior to the production of the 
final Report. 
 
 
John Bader 
Chair 
 
Panel Membership 
John Bader, Chair 
Saz Willey, Vice Chair 
Joe Stockley 
Ruth Glazzard 
Helen Wilkinson 
 
Detailed information about the members can be found on the website: Panel 

website 

Page 126

http://irpw.gov.wales/
http://irpw.gov.wales/


 

2  

Contents 

Implementation of the Panel’s Determinations 3 

Executive Summary 4 

1. The Panel’s Framework: Principles of Members’ Remuneration 8 

2. Annual Report Summary Page 10 

3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: Basic, Senior and  
Civic Salaries 11 

4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 24 

5. Pension Provision for Elected Members of Principal Councils 25 

6. Entitlement to Family Absence 26 

7. Payments to Members of National Park Authorities 27 

8. Payments to Members of Welsh Fire and Rescue Authorities 30 

9. Payments to Co-opted Members of Principal Councils, National Park 
Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities 33 

10. Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal Assistance 35 

11. Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders 39 

12. Reimbursement of Travel and Subsistence Costs when on Official  41
 Business  

13. Payments to Members of Community and Town Councils 43 

14. Compliance with Panel Requirements 52 

15. Salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal Councils and Fire and 
Rescue Authorities and Chief Officers of Principal Councils 53 

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations for 2022/23 55 

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations 61 

Annex 3: Schedule of Member Remuneration 76 

Annex 4: Publication of Remuneration – the Panel’s Requirements 78 

Annex 5: Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this    80 
report 

Page 127



 

3  

Timescale for Implementation of the Panel’s Determinations 
 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires the Panel’s Annual Report to 
take effect from 1 April. In most years, this is in line with financial and administrative 
arrangements of all authorities. However, when new councils are elected some of the 
Panel’s determinations are to be effective for the new municipal term.  

 

On 9 May 2022, new municipal arrangements will come into effect following local 
government elections. This Annual Report therefore has two different effective dates 
as set out below: 

 

1. For the period 1 April 2022 to 8 May 2022, all of the Determinations 
contained in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales’ Annual Report 
2021/2022 will continue to apply in respect of principal councils and 
community and town councils. 

 

2. For national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities the 
determinations in Sections 7 and 8 of this Report will apply from the new 
financial year, 1 April 2022. 

 

3. With effect from 9 May 2022, (the new municipal year) the determinations set 
out in this Report in Sections 3 and 13 will apply to principal councils and 
community and town councils. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2021-2022
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2021-2022


 

4  

Executive Summary  
 
This is the fourteenth Annual Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales (the Panel), published under the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 (as amended). 

 
1. As Wales emerges from the Covid pandemic, local democracy and public services 

will have a vital role to play in strengthening the resilience of our local communities 
and economies. 2022 is a milestone year because of this overarching context.  

 
2. As a Panel our firm belief is that this is a reset moment for Welsh democracy and 

for valuing our public services; an important opportunity to future proof our 
democracy and public services. We have therefore taken time to engage with 
stakeholders, pause and reflect on the impact of the decisions we take and the 
messages we are communicating in making this year’s determinations.  

 
3. From inception, the Panel has consistently and vigorously expressed that local 

democracy and the governance of public services are not cost free and need to be 
valued if we are to enable everyone to participate. Levels of remuneration need to 
be set at a level sufficient to encourage a diversity of willing and able people to 
undertake local governance through elected, appointed or co-opted roles. It is 
important to promote a culture which encourages take up of remuneration to 
ensure that people from all walks of life can participate confidently in our 
democracy. However, the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires the 
Panel to have regard to the financial implication of its decisions. We have 
discussed the issue of affordability with representatives of the WLGA and the 
general consensus is that in the context of a council’s income and expenditure the 
Panel’s determinations do not have a significant impact. We consider that the 
proposals set out in this draft Report meet the legislative requirement. 

 
4. Since 2009, remuneration of elected members of local government in Wales has 

not kept pace with measures of inflation or other possible comparators. These 
include Retail Prices Index, Consumer Prices Index, NJC (public sector 
employees), National Living Wage (NLW), the Living Wage Foundation’s Living 
Wage (LWF) rates, Members of Senedd Cymru, and MPs and also the Annual 
Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE). This is the result of austerity and pressure on 
public finances. This has the potential to perpetuate socio-economic disadvantage, 
adding to perceptions of a democratic deficit.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


 

5  

Yearly percentage increases to basic salary, benchmarks and alternative 
measures 2013 to 2021  
 

Annual 
Report Year 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

IRPW Basic 0.00 0.00 0.95 0.00 0.00 0.75 3.49 2.52 1.06 

ASHE* 4.00 0.60 1.00 2.70 1.00 2.10 5.10 0.60 Oct-21 

NLW  1.90 3.00 3.10 7.50 4.20 4.40 4.90 6.20 2.18 

LWF 3.47 2.68 2.61 5.10 2.42 3.55 2.86 3.33 2.15 

 
5. During this period, decision-making and local governance has increased in 

complexity with increased responsibilities flowing from legal, social, economic, 
cultural and technological changes. People’s lifestyles (and expectations) have 
also changed in the last decade with increased requirements and expectations for 
a flexible approach to support people with family and care pressures to participate 
and contribute at work and in public life, through job sharing, flexibility and family 
leave. The diversity in democracy agenda has gained traction, underpinned by the 
Equality Act with an increased expectation that people with protected 
characteristics should be encouraged and empowered to participate. Future 
proofing our democracy and governance also means that young people, those in 
work and those who are socially and economically disadvantaged are positively 
encouraged and empowered to participate as it is clear that our public services 
should be accountable to and delivered by people who reflect the communities 
they serve. There is evidence that greater diversity will ensure decision-making 
takes account of a wide variety of perspectives.   

 
6. The Covid pandemic has put unprecedented pressure on our politicians and public 

servants. It has also highlighted the importance of our local and community 
infrastructure in developing rapid and innovative solutions. As Wales emerges from 
the pandemic, there is increased awareness that our nation needs to draw on a 
diverse talent pool to meet the scale of the ongoing challenges facing the nation. 
Local governance needs to engage lived experience and knowledge of local 
people. 

 
7. As noted in this report, payments for councillors in the 22 principal councils in 

Wales have not kept pace with comparators such as ASHE. Financial constraints 
on the public sector and particularly on local authorities over many years meant 
that the link with average Welsh earnings could not be maintained. The Panel 
considers that this has undervalued the worth of elected members and that it is 
now time to restore this link as the most appropriate comparator. Members in these 
22 principal councils will receive, proportionately, the same as the overall average 
amount that a Welsh constituent received in 2020. We believe this puts a fair value 
on the contribution made by local politicians. We hope that over time this will 
encourage greater diversity and enable potential candidates to consider putting 
themselves forward for election. 

 
8. Local elections in Wales will take place on 5 May 2022 for a new municipal term 

and potentially many new local politicians. The 9 May 2022 is therefore the best 
date in our view to enact this ‘significant reset’ and invest in local democracy in 

Page 130



 

6  

Wales. Our proposed increase in remuneration levels will therefore come into 
effect on this date. Further details can be found in Section 3.  

 
9. As a Panel, we are concerned that payment information provided by relevant 

authorities shows that very few members are utilising the provision in the 
framework for financial support in respect of care. We believe it is vital that 
Democratic Services Committees continue to encourage and facilitate greater use 
of this element of the Remuneration Framework so that members are not 
financially disadvantaged.  

 
10. We also believe that encouraging take up of this financial support for members with 

caring responsibilities will send a positive signal that members with these 
responsibilities are welcome and valued. We hope that it will encourage others with 
caring responsibilities to consider standing for election.  

 
11. Payments for members of national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue 

authorities will increase as a result of the uplift proposed for elected members of 
principal councils. As indicated above these increases will be effective from 1 April 
2022, the new financial year. The Panel considered the alternative for 
implementation following the annual meeting of each authority, but this could mean 
a significant delay in individuals receiving the new payments. This would not be 
equitable. 

 
12. Early in 2021 the Panel commenced a major review of the Remuneration 

Framework in respect of community and town councils and undertook a 
comprehensive consultation exercise with the sector. We appreciated the level of 
engagement from individual councils and their representative organisations. The 
Covid pandemic limited the Panel’s opportunities for face to face engagement in 
2020/2021. However, the Panel’s digital engagement was considerable. The Panel 
recognises a wide variation in geography, scope and scale across the 735 
community and town councils in Wales, from small community councils with 
relatively minimal expenditure and few meetings to large town councils with 
significant assets and responsibilities. Our recommendations for reform and the 
proposed new framework are set out in Section 13.  

 
13. In reaching our conclusions we have also taken account of: 
 

 the overarching framework of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act;  

 the ethos and principle of the socio-economic duty, implemented in Wales in 
2020; 

 Welsh Government’s ongoing commitment to equality and diversity in 
democracy;  

 
2022-2023 Determinations 
 
14. The table below summarises the new and updated determinations in this year’s 

Annual Report informed by our belief and rationale for investing in local democracy 
and public services and by the principles outlined above.  

 
 
 

Page 131

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://gov.wales/socio-economic-duty-overview
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-04/strategic-equality-plan-equality-aims-objectives-actions-2020-2024.pdf
https://gov.wales/written-statement-phase-two-diversity-democracy-programme-action-plan
https://gov.wales/written-statement-phase-two-diversity-democracy-programme-action-plan


 

7  

Annex 1 outlines all of the Panel’s determinations for 2022/23. 
 

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Principal Councils 

Determination 1: 
The basic salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be £16,800. 

Determination 2:  
Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in 
Table 4. 

Determination 3:  
Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in accordance with 
Table 4. 

Determination 4:  
Where paid, a deputy civic head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in accordance 
with Table 4. 

Determination 5:  
Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid £25,593 in 
accordance with Table 4. 

Assistants to the Executive 

Determination 13:   
The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if any, for 
assistants to the executive. 

National Park Authorities 

Determination 23:  
The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be £4,738 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 24:  
The senior salary of the chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 25: 
A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a deputy chair where appointed.  

Determination 26: 
Committee chairs or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £8,478. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

Determination 30:  
The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be £2,369 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 31:  
The senior salary of the chair of a FRA shall be £11,162 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 32:  
A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the deputy chair where appointed. 

Determination 33: 
Chairs of committees or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £6,109.  
 

Community and Town Councils 

Determination 48:  
Each council can decide to introduce an attendance allowance for members. The amount 
of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss will not be entitled to claim attendance allowance for 
the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a system of attendance allowances must set out the 
details of the scheme and publish on their website.  

Page 132



 

8  

1. The Panel’s Framework: Principles of Members’ 
Remuneration 

 
Upholding trust and confidence 

 
1.1 Citizens rightly expect that all those who choose to serve in local authorities 

uphold the public trust by embracing the values and ethics implicit in such 
public service. These principles underpin the contribution that the work of the 
Panel and its Framework make towards upholding public trust and confidence. 

 

Simplicity 

 
1.2 The Framework is clear and understandable. This is essential for the Panel to 

be able to communicate its Determinations effectively to all those who are 
affected by, or who have an interest in its work. 

 

Remuneration 
 
1.3 The Framework provides for payment to members of authorities who carry a 

responsibility for serving their communities. The level of payment should not 
act as a barrier to taking up or continuing in post. There should be no 
requirement that resources necessary to enable the discharge of duties are 
funded from the payment. The Framework provides additional payments for 
those who are given greater levels of responsibility. 

 

Diversity 
 
1.4 Democracy is strengthened when the membership of authorities adequately 

reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the communities such 
authorities serve. The Panel will always take in to account the contribution its 
Framework can make in encouraging the participation of those who are 
significantly under-represented at local authority level. 

 

Accountability 
 
1.5 Taxpayers and citizens have the right to receive value for money from public 

funds committed to the remuneration of those who are elected, appointed or 
co-opted to serve in the public interest. The Panel expects all authorities to 
make information readily and appropriately available about the activities and 
remuneration of their members. 

 

Fairness 
 
1.6 The Framework will be capable of being applied consistently to members of all 

authorities within the Panel’s remit as a means of ensuring that levels of 
remuneration are fair, affordable and generally acceptable. 

Page 133



 

9  

Quality 
 
1.7 The Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny and 

regulatory duties incumbent upon members requires them to engage with a 
process of continuous quality improvement. The Panel expects members to 
undertake such training and personal development opportunities as 
required to properly discharge the duties for which they are remunerated. 

 

Transparency 
 
1.8 Transparency of members’ remuneration is in the public interest. Some 

members receive additional levels of remuneration by virtue of being elected 
or appointed to more than one public body. The Framework serves to ensure 
that knowledge of all members’ remuneration is made easily available to the 
public. 

 
Remuneration of Heads of Paid Service 

 
1.9 The Panel applies these principles of fairness, accountability and transparency 

in all its determinations in relation to remuneration of members of all the 
authorities that fall within its remit. The same principles also apply when the 
Panel is required to make recommendations in relation to the remuneration of 
the heads of paid service of these authorities. 

Page 134



 

10  

2. Annual Report Summary Page 
 

Type of Payment 

Type of Authority 

Principal 

Councils 

National Park 

Authorities 

Fire and 

Rescue 

Authorities 

Community and 

Town Councils 

Basic Salary page 13 page 28 page 32 N/A
2

 

Senior Roles page 16 page 28 page 32 page 45 

Committee Chairs page 14 page 28 page 32 N/A 

Opposition Groups page 16 N/A N/A N/A 

Civic Heads and Deputies page 17 N/A N/A page 47 

Presiding Members page 18 N/A N/A N/A 

Mileage page 41 page 41 page 41 page 46 

Other Travel Costs page 41 page 41 page 41 page 46 

Subsistence Costs page 42 page 42 page 42 page 46 

Contribution towards Costs of 
Care and Personal Assistance 

page 35 page 35 page 35 page 35 

Family Absence page 26 N/A N/A N/A 

Sickness Absence page 39 page 39 page 39 N/A 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
page 24 N/A N/A N/A 

Pension page 25 N/A N/A N/A 

Co-optees page 33 page 33 page 33 N/A 

Specific or Additional 

Allowances 
page 20 N/A N/A N/A 

Payments to Community and 

Town Councillors 
N/A N/A N/A page 43 

Compensation for Financial Loss  N/A N/A N/A page 46 

Statement of Payments page 78 page 78 page 78 page 78 

Schedule of Remuneration Page 76 Page 76 Page 76 N/A 

Salaries of Head of Paid 

Services  
Page 53 N/A Page 53 N/A 

 
2 

Not Applicable 
 

Page 135



 

11  

3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: 
Basic, Senior and Civic Salaries 
 

Basic salary for elected members of principal councils 
 

3.1  In 2009 the Panel decided the average work commitment of an elected 
councillor of a principal council was three working days. The maximum basic 
salary was set at £13,868. This reflected three fifths of the then median gross 
earnings of full-time male employees resident in Wales as reported in the 
Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE) published by the Office of National 
Statistics. The Panel considered it was appropriate to use this figure, as it was 
comparable with constituents’ pay, adjusted for the part-time nature of the work 
of a member with no senior responsibilities. At the introduction of austerity 
measures, the basic salary was reduced to £13,175 and the link to ASHE was 
broken. Since then, there has been no connection between councillor and 
constituent pay. In 2019, the Panel took steps to stop the gap widening and 
reviewed options to move towards reinstating the link with ASHE or another 
suitable benchmark. A detailed explanatory paper setting out the historical 
context and analysis is available on the Panel’s website. The key issues are:  

 
3.1.1 Since 2009, the Panel has met its duty to take account of affordability and 

acceptability and set amounts for the basic salary that varied but have not 
kept pace with measures of inflation or other comparators. Table 1 shows 
the percentage increases to the basic salary and a selection of alternative 
benchmarks from 2013 to 2021. 

 
3.1.2 From 2013 to 2020 the basic salary of other Welsh elected members 

increased by 9% (£13,175 to £14,368). A Senedd Cymru member’s salary 
increased by 28.6% (£53,852 to £69,272) and an MP’s salary increased by 
23.4% (£66,396 to £81,932). MS salaries were realigned in 2017 and MPs 
in 2015. 

 
3.1.3 Examining other parts of the United Kingdom, councillors in Scotland 

receive £18,604 a year and in 2018 councillors in Northern Ireland 
received £15,486. Comparison with England is more difficult as the 
structure of local government is different, although there are examples 
where members are paid significantly more than their Welsh counterparts. 

 
3.1.4 Table 1 shows the basic salary of backbench councillors has fallen 

significantly behind the Welsh average (median) salary and public sector 
pay. 

 
  

Page 136

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/an-historical-overview-of-irpw-determinations-on-members-salaries.pdf


 

12  

Table 1 – Yearly percentage increases to basic salary, benchmarks and 
alternative measures 2013 to 2021  

 

Annual 
Report Year 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

IRPW Basic 0.00 0.00 0.95 0.00 0.00 0.75 3.49 2.52 1.06 

ASHE* 4.00 0.60 1.00 2.70 1.00 2.10 5.10 0.60 Oct-21 

NJC **  1.00 0.43 2.05 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.60 2.75  1.75 

MS 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 17.70 2.10 3.50 0.00 2.40 

MP 1.00 1.00 10.30 1.30 1.40 1.80 2.70 3.10 0.00 

RPI*** 3.00 2.40 1.00 1.80 3.60 3.30 2.60 1.50  3.80 

CPI **** 2.60 1.50 0.00 0.70 2.70 2.50 1.80 0.90  2.00  

NLW 1.90 3.00 3.10 7.50 4.20 4.40 4.90 6.20 2.18 

LWF 3.47 2.68 2.61 5.10 2.42 3.55 2.86 3.33 2.15 

 
** NJC final employers offer July 2021; *** RPI and CPI**** are for July 2021. 
 
Wales Median Average (median) gross weekly earnings by Welsh local areas and year (£) (gov.wales)  
MS Remuneration Board  
MP Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority  
RPI all items Retail Price Index  
CPI Consumer Price Inflation 
NLW National Living Wage 
LWF  Living Wage Foundation 

 
 
Table 2 - Basic yearly salary and actual full time and 3 day (60%) equivalents of 

Welsh national average pay 2013 to 2021 
 

Year IRPW basic salary Wales Median ASHE  

  full time 3 day 

2013 13,175 24,499 14,699 

2014 13,175 24,655 14,793 

2015 13,300 24,915 14,949 

2016 13,300 25,643 15,386 

2017 13,300 25,904 15,542 

2018 13,400 26,476 15,886 

2019 13,868 27,828 16,697 

2020 14,218 27,974 16,784 

2021 14,368 October 2021 October 2021 

 
 

Page 137

https://www.remunerationboard.wales/news
https://www.theipsa.org.uk/publications/consultations/review-of-mps-pay-and-pensions/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/timeseries/czbh/mm23
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/consumerpriceinflation/august2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/national-living-wage-increase-to-protect-workers-living-standards
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/


 

13  

3.2 When making determinations for this Annual Report, the Panel considered the 
progression of the variety of benchmark figures outlined above for the period 
from 2013 to 2021 and the increases. 

 
3.3 As outlined in the Executive Summary, the Panel believes that local elections in 

May 2022 provide an opportune time to rectify the imbalance between the basic 
salary of councillors and the average salaries of their constituents. The basic 
salary of councillors of principal councils elected in the May 2022 local elections 
will be reset to align with the 2020 ASHE. This will be £16,800. 

 

 
Senior Salaries 
 
Senior salaries are payments to members who are executive, chairs of committees and 
the leader of the opposition. 
 
 
Number of Senior Salaries  
 
3.4 The limit on the number of senior salaries payable (“the cap”) will remain in place 

and remains unchanged. In 2022-2023 the maximum number of senior salaries 
payable within each council will be as set out in Table 3.  
 
 

Senior Salary Payments 
 
3.5  All senior salaries include the basic salary payment. 
 
3.6 The Panel recognises that years of no or low increases has meant the pay of 

senior salary holders is significantly and increasingly lower than many relevant 
comparators. 

 
 
Leaders 
 
3.7 It is widely recognised that the role of leader of a principal council is highly 

complex and carries a large and increasing level of responsibility. Leaders’ pay is 
at the lower end of sector market comparators. 

 
3.8 The Panel has heard arguments that a leader’s pay should be at or above a 

backbench MS or a Health Board Chair. The Panel has considered these 
arguments, but has concluded that although the roles have some similarities, 
there are significant and crucial differences which are not helpful in making 
comparisons.  

 
3.9 The Panel is very concerned that the current payment levels are often financially 

Determination 1: The Basic Salary in 2022/23 for elected members of 
principal councils shall be £16,800. 

Page 138



 

14  

unattractive and are seen as a barrier to participation. For many willing and well-
qualified people, a senior salary might necessitate a significant reduction in 
earnings. This is not in the spirit of diversity, inclusion, or democracy, or efficient 
for the effective running of principal councils. To start to address this, the Panel 
has re-set all senior salary payments for 2022-2023. The salary of a leader of the 
largest (Group A) council will be £63,000. All other payments have been decided 
in reference to this and are set out in Table 4. 

 
 
Executive 
 
3.10  The Panel continues to take the view that executive members should be 

considered to be working the equivalent of full time (around 40 hours per week) 
but flexibly, and not necessarily nine to five. Continued discussions with members 
and officers in recent years have reinforced this conclusion. 

 
 
Chairs of Committees 
 
3.11 The Panel recognises that there is a significant variance in the responsibilities 

and functions of chairing different committees. Councils do not have to pay chairs 
of committees. Each council can decide which, if any, chairs of committees they 
pay. This allows councils to take account of differing levels of responsibility. 

 
3.12 The Panel has considered the role element of the chair’s salary. The move to a 

single level of chair payment in 2019 reduced the differentials with other senior 
payments. To reset this, the Panel has decided not to change the role element at 
the 2021 figure of £8,793 for 2022-2023. The basic salary increase will apply.  

 
 

 
  

Determination 2: Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal 
councils shall be as set out in Table 4. 

Page 139



 

15  

 

Table 3: Maximum numbers of council membership eligible for payment of a senior 
salary 

 

Council Number of councillors Number of senior salaries 

Group A (populations over 200,000) 

Cardiff 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Swansea 

75 
75  
72 

19 
19 
19 

Group B (populations of 100,000 to 200,000) 

Bridgend 54 18 
Caerphilly 73 18 
Carmarthenshire 74 18 
Conwy 59 18 
Flintshire 70 18 
Gwynedd 75 18 
Neath Port Talbot 64 18 
Newport 50 18 
Pembrokeshire 60  18 
Powys 73 18 
Vale of Glamorgan 47 18 
Wrexham 52 18 

Group C (populations of up to100,000) 

Blaenau Gwent 42 17 
Ceredigion 42 17 
Denbighshire 47 17 
Isle of Anglesey 30 16 
Merthyr Tydfil 33 16 
Monmouthshire 43 17 
Torfaen 44 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



 

16  

Table 4: Salaries payable to Basic, Senior, Civic and Presiding Members of Principal 
Councils: 

 

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £16,800 

 
Group A Group B Group C 
Cardiff, 
Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, 
Swansea 

Bridgend, 
Caerphilly, 
Carmarthenshire, 
Conwy, Flintshire, 
Gwynedd, Newport, 
Neath Port Talbot, 
Pembrokeshire, 
Powys, 
Vale of Glamorgan, 
Wrexham 

Blaenau Gwent, 
Ceredigion, 
Denbighshire, 
Merthyr Tydfil, 
Monmouthshire, 
Torfaen, Isle of 
Anglesey 

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) 

Band 1 
Leader 
 
Deputy Leader 

 
 
£63,000 
 
£44,100 
 

 
 
£56,700 
 
£39,690 
 

 
 
£53,550  
 
£37,485 
 

Band 2 

Executive Members 

 
£37,800  
 

 
£34,020 

 
£32,130 
 

Band 3 
Committee Chairs (if 
remunerated): 

 
 

 
£25,593 

 

Band 4 

Leader of Largest Opposition 

Group3
 

  
£25,593 

 

Band 5 
Leader of Other Political Groups 

  
£20,540 

 

 
3 
Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of 

“largest opposition group” and “other political group”. 

 
 

Table 4 notes: 
 

a. The Panel considers that leadership and executive roles (Band 1 and 2 
salaries respectively) carry the greatest individual accountability. A deputy 
leader salary is set at 70% of their leader and an executive member at 60% 
of their leader.  
 

b.  The Panel considered arguments for and against changing council 
groupings. Options included removing or increasing the number of groups 

Page 141



 

17  

and changing the banding levels. The Panel concluded that ‘size of 
population’ remains a major factor in influencing levels of responsibility and 
has retained the three population groups (A, B and C). For information: Group 
A Population 200,000 and above; Group B Population 100,001 to 199,999; 
Group C Population up to 100,000. 

 

c. Salaries for B group councils will be at 90% of Group A salaries. Salaries for C 
group councils have been set at around 80% of Group A. Although Group C 
councils have significantly smaller populations and budgets they face similar 
duties and challenges as Group A and B councils and they do so with fewer 
resources. The Panel has therefore decided to reduce the Group differentials. 
In 2022/2023 salaries for Group C will be at 85% of Group A salaries. The 
salaries are set out in Table 4. 

 
d.  Committee chairs will be paid at Band 3. A council can decide which, if any, 

chairs of committees are remunerated. This allows councils to take account of 
differing levels of responsibility. 

 

e.  The stipulation that an opposition group leader or any other group leader 
must represent at least 10% of the council membership before qualifying for 
a senior salary remains unchanged. 
 

f. The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available 
to the leader of the largest opposition group. 
 

g. The Panel has determined that, if remunerated, a Band 5 senior salary must 
be paid to leaders of other political groups. 

 

 

Payments to Civic Heads and Deputies (Civic Salaries) 
 
3.13 A council may decide not to pay any civic salary to the posts of civic head 

and or deputy civic head. If paid, civic heads must be remunerated at Band 
3 level and deputy civic heads at Band 5. (Determinations 5, 6, 7 and 8). 
 

3.14 The posts of civic head and deputy civic head are not included in the cap 
(with the exception of Isle of Anglesey and Merthyr Tydfil Councils). 
 

3.15 Civic heads are senior posts within councils which are distinct from political 
or executive leadership. In addition to chairing major meetings the civic 
head is the authorities’ ‘first citizen’ and ‘ambassador’ representing the 
council to a wide variety of institutions and organisations. The Panel’s 
requirement that members should not have to pay for the cost of the 
support (see Determination 10) needed to carry out their duties applies 
also in respect of deputy civic heads. 

 

 

Determination 3: Where paid, a Civic Head must be paid a Band 3 salary of 
£25,593 in accordance with Table 4. 

Page 142



 

18  

 

 

 
3.16 In many instances civic heads receive secretarial support and are provided 

with transport for official duties and can access a separate hospitality budget 
which is managed and controlled by council officers. 
 

3.17 The Panel recognises the wide range of provision made for civic heads in 
respect of transport, secretarial support, charitable giving and official clothing. 
Funding decisions in relation to levels of such additional support are not 
matters of personal remuneration, but of the funding required to carry out the 
tasks and duties. These matters remain entirely a decision for individual 
councils. Councils remain free to invest in support at whatever levels they 
deem appropriate for the levels of civic leadership they have in place. 

 

3.18 The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 allows councils to 
appoint a presiding member whose role is to chair meetings of the whole 
council. Where appointed, there would be a consequential reduction in the 
responsibilities of the respective civic head. 

 
Presiding Members 
 

3.19 Councils are reminded that, if a presiding member is appointed, they do not 
have to be remunerated. If they are remunerated the post will count towards 
the cap and be paid at a Band 3 senior salary. 

 

 

 
Key factors underpinning the Panel’s determinations: 

 
3.20 The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the 

responsibility of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, 
regulatory and related functions of local governance. It is based on a full time 
equivalent of three days a week.  

 
3.21 The prescribed salary and expenses must be paid in full to each member 

unless an individual has independently and voluntarily opted in writing to the 
authority’s proper officer to decline all or any element of the payment. It is 
fundamental there is transparency in this process so any possible suggestion 
that members are put under pressure to decline salaries is avoided. 

Determination 4: Where paid, a Deputy Civic Head must be paid a Band 5 
salary of £20,540 in accordance with Table 4. 

Determination 5: Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding 
member must be paid £25,593 in accordance with Table 4.  

Determination 6: The post of deputy presiding member will not be 
remunerated. 

Page 143



 

19  

 

The following must be applied: 
 

Determination 7:  
 
a) An elected member must not be remunerated for more than one senior 

post within their authority.  
 
b) An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary. 
 
c) All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary. 
 
d) If a council chooses to have more than one remunerated deputy leader, 

the difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other 
executive members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders 
and added to the senior salary for other executive members in order to 
calculate the senior salary payable to each deputy leader. 

 

 
 

Determination 8: Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 
cannot receive a salary from any NPA or FRA to which they have been 
appointed. They remain eligible to claim travel and subsistence 
expenses and contribution towards costs of care and personal 
assistance from the NPA or FRA. 

 

 

 

Determination 9: Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 salary cannot 
receive any payment from a community or town council of which they are a 
member. They remain eligible to claim travel and subsistence expenses 
and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance from the 
community or town council. Where this situation applies, it is the 
responsibility of the individual member to comply.  

 
 
Supporting the work of local authority elected members 

3.22 The Panel expects support provided should take account of the specific needs 

of individual members. Democratic Services Committees are required to 

periodically review the level of support provided to members to carry out their 

duties. The Panel would expect these committees to carry this out and bring 

forward proposals to the full council as to what is required. Any proposals 

should be made with due regard to Determinations 10 and 11 below. For 

example, the Panel does not consider it appropriate that elected members 

should be required to pay for any telephone usage to enable them to discharge 

their council duties. 

3.23 The Panel considers it is necessary for each elected member to have ready use 

of email services, and electronic access to appropriate information via an 

internet connection. The Panel does not consider it appropriate that elected 

members should be required to pay for internet related services to enable them 

to discharge their council duties. Access to electronic communications is 

Page 144



 

20  

essential for a member to be in proper contact with council services and to 

maintain contact with those they represent. Councils are committed to 

paperless working and without electronic access members would be 

significantly limited in their ability to discharge their duties. It is inappropriate for 

facilities required by members only to be available within council offices within 

office hours. 

3.24 The responsibility of each council, through its Democratic Services Committee, 

to provide support should be based on an assessment of the needs of its 

members. When members’ additional needs or matters of disability apply, or 

there are specific training requirements indicated, each authority will need to 

assess any particular requirements of individual members. 

3.25 As a result of their role as a councillor an elected member’s personal security 

may become adversely affected. It is the duty of Democratic Services 

Committees to fund or provide support necessary to enable a councillor to 

discharge their role reasonably and safely. This may require funding 

appropriate security measures to protect councillors from personal risk or 

significant threat. Risk assessment and liaison with relevant bodies such as the 

police and security services would normally inform the selection of required 

provision.  

3.26 For co-opted members the support requirements are set out in Section 9 and 

Determination 42. 

 

 

Determination 11: Such support should be without cost to the individual 
member. Deductions must not be made from members’ salaries by the 
respective authority as a contribution towards the cost of support which the 
authority has decided necessary for the effectiveness and or efficiency of 
members. 

 
Specific or additional senior salaries 

 
3.27 The Panel has allowed for greater flexibility which allows for authorities to 

apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current 
remuneration framework, or which could not be accommodated within the 
maximum number of senior salaries relating to the authority. If the proposed 
addition is approved and results in the council exceeding its cap, this will be 
included in the approval (with exception of Merthyr Tydfil and the Isle of 
Anglesey Councils – see footnote 4). Some councils have raised the possibility 
of operating some senior salary posts on a job share arrangement. The Panel 
is supportive of this principle, on the basis that it supports diversity and 

Determination 10: Each authority, through its Democratic Services 
Committee, must ensure that all its elected members are given as much 
support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. All 
elected members should be provided with adequate telephone, email and 
internet facilities giving electronic access to appropriate information. 

Page 145



 

21  

inclusion, and the process is set out in Paragraph 3.29. 

 
Determination 12: Principal councils can apply for specific or additional 
senior salaries that do not fall within the current Framework. 

 

3.28 Guidance to local authorities on the application process was issued in April 
2014 and incorporated the following principles: 

 
a. The total number of senior salaries cannot exceed fifty percent4 of the 

membership. 

 
b. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole 

(unless this has been delegated within Standing Orders) prior to 
submission to the Panel. 

 
c. There must be clear evidence that the post or posts have additional 

responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and 
duration. 

 
d. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the 

role to be considered by the authority as a whole. 

 
4 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 Section 142 (5). The proportion fixed by the Panel in 

accordance with subsection (4) may not exceed fifty percent unless the consent of the Welsh 
Minister has been obtained. 

 

Page 146



 

22  

3.29  Job Sharing Arrangements 
 

 
Section 58 of the Local Government and Elections Act (Wales) 2021 established 
new arrangements for job sharing for executive leaders and executive 
members. The Act makes provision: 
 
a) requiring local authorities to include in their executive arrangements 

provision for enabling two or more councillors to share an office on an 
executive, including the office of executive leader 

 
b) changing the maximum number of members of an executive when 

members of the executive share an office and 
 
c) about voting and quorum where members of an executive share office. 
 
 
For members of an executive: Each job sharer will be paid an appropriate 
proportion of the salary group as set out in Table 3. 
 
The statutory maximum, as set out in the Act, for cabinets cannot be exceeded 
so each job sharer will count toward the maximum. 
 
Under the Measure, it is the number of persons in receipt of a senior salary, 
not the number of senior salary posts that count towards the cap. Therefore, 
for all job share arrangements the senior salary cap will be increased subject 
to the statutory maximum of 50% of the council’s membership. Where the 
arrangements would mean that the statutory maximum would be exceeded the 
Panel would need to seek the approval of Welsh Ministers. 
 
 

3.30  Assistants to the Executive 
 
The Local Government and Elections Act also provides for principal councils to 
be able to appoint elected members to assist the executive in discharging its 
functions.  
 
Such appointments are made by the leader of the council and can include: 
 

 the number of assistants that may be appointed 

 the term of office of the assistants 

 the responsibility of the assistants 
 

There are exclusions to the appointments as set out in the legislation and 
assistants are not members of the cabinet. 
 
The Panel has given initial consideration to matters of remuneration for 
members appointed as assistants to the executive but has concluded that until 
there is more information in respect of the responsibilities attached to the posts 
it is not possible to decide on additional payments, if any. It is therefore 

Page 147



 

23  

proposed that this will be further considered when a council decides to make 
appointments and details of the specific responsibility is available. 
 
To give effect to this without the requirement for a further formal report the 
following determination will apply. 
 

 

Determination 13: The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the 
appropriate senior salary, if any, for assistants to the executive. 
 

 

Note: If a senior salary payment is made, each will count towards the cap, 
however, the cap will be increased by the number of assistants receiving 
payments subject the statutory maximum of 50 per cent of the council’s 
membership. 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 148



 

24  

 4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 

 
4.1 Little use has been made of the arrangements for JOSCs. Therefore, the 

Panel has decided to delete the payment from the Framework. If, in future, a 
JOSC is formed by an individual council and it wishes to remunerate, it can 
apply using the arrangements contained in paragraphs 3.27 and 3.28. The 
current JOSCs in operation will continue without need for further 
confirmation. The applicable salaries are set out in the following 
determinations. 

 
 

Determination 14: The salary level for a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall be £8,793. 
 

 

Determination 15: The salary level for a vice chair of a Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall be £4,396.  
 

 
  

Page 149



 

25  

5. Pension Provision for Elected Members of Principal 
Councils 

 
5.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides a power to the Panel 

to make determinations on pension entitlement for elected members of 
principal councils. 

 
 

Determination 16: The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) shall apply to all eligible elected members of principal 
councils. 

 

Page 150



 

26  

 6.  Entitlement to Family Absence 

This section applies to elected members of principal authorities. 

 
6.1 The Regulations relating to Family Absence for elected members of principal 

councils were approved by the National Assembly for Wales in November 

20135 and cover maternity, new-born, adoption and parental absences from 
official business. 

 
6.2 The Panel considered the implications for the remuneration of such members 

who are given absence under the terms of the Welsh Government 
Regulations and the Panel’s determinations are set out below. 

 

 

 

5 
The Family Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013  

Determination 13: An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary 
when taking family absence under the regulations irrespective of the 
attendance record immediately preceding the commencement of the 
family absence. 

Determination 17: An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary 
when taking family absence under the original regulations or any 
amendment to the regulations irrespective of the attendance record 
immediately preceding the commencement of the family absence. 

Determination 18: When a senior salary holder is eligible for family 
absence, they will continue to receive the salary for the duration of the 
absence. 

Determination 19: It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not 
to make a substitute appointment. The elected member substituting for a 
senior salary holder taking family absence will be eligible to be paid a 
senior salary, if the authority so decides. 
 

Determination 20: If the paid substitution results in the authority 
exceeding the maximum number of senior salaries which relates to it, 
as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an addition to the maximum 
will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. However, this will 
not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it would 
result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the 
Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required 
in such circumstances. 

Determination 21: When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family 
absence the Panel must be informed within 14 days of the date of the 
decision, of the details including the particular post and the duration 
of the substitution. 

 

Determination 22: The Council’s schedule of remuneration must be 
amended to reflect the implication of the family absence. 

Page 151

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/2901/pdfs/wsi_20132901_mi.pdf


 

27  

7. Payments to Members of National Park Authorities 
(NPAs) 

 
Structure of National Park Authorities 

 
7.1 The three national parks in Wales - Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast 

and Snowdonia were formed to protect spectacular landscapes and provide 
recreation opportunities for the public. The Environment Act 1995 led to the 
creation of a National Park Authority (NPA) for each park.  

 

7.2 National park authorities comprise members who are either elected members 
nominated by the principal councils within the national park area or are 
members appointed by the Welsh Government through the Public 
Appointments process. Welsh Government appointed and council nominated 
members are treated equally in relation to remuneration. 

 

7.3 The structure of the members’ committee at each of the three national 
parks is set out in Table 5. 

 

Table 5: Membership of Welsh National Park Authorities 

 
National Park 
Authority 

Total 
Member 
ship 

Principal Council Members Welsh 
Government 
appointed 
Members 

Brecon 18 12: 6 
Beacons  Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – 1  

  Carmarthenshire County Council – 1  
  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – 1  
  Monmouthshire County Council – 1  
  Powys County Council – 6  
  Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council - 1  
  Torfaen County Borough Council – 1  

Pembrokeshire 
Coast 

18 12: 
Pembrokeshire County Council – 12 

6 

Snowdonia 18 12: 
Conwy County Borough Council – 3 
Gwynedd Council – 9 

6 

 

 

7.4 Standards Committees of NPAs also have independent co-opted 
members whose remuneration is included in the Framework as set out 
in Section 9. 

 

7.5 The Panel has based its determinations on the following key points: 

 
 NPAs manage their work via formal authority meetings, committees and 

task and finish groups. Each has a Development, Management and or 
Planning Committee, and other committees include Performance and 

Page 152



 

28  

Resources and Audit and Scrutiny. Ordinary NPA members are 
members of at least one committee as well as being involved in site 
visits and inspection panels. 

 
 There is an expectation that members will participate in training and 

development. 

 
 The chair of an NPA has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, 

a representational role similar in some respects to that of a civic head and 
a high level of accountability. The chair is not only the leader of the 
authority but is also the public face of the particular national park and is 
the link with the Minister and MS’ with whom they have regular meetings. 
The role requires a high level of commitment and time. 

 

Basic and senior salaries 
 
7.6  The time commitment on which the remuneration of members is based is 44 

days. The salary for members of NPAs will increase to £4,738. 
 
7.7 The Panel has determined that the remuneration of a NPA chair should be 

aligned to that part of a Band 3 senior salary received by a committee chair of 
a principal council. This salary will increase to £13,531. 

 
7.8  NPAs can determine the number of senior posts it requires as appropriate to 

its governance arrangements.  
 
7.9  The Panel has made the following determinations: 
 

Determination 23: The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be 
£4,738 with effect from 1 April 2022. 
 

 

Determination 24: The senior salary of the chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 
with effect from 1 April 2022. 
 

 

Determination 25: A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a 
deputy chair where appointed.  

 

 

Determination 26: Committee chairs or other senior posts can be paid. 
This shall be paid at £8,478. 

 

Determination 27: Members must not receive more than one NPA 
senior salary. 

 

 

Page 153



 

29  

Determination 28: A NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA 
basic salary. 
 

 

Determination 29: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 
or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which 
they have been appointed. Where this situation applies, it is the 
responsibility of the individual member to comply. 

 

 
Note: Family absence does not apply to Welsh Government appointed members and 

local authority nominees are covered by their principal council so NPAs are not 
required to make any arrangements in this respect.

Page 154



 

30  

8. Payments to Members of Welsh Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (FRAs) 

 
Structure of Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
 8.1  The three fire and rescue services (FRAs) in Wales: Mid and West Wales, North 

  Wales and South Wales were formed as part of Local Government re-
organisation in 1996. 

 
 8.2 FRAs comprise elected members who are nominated by the Principal 

Councils within each fire and rescue service area. 

 
 8.3 The structure of the each of the three FRAs is set out in Table 6. 
 
 
Table 6: Membership of Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
Name of Fire and Rescue 
Authority 

Number of Local Authority Members 

Mid and West Wales 25: 
Carmarthenshire County Council – 5 
Ceredigion County Council – 2 

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council – 4 
Pembrokeshire County Council – 3 
Powys County Council – 4 
Swansea City and County Council – 7 

North Wales 28: 
Conwy County Borough Council – 5 
Denbighshire County Council – 4 
Flintshire County Council – 6 
Gwynedd Council – 5 
Isle of Anglesey County Council – 3 
Wrexham County Borough Council – 5 

South Wales 24: 
Bridgend County Borough Council – 2 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – 1 
Caerphilly County Borough Council – 3 
Cardiff City Council – 5 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – 1 
Monmouthshire County Council – 2 
Newport City Council - 2 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council - 4 
Torfaen County Borough Council – 2 
Vale of Glamorgan Council -2 

 

 8.4 In addition, Standards Committees of FRAs have independent co-opted 
members whose remuneration is included in the Framework as set out in 
Section 9. 

Page 155



 

31  

8.5 In considering remuneration of members of FRAs, the Panel has based its 
determinations on the following key points: 

 

• The Chair has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, and a high 
level of accountability especially when controversial issues relating to the 
emergency service arise. In addition to fire authority meetings, all FRAs 
have committees that include in different combinations: audit, performance 
management, scrutiny, human resources, resource management as well 
as task and finish groups and disciplinary Panels. As well as attending 
formal meetings of the authority and committees, members are 
encouraged to take on a community engagement role, including visiting 
fire stations.

 
• There is a strong training ethos in FRAs. Members are expected to 

participate in training and development. Induction programmes are 
available as well as specialist training for appeals and disciplinary 
hearings.

 
• Training sessions often follow on from authority meetings to make the 

training accessible.
 

Basic and Senior Salaries 
 
8.6  The time commitment on which remuneration is based is 22 days. The salary 

for members of FRAs will increase to £2,369. 
 
8.7 The Panel determined that the remuneration of a FRA chair should be aligned 

to that part of a Band 3 senior salary received by a committee chair of a 
principal council. This salary will increase to £11,162. 

 

8.8 The Panel determined that the remuneration of a FRA deputy chair will be 
aligned with the Band 5 senior salary for principal councils. This will increase 
to £6,109 and must be paid if the authority appoints a deputy chair. 
 

8.9 FRAs determine the number of senior posts it requires as appropriate to its 
governance arrangements. Committee chairs and any other senior post if 
remunerated will be aligned with Band 5. This will increase to £6,109. 
 

Local Pension Boards 
 
8.10 The Panel has considered requests from FRAs to allow them to pay salaries to 

chairs of local pension boards established under the Firefighters’ Pension 
Scheme (Wales) Regulations 2015. Those Regulations already give FRAs the 
power to decide how local pension boards are to work and to pay the chair and 
members if they wish. Therefore, it is not appropriate for the Panel to make a 
determination empowering FRAs to pay salaries to local pension board chairs. 
The senior salaries in Determination 31 or 32 cannot be used exclusively for 
this role. 

 

8.11 The Panel has made the following determinations: 
 

Page 156



 

32  

Determination 30: The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be 
£2,369 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

 

 

Determination 31: The senior salary of the chair of an FRA shall be 
£11,162 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

 

 

Determination 32: A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the 
deputy chair where appointed. 

 

 

Determination 33: Chairs of committees or other senior posts can be paid. 
This shall be paid at £6,109.  

 

 

Determination 34: Members must not receive more than one FRA 
senior salary. 

 

 

Determination 35: A FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA 
basic salary and must reflect significant and sustained responsibility. 

 

 

Determination 36: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 
1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to 
which they have been nominated. Where this situation applies, it is 
the responsibility of the individual member to comply 

 

 
  

Page 157



 

33  

9. Payments to Co-opted Members of Principal Councils, 
National Park Authorities and Fire & Rescue Authorities

6
 

 
9.1 The Panel has determined that a daily or half daily fee is appropriate 

remuneration for the important role undertaken by co-opted members of 
authorities with voting rights.  

 
9.2  The number of days in any one year for which co-opted members may be paid 

varies and reflects the specific work discharged by the relevant committee. This 
context for payment therefore differs from that for elected members of principal 
councils which provides a monthly payment. Many elected members of 
principal councils report that they rely on this as part of a core income without 
which they would be unable to continue in the role.  

 
9.3 In dialogue with the Panel, co-opted members acknowledge the importance of 

fees they receive but do not identify these payments as an income for living 
upon which they depend. Panel determinations in relation to co-opted member 
fees occur in this context and any uplifts are therefore not comparable with the 
changes to salaries of elected members. 

 

9.4 Recognising the important role that co-opted members discharge, payment 
must be made for travel and preparation time; committee and other types of 
meetings as well as other activities, including training, as set out in 
Determinations 38 to 41. 

 

9.5 The determinations are set out below. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must 
tell co-opted members the name of the appropriate officer who will provide them 
with the information required for their claims; and make the appropriate officer 
aware of the range of payments that should be made. 

 

Determination 37: Principal Councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay the 
following fees to co-opted members who have voting rights (Table 7). 

 

Table 7: Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights) 

 

Chairs of standards, and audit committees £268 
(4 hours and over) 
£134 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary Members of Standards Committees who also 
chair Standards Committees for Community and Town 
Councils 

£238 daily fee 
(4 hours and over) 
£119 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary Members of Standards Committees; Education 
Scrutiny Committee; Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee and Audit Committee 

£210 
(4 hours and over) 
£105 (up to 4 hours) 

Community and Town Councillors sitting on Principal 
Council Standards Committees 

£210 
(4 hours and over) 
£105 (up to 4 hours) 

Page 158



 

34  

 

Determination 38: Reasonable time for pre-meeting preparation is to be 
included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be 
determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting. 

 

Determination 39: Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting is 
to be included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up 
to the maximum of the daily rate). 

 

 
 

 

 Support for co-opted members 
 

 

6 
This section does not apply to co-opted members to community and town councils. 

Determination 40: The appropriate officer within the authority must 
determine in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and 
the fee will be paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting 
finishes before four hours has elapsed. 

Determination 41: Fees must be paid for meetings and other activities 
including other committees and working groups (including task and finish 
groups), pre-meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences 
or any other formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to 
attend. 

Determination 42: Each authority, through its Democratic Services 
Committee or other appropriate committee, must ensure that all voting co-
opted members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them 
to fulfil their duties effectively. Such support should be without cost to the 
individual member. 

 

 

Co-opted members must receive the same support and communications as 
elected members in order to enable them to fully discharge their role; as set 
out in determinations 6 and 7 

Page 159



 

35  

10. Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal 
Assistance (CPA) 

 
10.1 This section applies to all members of principal councils, NPAs, FRAs   

and to co-opted members of these authorities. The same provision applies to 
community and town councils. 

 
10.2 The purpose of this section is to enable people who have personal support 

needs and or caring responsibilities to carry out their duties effectively as a 
member of an authority. The Panel believes that additional costs of care 
required to carry out approved duties should not deter any individual from 
becoming and remaining a member of an authority or limit their ability to 
carry out the role. The Panel has adopted specific principles related to 
support for the costs of care which were the subject of a Supplementary 
Report published in February 2020. These principles are set out in Table 8. 

 
10.3  The Panel reviewed the arrangements for this financial support and has 

made the following changes: 
 

a)   As payments are taxable under the current HMRC rules, full 
reimbursement is not possible so for clarity this is retitled to “contribution 
towards the costs of care and personal assistance”. It will still require 
receipts to accompany claims. 

 
b)   Claims can be made in respect of a dependant under 16 years of age, or 

a minor or adult who normally lives with the member as part of their family 
and who cannot be left unsupervised. 

 
c)   Reimbursement may be claimed for member’s own care or support needs 

where the support and/or cost of any additional needs are not available or 
are not met directly by the authority such as Access to Work, Personal 
Independence Payments, insurance. These could arise when the needs 
are recent and or temporary.  

 
10.4  Members, including co-opted members are entitled to claim towards the 

costs of care and personal assistance, for activities that the individual 
council has designated official business or an approved duty which might 
include appropriate and reasonable preparation and travelling time. It is a 
matter for individual authorities to determine specific arrangements to 
implement this. Each authority must ensure that any payments made are 
appropriately linked to official business or approved duty. 

 
10.5 The Panel reviewed the maximum monthly payment in recognition that this 

has not changed for several years. Information indicates that monthly costs 
and claims vary considerably. These can depend on the number of 
dependants, their ages and other factors. Therefore the monthly cap will be 
replaced with the following arrangements: 

 

 Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be 
paid as evidenced. 

Page 160

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-05/supplementary-report-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-05/supplementary-report-2020.pdf


 

36  

 Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate 
equivalent to hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation 
at the time the costs are incurred. 
 

For clarification, care costs cannot be paid to someone who is a part of a 
member’s household. 
 

10.6  The Panel continues to recognise the issues relating to the publication of this 
legitimate expense and has retained the requirements for publication set out 
in Annex 4. To support current members and to encourage diversity the Panel 
urges authorities to promote and encourage greater take-up of the 
contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance. 

 

Table 8 
 
The Panel’s principles relating to Care and Personal Assistance (CPA) 

 

 The Minimum Authorities should do How this could be done 

Be clear who 
it is for 

Members with primary caring 
responsibilities for a child or adult and/or 
personal support needs where these are 
not covered by statutory or other 
provision.  
 
Claims for personal support might also 
include a short term or recent condition 
not covered by the Equality Act 2010, 
access to work, Personal Payments, 
insurance or other provision. 
 

A confidential review of 
the needs of individual 
members annually and 
when circumstances 
change  

Raise 
Awareness 

Ensure potential candidates, candidates 
and current members are aware that 
financial support is available to them 
should their current or future 
circumstances require.  

 
 

Ensure clear and easily 
accessible information is 
available on website and 
in election and 
appointment materials, at 
Shadowing and at 
induction and in the 
members’ “handbook”. 
Remind serving members 
via email and or training. 
Signpost to Panel’s 
Payments to Councillors 
leaflets. 

Promote a 
Positive 
Culture 

Ensure all members understand the 
reason for CPA and support and 
encourage others to claim where needed. 

 

Encouragement within 
and across all parties of 
relevant authorities to 
support members to 
claim.  
 

Page 161

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/community-and-town-councils-payments-to-councillors_0.pdf


 

37  

 The Minimum Authorities should do How this could be done 

Agree not to advertise or 
make public individual 
decisions not to claim. 

Set out the 
approved 
duties for 
which CPA 
can be 
claimed 

 

Meetings – formal (those called by the 
authority) and those necessary to 
members’ work (to deal with constituency 
but not party issues) and personal 
development (training, and appraisals.) 
 
Travel – in connection with meetings.  
 
Preparation – reading and administration 
are part of a member’s role. Some 
meetings and committees require large 
amounts of reading, analysis or drafting 
before or after a meeting. 
 
Senior salary holders with additional 
duties may have higher costs. 
 

Approved duties are 
usually a matter of fact. 
Interpretation of the 
Panel’s Regulations are 
set out in the Annual 
Report.  
 
“Any other duty approved 
by the authority, or any 
duty of class so 
approved, undertaken for 
the purpose of, or in 
connection with, the 
discharge of the functions 
of the authority or any of 
its committees.” 

Be as 
enabling as 
possible 
about the 
types of care 
that can be 
claimed 

Members should not be out of pocket 
subject to the limit set in the Annual 
Report. 
 
Models of care and needs vary.  
Members may use a combination of 
several care options. 
 
Patterns of care may alter over the civic 
and academic year.  
 
Not all care is based on hourly (or part 
hourly) rates. 
 
Where a whole session must be paid for, 
this must be reimbursed even where the 
care need is only for part of a session.  
 
Members may need to: 

 book and pay for sessions in 
advance 

 commit to a block contract: week, 
month or term 

 pay for sessions cancelled at short 
notice 

 
Where care need straddles two sessions 
both should be reimbursed. 

 

Page 162



 

38  

 The Minimum Authorities should do How this could be done 

Have a simple 
and effective 
claim process 

Members should know how to claim. 
 
The claim process should be clear, 
proportionate and auditable. 

Check members 
understand how to claim 
and that it is easy to do 
so. 
 
Flexibility to accept 
paperless invoices 
 
Online form 
 
Same or similar form to 
travel costs claim 
 

Comply with 
Panel’s 
Publication 
rules 

The Panel’s Framework states:  
 
“In respect of the publication of the 
reimbursement of the costs of care, the 
Panel has decided that relevant authorities 
should only publish the total amount 
reimbursed during the year. It is a matter 
for each authority to determine its 
response to any Freedom of Information 
requests it receives. However, it is not 
intended that details of individual claims 
should be disclosed.” 
 

 

 

 

Determination 43: All relevant authorities must provide a payment towards 
necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by 
informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance needs as follows: 
 

 Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be paid 

as evidenced. 

 Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate 

equivalent to the hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage 

Foundation at the time the costs are incurred. 

 
This must be for the additional costs incurred by members to enable them to 
carry out official business or approved duties. Each authority must ensure that 
any payments made are appropriately linked to official business or approved 
duty. Payment shall only be made on production of receipts from the care 
provider. 

 
 

Page 163

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


 

39  

11.  Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders 

 

11.1 The Family Absence Regulations (approved by the National Assembly in 
2014) are very specific relating to entitlement and only available for elected 
members of principal councils. Absence for reasons of ill-health is not 
included. 

11.2 Instances have been raised with the Panel of senior salary holders on long term 
sickness and the perceived unfairness in comparison with the arrangements 
for family absence. In consequence, councils are faced with the dilemma of: 

 operating without the individual member but still paying them the 
senior salary. 

 replacing the member who therefore loses the senior salary (but 
retains the basic salary). 

11.3 The Panel’s Framework provides specific arrangements for long term 
sickness as set out below: 

a) Long term sickness is defined as certified absences in excess of 4 
weeks. 

b) The maximum length of sickness absence within these proposals is 26 
weeks or until the individual’s term of office ends, whichever is sooner 
(but if reappointed any remaining balance of the 26 weeks will be 
included). 

c) Within these parameters a senior salary holder on long term sickness 
can, if the authority decides, continue to receive remuneration for the 
post held. 

d) It is a decision of the authority whether to make a substitute 
appointment, but the substitute will be eligible to be paid the senior 
salary appropriate to the post. 

e) If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum 
number of senior salaries payable for that authority, as set out in the 
Annual Report, an addition will be allowed for the duration of the 
substitution. (However, this would not apply to Merthyr Tydfil or the Isle 
of Anglesey councils if it would result in more than 50% of the 
membership receiving a senior salary. It would also not apply in respect 
of a council executive member if it would result in the cabinet exceeding 
10 posts - the statutory maximum). 

f) When an authority agrees a paid substitution, the Panel must be 
informed within 14 days of the decision of the details including the 
specific post and the estimated length of the substitution. The authorities’ 
Schedule of Remuneration must be amended accordingly. 

g) It does not apply to elected members of principal councils who are not 
senior post holders as they continue to receive basic salary for at least 

Page 164



 

40  

six months irrespective of attendance and any extension beyond this 
timescale is a matter for the authority. 

11.4 This arrangement applies to members of principal councils, NPAs and 
FRAs who are senior salary holders, including Welsh Government 
appointed members, but does not apply to co-opted members. 

Note: 

The Family Absence Regulations apply to elected members in cases of 
maternity, new-born, adoption and parental absences from official business. 
They do not apply to Welsh Government appointed members of NPAs. 

Page 165



 

41  

12. Reimbursement of Travel and Subsistence Costs 
when on Official Business 

 

12.1 This section applies to members of principal councils, NPAs, FRAs and to 
co-opted members of these authorities. (Similar provision for community 
and town councils is contained in Section 13 as there is a different 
approach to such members, principally that the provision is permissive.) 

 
12.2  Members may claim reimbursement for travel and subsistence (meals 

and accommodation) costs where these have arisen as a result of 
undertaking official business or approved duties.  

 
12.3 Expenses reimbursed to members of principal councils, by their 

principal council are exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs. 
Members of NPAs and FR As may be subject to other arrangements as 
determined by HMRC. 

 
12.4 The Panel is aware that in some instances members with disabilities 

have been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an 
adverse response following the publication of their travel costs. As an 
alternative, travel arrangements could be made directly by the 
authority in such circumstances. 

 
12.5 The Panel has determined there will be no change to mileage rates 

which members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse 
travel costs for their members undertaking official business within and or 
outside the authority’s boundaries at the current HM Revenue and 
Customs (HMRC) rates which are: 

 
Reimbursement of mileage costs 

 

45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles in a year by car 

5p per mile Per passenger carried on authority business 

24p per mile Motorcycles 

20p per mile Bicycles 

 

12.6 Where a member who is on official business or an approved duty is driven 
by a third party (not a member or officer of that authority), the member can 
claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided 
the authority is satisfied that the member has incurred these costs. 

 
Reimbursement of other travel costs 

 
12.7 All other claims for travel, including travel by taxi if this is the only, or most 

appropriate, method of transport, must only be reimbursed on production 

Page 166



 

42  

of receipts showing the actual cost and will be subject to any requirement 
or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should 
always be mindful of choosing the most cost-effective method of travel. 

 
Reimbursement of subsistence costs 

 

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

£200 per night London 

£95 per night Elsewhere 

£30 per night Staying with friends and or family 
 

12.8  These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended 
practice is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and 
paid for on behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an 
authority may set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when 
an individual member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs 
do not then apply. 

 

12.9 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for 
their members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of 
receipted claims except for occasions when members stay with friends 
and or family. 

 
12.10   There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel 

costs within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be 
repeated on consecutive days. Where it is reasonable and cost effective to 
reimburse overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily 
mileage costs, then it is permissible to do so. 

 

12.11 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) 
between different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers 
a 24-hour period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided 
such a claim is accompanied by receipts. 

 
Car Parking for Members 

 
Several councils have specific arrangements for their members in respect of car 
parking. The Panel considers that it is a matter for individual councils to determine 
arrangements including payments to and from members providing that it is a 
decision made formally by the council. 
 
  

Page 167



 

43  

13. Payments to Members of Community and Town Councils 

 
13.1   The Panel recognises a wide variation in geography, scope and scale across 

the 735 community and town councils in Wales, from small community 
councils with relatively minimal expenditure and few meetings to large town 
councils with significant assets and responsibilities. This and the fact that not 
all electoral areas have councils, has made establishing remuneration 
arrangements more difficult to achieve than for other relevant authorities. For 
this reason, the Panel decided to undertake a fundamental review ready for 
implementation effective from the elections on 5 May 2022. 

 

13.2   The Panel decided that in carrying out the review it was vital to engage 
comprehensively with community and town councils and representative 
organisations together with a commitment to consult on the proposals 
emanating from the review. The result of this consultation was a significant 
degree of support for the new proposals and therefore the Panel has decided 
to introduce the new Framework as set out in this section. 

 
13.3 In order to act and carry out duties as a member of a community or town 

council all persons are required to make a formal declaration of acceptance of 
office. Following this declaration, members of community or town councils are 
then holders of elected office and occupy a role that is part of the Welsh local 
government structure. It is important to note that a person who follows this 
path is in a different position to those in other forms of activity, for example 
such as volunteering or charitable work, typically governed by the Charity 
Commission for England and Wales.  
 

13.4 Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011, community and town 
councils are relevant authorities for the purpose of remuneration.  
 

13.5 Consequently, individuals who have accepted office as a member of a 

community or town council are entitled to receive payments as determined by 

the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. It is the duty of the proper 

officer of a council (usually the Council Clerk) to arrange for correct payments 

to be made to all individuals entitled to receive them. 

 

13.6 Members should receive monies to which they are properly entitled as a 

matter of course.  

 

13.7 An individual may decline to receive part, or all, of the payments if they so 

wish. This must be done in writing and is an individual matter. A community or 

town council member wishing to decline payments must themselves write to 

their proper officer to do so.  

 
13.8 The Panel considers that any member who has personal support needs or 

caring responsibilities should be enabled to fulfil their role. Therefore, the 

Panel continues to make the contribution towards costs of care and personal 

allowance mandatory for all members of community and town councils as set 

Page 168



 

44  

out in Determination 43. 

 
13.9 Each community and town council must ensure that it does not create a 

climate which prevents persons accessing any monies to which they are 

entitled that may support them to participate in local democracy. Payments 

should be made efficiently and promptly. 

 

13.10 Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary from a principal 
council cannot receive any payment from any community or town council, 
other than travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs 
of care and personal assistance. However, this does not preclude them from 
holding a senior role (Leader, Deputy Leader) without payment. 

 
13.11 Table 12 sets out the actions that community and town councils must take 

annually in respect of each determination that follows. 

 

Table 9: Community and Town Council Groupings 
 

The current groups are: 

 

Community and Town 
Council Group 

Income or Expenditure in 
2020-2021 of: 

A £200,000 and above 

B £30,000 - £199,999 

C Below £30,000 

 

13.12 These are based solely on finance. We acknowledge the view of many 

respondents that this was restrictive and limiting. Therefore 5 Groups will be 

established based on the size of the council’s electorate.  

 

Table 10 
 

Group number Size of Electorate 

Group 1 Electorate in excess of 14,000 

Group 2 10,000 to 13,999 

Group 3 5,000 to 9,999 

Group 4 1,000 to 4,999 

Group 5 Under 1,000 

 

13.13 In addition, there will be a second factor for determining which group the 

council will be placed. Where income or expenditure exceeds £200,000 a 

year, it will be moved upwards to the next group. 

 
Payments towards costs and expenses 

 
13.14 The Panel continues to mandate a payment of £150, except for councils in 

Page 169



 

45  

Group 5 where it will be optional, as a contribution to costs and expenses for 
members of community and town councils.  
 

13.15 Receipts are not required for these payments. 

 

Determination 44: Community and town councils must make available a 
payment to each of their members of £150 per year as a contribution to 
costs and expenses, with the exception of those councils in Group 5 where 
the payment is optional.  

 
 Taxation 
 

13.16 The issue of the taxation of the £150 payment has been raised on many 
occasions and included in the responses to the recent consultation. As has been 
made clear the Panel has no remit in respect of matters of taxation but has been 
kept informed of the discussions between the Welsh Government and HMRC to 
establish a possible exemption applying to all community and town councils. If 
there is a positive outcome, it will not be within the timescale of this draft Report. 
However, if it is achieved before the publication of the final Report the Panel will 
take the opportunity to restructure the arrangements for this payment and if 
appropriate adjust by determination the amount to be paid. 

 
Senior roles 

 
13.17 The Panel recognises that specific member roles especially within the larger 

community and town councils, for example a committee chair, will involve 
greater responsibility. It is also likely that larger councils will have a greater 
number of committees, reflecting its level of activity. The Panel has 
therefore set out the determinations for senior role in table 11 below.  

 
13.18 In all cases, a councillor can only have one payment of £500 regardless of 

how many senior roles they hold within their Council. 
 
 

13.19 Where a person is a member of more than one community or town council, 
they are eligible to receive the £150 and, if appropriate, £500 from each 
council of which they are a member. 

 
Contribution towards costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

 
13.20 The purpose of this is to enable people who have personal support needs and or 

caring responsibilities to carry out their duties effectively as a member of an 
authority. The Panel’s determinations in Section 10 apply to Community and 
Town Councils. 

 
Reimbursement of travel costs and subsistence costs 

 
13.21 The Panel recognises there can be significant travel and subsistence costs 

associated with the work of community and town council members, especially 

Page 170



 

46  

where the council area is geographically large and/or when engaging in 
duties outside this area. Each council has an option to pay travel and 
subsistence costs including travel by taxi if this is the only, or most 
appropriate, method of transport. Where a council does opt to pay travel and 
subsistence costs, the following determinations apply. 
 

Determination 45: Community and town councils can make payments to 
each of their members in respect of travel costs for attending approved 

duties. 
7 

Such payments must be the actual costs of travel by public 
transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as below: 
 

 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

 5p per mile per passenger carried on authority business. 

 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

 20p per mile for bicycles. 

 
Determination 46: If a community or town Council resolves that a 
particular duty requires an overnight stay, it can authorise reimbursement 
of subsistence expenses to its members at the maximum rates set out 
below on the basis of receipted claims: 
 

 £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including breakfast 
where not provided. 

 £200 – London overnight. 

 £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

 £30 – staying with friends and/or family overnight. 
 

 
 

Compensation for financial loss 
 

13.22 The Panel has retained the facility which councils may pay as 
compensation to their members where they incur financial loss when 
attending approved duties. Members must be able to demonstrate that the 
financial loss has been incurred. Each council has an option to pay 
compensation for financial loss and where it does the following 
determination applies. 

 

 

Determination 47: Community and town councils can pay financial loss 
compensation to each of their members, where such loss has occurred, 
for attending approved duties as follows: 
 

 Up to £55.50 for each period not exceeding 4 hours 
 

 Up to £110.00 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 
24 hours 

 

 
7 Where a member who is on official business or an approved duty is driven by a third party (not a member or officer of that 

Page 171



 

47  

authority), the member can claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided the authority is satisfied 
that the member has incurred these costs. 
 

Attendance Allowance 
 

13.23 One of the points raised in the responses to the consultation should be the 
inclusion of an attendance allowance. The Panel acknowledges that in some 
cases this might be a valuable addition to support the work of a council. It is 
therefore included as an option for all councils. 

 

Determination 48: Each council can decide to introduce an attendance 
allowance for members. The amount of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss compensation will not be entitled to 
claim attendance allowance for the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce an attendance allowance must set out the 
details of the scheme and publish them on their website.  

 
Civic Head and Deputy Civic Head  
 

13.24 Civic heads are senior posts within community and town councils. In addition 
to chairing major meetings the civic head is the ambassador representing 
the council to a variety of institutions and organisations. The Panel requires 
that members should not have to pay themselves for any cost associated 
with carrying out these duties. This requirement also applies in respect of 
deputy civic heads. 

  
13.25 The Panel recognises the wide range of provision made for civic heads in 

respect of transport, secretarial support, charitable giving and official clothing 
– we consider these to be the council’s civic budgets.  

 
13.26 Funding decisions in relation to these civic budgets are not matters of 

personal remuneration for the post holder but relate to the funding required 
for the tasks and duties to be carried out. Councils remain free to set civic 
budgets at whatever levels they deem appropriate for the levels of civic 
leadership they have in place. 

 
13.27 For the avoidance of doubt, costs in respect of, for example, transport 

(physical transport or mileage costs), secretarial support, charitable giving 
(purchasing tickets, making donations or buying raffle tickets) and official 
clothing are not matters of personal remuneration for the individual holding 
the senior post. These should be covered by the civic budget. 

  
13.28 Recognising that some mayors and chairs of community and town councils 

and their deputies are very active during their year of office, the Panel has 
determined that community and town councils can make a payment to the 
individuals holding these roles.  

13.29 This is a personal payment to the individual and is entirely separate from 
covering the costs set out above. 

13.30 The Panel has determined that the maximum payment to a chair or mayor of 

Page 172



 

48  

a community or town council is £1,500. The maximum payment to a deputy 
mayor or chair is £500. 

 
Determination 50: Community and town councils can provide a payment to 
the deputy mayor or deputy chair of the council up to a maximum of £500. 
This is in addition to the £150 payment for costs and expenses and the 
£500 senior salary if these are claimed. 

 

 

Determination 51: The application of the Remuneration Framework by 

relevant Group.  

 
 
Table 11  
 

Type of payment  Requirement  

Group 1  (Electorate over 14,000) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all Members 

Senior Role Payment Mandatory for 1 member; optional for up to 7 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Costs of Care Mandatory 

Group 2                                      (Electorate 10,000 to 13,999) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Payment Mandatory for 1 member; optional up to 5 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

Group 3  (Electorate 5,000 to 9,999) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Payment Optional up to 3 members 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

Group 4  (Electorate 1,000 to 4,999) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Payment Optional up to 3 members 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Determination 49: Community and town councils can provide a payment to 
the mayor or chair of the council up to a maximum of £1,500. This is in 
addition to the £150 payment for costs and expenses and the £500 senior 
salary if these are claimed. 

 

Page 173



 

49  

Type of payment  Requirement  

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

Group 5  (Electorate less than 1,000) 

Basic Payment Optional 

Senior Role Payment Optional 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subs Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

 
 
Making Payments to Members 

 
13.31 Table 12 sets out each of the above determinations and if a decision is 

required by the council in respect of each one.  
 

13.32 In respect of the mandated payments where no decision is required by a 
council, members should receive monies to which they are properly entitled 
as a matter of course. 

 
13.33 Where a decision is required by the council, this should be done at the first 

meeting following receipt of the Annual Report.  
 

13.34 A council can adopt any, or all, of the non-mandated determinations but if it 
does make such a decision, it must apply to all its members. 

 
13.35 When payments take effect from is set out in paragraphs 13.37 to 13.39 

below. 
 

13.36 On receipt of the draft Annual Report the previous autumn, councils should 
consider the determinations for the next financial year and use this to inform 
budget plans. 

 
Table 12 

 

Determination Number Is a decision required by council? 

44 Community and town councils must 
make available a payment to each 
of their members of £150 per year 
as a contribution to costs and 
expenses, with the exception of 
those councils in Group 5 where 
the payment is optional. 

 
 

No - the payment of £150 is mandated 
for every member unless they advise the 
appropriate officer that they do not want 
to take it in writing.  
 
This does not apply to councils in Group 
5. The council must decide whether to 
adopt the payment and if so, it must be 
available for all members. 

45 Community and town councils can 
make payments to each of their 
members in respect of travel costs 
for attending approved duties. 

Yes – the payment of travel costs is 
optional. 

Page 174



 

50  

Determination Number Is a decision required by council? 

46 If a community or town council 
resolves that a particular duty 
requires an overnight stay, it can 
authorise reimbursement of 
subsistence expenses to its 
members. 

Yes – the payment of overnight 
subsistence expenses is optional. 

47 Community and town councils can 
pay financial loss compensation to 
each of their members, where 
such loss has actually occurred, 
for attending approved duties. 

Yes – the payment of financial loss 
compensation is mandatory if claimed 

48 Determination 47: Each council can 
decide to introduce an attendance 
allowance for members. The 
amount of each payment must not 
exceed £30. 

  
A member in receipt of financial 
loss will not be entitled to claim 
attendance allowance for the 
same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a 
system of attendance allowances 
must set out the details of the 
scheme and publish on their 
website.  

 Yes – the payment of attendance 
allowance is optional. 

49 Community and town councils can 
provide a payment to the mayor or 
chair of the council up to a 
maximum of £1,500. 

Yes – the payment to a civic head is 
optional. 

50 Community and town councils can 
provide a payment to the deputy 
mayor or deputy chair of the 
council up to a maximum amount 
of £500. 

Yes – the payment to a deputy civic head 
is optional. 

51 The application of the 
Remuneration Framework by 
relevant Group 

 

52 Members in receipt of a Band 1 or 
Band 2 senior salary from a 
principal council (that is leader, 
deputy leader or executive 
member) cannot receive any 
payment from any community or 
town council, other than travel and 
subsistence expenses and 
contribution towards costs of care 
and personal assistance. 

No - Members in receipt of a Band 1 or 
Band 2 senior salary from a principal 
council (that is leader, deputy leader or 
executive member) can only receive 
travel and subsistence expenses and 
contribution towards costs of care and 
personal assistance; if they are eligible to 
claim, and wish to do so. 

Page 175



 

51  

 
 
 
 

13.37 All members are eligible to be paid the £150 as set out in Determination 44 and 
Table 11 from the start of the financial year; unless they are elected later in the 
financial year, in which case they are eligible for a proportionate payment from 
that date.  

 
13.38 Other amounts payable to members in recognition of specific responsibilities or 

as a civic head or deputy civic head as set out in Determinations 49 and 50 are 
payable from the date when the member takes up the role during the financial 
year. 

 
13.39 It is a matter for each council to make, and record, a policy decision in respect of: 

 

 when the payment is actually made to the member; 

 how many payments the total amount payable is broken down into; 

 and whether and how to recover any payments made to a member who 
leaves or changes their role during the financial year.  

 
13.40 Payments in respect of Determinations 45, 46, 47 and 48 are payable when the 

activity they relate to has taken place.  
 

13.41 As stated in paragraph 13.7 any individual member may make a personal 
decision to elect to forgo part or all of the entitlement to any of these payments 
by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the council. 

 

Determination 52: Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 
from a principal council (that is Leader, Deputy Leader or Executive 
Member) cannot receive any payment from any community or town 
Council, other than travel and subsistence expenses and contribution 
towards costs of care and personal assistance. 

 
Publicity requirements 

 
13.42 There is a requirement on community and town councils to publish details of 

all payments made to individual members in an annual Statement of 
Payments for each financial year. This information must be published on 
council noticeboards and or websites (with easy access) and provided to the 
Panel by email or by post no later than 30 September following the end of 
the previous financial year. The Panel draws attention to the requirements 
stipulated at Annex 4. The Panel is concerned that a significant number of 
councils are still in breach of this requirement. 

Page 176



 

52 
 

14. Compliance with Panel Requirements 
 
The Panel’s remit under the Measure 

 
14.1 Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to require a relevant 

authority8 to comply with the requirements imposed on it by an Annual Report 
of the Panel and further enables the Panel to monitor the compliance of 
relevant authorities with the Panel’s determinations. 

 
14.2 A relevant authority must implement the Panel’s determinations in this report 

from the date of its annual meeting or a date specified within the Annual 
Report. 

 

Monitoring compliance 
 
14.3 The Panel will monitor compliance with the determinations in this Annual 

Report by relevant authorities against the following requirements: 
 

(i) A relevant authority must maintain an annual Schedule of Member 
Remuneration (IRPW Regulations 4 and 5). Guidance at Annex 3 sets 
out the content which must be included in the Schedule. 

(ii) A relevant authority must make arrangements for the Schedule’s 
publication within the authority area (IRPW Regulation 46) and send 
the Schedule to the Panel as soon as practicable and not later than 31 
July in the year to which it applies. Annex 4 provides further details of 
the publicity requirements. 

(iii) Any amendments to the Schedule made during the year must be 
notified to the Panel as soon as possible after the amendment is 
made. 

 

Note: The above requirements do not apply to Community and Town 
Councils at this time.  
 
The following applies to all authorities including Community and Town 
Councils. 

 
(iv) A relevant authority must make arrangements for publication within the 

authority area of the total sum paid by it in the previous financial year 
to each member and co-opted member in respect of salary (basic, 
senior and civic), allowances, fees and reimbursements in a 
Statement of Payments (in accordance with Annex 4 that sets out the 
content that must be included in the Publicity Requirements). This 
must be published as soon as practicable and no later than 30 
September following the end of the previous financial year- and must 
also be submitted to the Panel no later than that date. 

 

8 
Interpretation of “Relevant Authority” provided in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

(IRPW) Regulations, Part 1, ‘Interpretation’. 

Page 177



 

53  

15. Salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal Councils 
and Fire and Rescue Authorities and Chief Officers of 
Principal Councils 

 
15.1 Section 63 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amended 

the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting section 143A. This 
enables the Panel to take a view on anything in the Pay Policy Statements of 
these authorities that relates to the salary of the head of paid service 
(normally the Head of Paid Service or chief fire officer). Section 39 of the 
Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 further amended the Measure extending 
this function to include Chief Officers of Principal Councils. However, this 
function ceased on 31 March 2020. 

 
15.2 The Welsh Government issued amended guidance to the Panel which can be 

found at Amended Guidance to the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales under Section 143A of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 
and Section 39 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 2015. This sets the 
basis on which the Panel will carry out the function contained in the legislation. 

 

15.3 The functions of the Panel and the requirements on authorities established 
by the legislation and the subsequent guidance are: 

 

a) If a principal council intends to change the salary of the head of paid 
service, or if a fire and rescue authority intends to change the salary of 
its head of paid service it must consult the Panel unless the change is in 
keeping with changes applied to other officers of that authority (whether 
the change is an increase or decrease). ‘Salary’ includes payments 
under a contract for services as well as payments of salary under an 
employment contract. 

 
b) The authority must have regard to the recommendation(s) of the Panel 

when reaching its decision. 
 

c) The Panel may seek any information that it considers necessary to reach 
a conclusion and produce a recommendation. The authority is obliged to 
provide the information sought by the Panel. 

 

d) The Panel may publish any recommendation that it makes as long 
as these comply with any guidance issued by the Welsh 
Government. It is the intention that, in the interests of 
transparency, it will normally do so. 

 

e) The Panel's recommendation(s) could indicate: 

 approval of the authority's proposal 

 express concerns about the proposal 

 recommend variations to the proposal 
 

 
15.4 The Panel also has a general power to review the Pay Policy Statements of 

Page 178

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/local-government-regulations-guidance-for-the-independent-remuneration-panel.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/local-government-regulations-guidance-for-the-independent-remuneration-panel.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/local-government-regulations-guidance-for-the-independent-remuneration-panel.pdf


 

54  

authorities so far as they relate to the heads of paid service.  

 
15.5 It is important to note the Panel will not decide the amount an individual head 

of paid service will receive. 
 

15.6 The Panel is very aware that this function is significantly different from its 
statutory responsibilities in relation to members' remuneration. However, it 
undertakes this role with clarity and openness, taking into account all the 
relevant factors in respect of specific individual cases. Authorities are 
encouraged to consult the Panel at an early stage in their decision-making 
on such matters. This will enable the Panel to respond in a timely manner. 

 
Pay Policy Statements 

 
Paragraph 3.7 of the guidance to the Panel from the Welsh Government states that 
“The legislation does not restrict the Panel to a reactive role”. It allows the Panel to 
use its power to make recommendations relating to provisions within local 
authorities’ Pay Policy Statements.  
 
Changes to the salaries of chief executives of principal councils – Panel 
decisions 2021 
 
Letters issued to the Local Authorities notifying them of the Panel decision can be 
found on the Panel website.   
 

Name of Local Authority Proposal Panel 
decision 

Wrexham County Borough 
Council 

Chief Executive pay proposal Approved 

Ceredigion County Council  Review of Chief Executive 
salary 

Approved 

 
 
 
 

Page 179

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales


 

55  

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations for 2022/23 
 

Principal Councils 

1. The Basic Salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be 

£16,800. 

2. Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set 

out in Table 4. 

3. Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in 

accordance with Table 4. 

4. Where paid, a deputy civic head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in 

accordance with Table 4. 

5. Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid 

£25,593 in accordance with Table 4.  

6. The post of deputy presiding member will not be remunerated. 

7. a) An elected member must not be remunerated for more than one senior 

post within their authority.  

 

b) An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary. 

 

c) All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary. 

 

d) If a council chooses to have more than one remunerated deputy leader, 

the difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other 

executive members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders 

and added to the senior salary for other executive members in order to 

calculate the senior salary payable to each deputy leader. 

8. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary 

from any NPA or FRA to which they have been appointed. They remain eligible 

to claim travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs of care 

and personal assistance from the NPA or FRA. 

9. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 salary cannot receive any payment 

from a community or town council of which they are a member. They remain 

eligible to claim travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs 

of care and personal assistance from the community or town council. Where this 

situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to comply. 

10. Each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee, must ensure that all 

its elected members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them 

to fulfil their duties effectively. All elected members should be provided with 

adequate telephone, email and internet facilities giving electronic access to 

appropriate information. 

Page 180



 

56  

11. Such support should be without cost to the individual member. Deductions 

must not be made from members’ salaries by the respective authority as a 

contribution towards the cost of support which the authority has decided 

necessary for the effectiveness and or efficiency of members. 

Specific or Additional Senior Salaries 

12. Principal councils can apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not 

fall within the current Remuneration Framework. 

Assistants to the Executive 

13. The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if 

any, for assistants to the executive. 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 

14. The salary level for a chair of a JOSC shall be £8,793. 

15. The salary level for a vice chair of a JOSC shall be £4,396. 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

16. The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) shall 

apply to all eligible elected members of principal councils. 

Family Absence 

17. An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary when taking family 
absence under the original regulations or any amendment to the regulations 
irrespective of the attendance record immediately preceding the 
commencement of the family absence. 

18. When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, they will continue to 
receive the salary for the duration of the absence. 

19. It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not to make a substitute 
appointment. The elected member substituting for a senior salary holder taking 
family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior salary, if the authority so 
decides. 

20. If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number 
of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an 
addition to the maximum will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. 
However, this will not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it 
would result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the 
Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such 
circumstances. 

21. When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family absence the Panel must 
be informed within 14 days of the date of the decision, of the details including 
the particular post and the duration of the substitution. 

Page 181



 

57  

22. The Council’s schedule of remuneration must be amended to reflect the 
implication of the family absence. 

National Park Authorities 

23. The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be £4,738 with effect from 1 
April 2022. 

24. The senior salary of the chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 with effect from 1 April 
2022. 

25. A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a deputy chair where 
appointed. 

26. Committee chairs or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at 
£8,478. 

27. Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary. 

28. A NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary. 

29. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 

cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed. 

Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member 

to comply. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

30. The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be £2,369 with effect from 1 
April 2022. 

31. The senior salary of the chair of a FRA shall be £11,162 with effect from 1 April 
2022. 

32. A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the deputy chair where 

appointed. 

33. Chairs of committees or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at 

£6,109. 

34. Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary. 

35. A FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary and must reflect 

significant and sustained responsibility. 

36. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 

cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated. 

Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to 

comply. 

Co-opted Members 

37. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay the fees to co-opted members 

(who have voting rights) as set out in Table 7. 

Page 182



 

58  

38. Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is to be included in claims made by 

co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the appropriate 

officer in advance of the meeting. 

39. Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting is to be included in the 

claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the 

daily rate). 

40. The appropriate officer within the authority must determine in advance whether 

a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of 

this determination even if the meeting finishes before four hours has elapsed. 

41. Fees must be paid for meetings and other activities including other committees 

and working groups (including task and finish groups), pre-meetings with 

officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to 

which co-opted members are requested to attend. 

42. Each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee or other appropriate 

committee, must ensure that all voting co-opted members are given as much 

support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. Such 

support should be without cost to the individual member. 

Contribution towards costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

43. All relevant authorities must provide a payment towards necessary costs for the 
care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) and 
for personal assistance needs as follows: 

 Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be paid 

as evidenced. 

 Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate 

equivalent to hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation at 

the time the costs are incurred. 

This must be for the additional costs incurred by members to enable them to 

carry out official business or approved duties. Each authority must ensure 

that any payments made are appropriately linked to official business or 

approved duty. Payment shall only be made on production of receipts from 

the care provider. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community and Town Councils 

44. Community and town councils must make available a payment to each of their 
members of £150 per year as a contribution to costs and expenses, with the 
exception of those councils in Group 5 where the payment is optional. 
 

Page 183

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


 

59  

45. Community and town councils can make payments to each of their members in 

respect of travel costs for attending approved duties. 9 Such payments must be 
the actual costs of travel by public transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as 
below: 

 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

 5p per mile per passenger carried on authority business. 

 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

 20p per mile for bicycles. 

46. If a community or town council resolves that a particular duty requires an 
overnight stay, it can authorise reimbursement of subsistence expenses to its 
members at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of receipted claims: 

 
 £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including breakfast where not 

provided. 

 £200 – London overnight. 

 £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

 £30 – staying with friends and or family overnight. 

47. Community and town councils can pay financial loss compensation to each of 

their members, where such loss has occurred, for attending approved duties as 

follows: 

 Up to £55.50 for each period not exceeding 4 hours. 

 Up to £110.00 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 

24 hours. 

48. Each council can decide to introduce an attendance allowance for members. The 
amount of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss will not be entitled to claim attendance 
allowance for the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a system of attendance allowances must set 

out the details of the scheme and publish on their website.  

49. Community and town councils can provide a payment to the mayor or chair of 

the council up to a maximum of £1,500. This is in addition to the £150 payment 

for costs and expenses and the £500 senior salary if these are claimed. 

50. Community and town councils can provide a payment to the deputy mayor or 

deputy chair of the council up to a maximum of £500. This is in addition to the 

£150 payment for costs and expenses and the £500 senior salary if these are 

claimed. 

 
51. The application of the Remuneration Framework by relevant Group. 

Page 184



 

60  

52. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary from a principal council 
(that is leader, deputy leader or executive member) cannot receive any payment 
from any community or town council, other than travel and subsistence expenses 
and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance. 
 

 
9 

Where a member who is on official business or an approved duty is driven by a third party (not a member or officer of that authority), 
the member can claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided the authority is satisfied that the member 
has incurred these costs.

Page 185



 

61  

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
(IRPW) Regulations: 

 
a) For the remuneration of members and co-opted members of relevant 

authorities 
 

b) For functions relating to the salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal 
Councils and Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
 

Introduction 

 
Part 8 (sections 141 to 160) and schedules 2 and 3 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 (the Measure) set out the arrangements for the payments and 
pensions for members of relevant authorities and the functions and responsibilities of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel). 

 
Sections 62 to 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amends 
sections 142, 143, 144, 147, 148 and 151 of the Measure and confers additional 
powers on the Panel. 

 
The powers contained in part 8 and schedules 2 and 3 of the Measure (as amended) 
have replaced the following Statutory Instruments: 

 
 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of County and 

County Borough Councils and National Park Authorities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2002 (No. 1895 (W.196)). 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Fire Authorities) 
(Wales) Regulations 2004 (No. 2555 (W.227)). 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007 
(No.1086 (W.115)). 

 

The Measure also has replaced the sections of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000 
relating to payments to councillors in Wales. 

 
Payments for members of community and town councils are set out in Part 5 of 
these Regulations. The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community 
Councils) (Wales) Regulations 2003 (No. 895(W.115)) were revoked from 1April 
2013. 

 
Part 1 

 
General 

 
1. a. The short title of these Regulations is: “IRPW Regulations”. 

b. These IRPW Regulations came into force on 1 April 2021 and replace 

Page 186



 

62  

those in force from 1 April 2012. The implementation date for each of 
the relevant authorities is set out in the Annual Report or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

c. Authorities are required to produce a schedule of payments to members 
and co-opted members no later than the 31 July each year, for 
submission to the Panel and publication (see paragraph 46). 

 

Interpretation 
 

2. In the IRPW Regulations: 

 

 “The 1972 Act” means the Local Government Act 1972. 

 “The 2000 Act” means the Local Government Act 2000. 

 “The 2013 Act” means the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) 
Act 2013. 

 “Payment” means the actual or maximum amount which may be paid 
to members and co-opted members of a relevant authority for 
expenses necessarily incurred when carrying out the official business 
of the relevant authority. 

 “Annual Report” means a report produced by the Panel in accordance 
with section 145 of the Measure. 

 “Approved duty” in relation to community and town councils has 
the meaning as set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. 

 “Authority” means a relevant authority in Wales as defined in 
Section 144(2) of the Measure and includes a principal council 
(county or county borough council), a national park authority and a 
Welsh fire and rescue authority, a community or town council. 

 “Basic Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 6 of 
these Regulations, and may be qualified as “LA Basic Salary” to refer to 
the basic salary of a member of a principal council; “NPA Basic Salary” 
to refer to the basic salary of a member of a national park authority; and 
“FRA Basic Salary” to refer to the basic salary of a member of a Welsh 
fire and rescue authority. 

 “Chief Officer” of a principal council has the meaning as defined in 
the Localism Act 2011. 

  “Civic Head” is the person elected by the council to carry out the 
functions of the chair of that council and is designated as mayor or 
chair. 

 “Committee” includes a sub-committee. 

 “Community or town council” means in relation to Part 8 of the 
Measure, a community council as defined in section 33 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 or a town council in accord with section 245B of 
the same Act. 

Page 187



 

63  

 “Consultation draft” means the draft of an Annual or Supplementary report 
under Section 146 (7) or 147(8) of the Measure. The Panel must take 
account of these representations. 

 “Constituent authority” – for national park authorities this is a principal 
council falling within the area of a national park authority; for Welsh fire 
and rescue authorities it is a principal council falling within the area of a 
fire and rescue authority. 

 “Contribution to Costs of Care and Personal Assistance” has the same 
meaning as set out in paragraph 21 of these Regulations. 

 “Controlling group” means a political group in a principal council where 
any of its members form part of the executive. 

 “Co-opted Member” has the meaning contained in section 144 (5) of the 
Measure, that is those with the right to vote on matters within the remit of 
the committee on which they serve. 

 “Co-opted Member payment” has the same meaning as set out in 
paragraph 19 of these Regulations. 

 “Democratic Services Committee” means the principal council 
committee established under section 11 of the Measure. 

 “Deputy Civic Head” is a person elected by the council to deputise for the 
mayor or chair of that council. 

 “Executive” means the executive of an authority in a form as specified in 
sections 11(2) to (5) of the 2000 Act, as amended by section 34 of the 
Measure. 

 “Executive arrangements” has the meaning given by section 10(1) of the 
2000 Act. 

 “Family absence” as defined in Section 142 (2) (b) of the Measure has the 
meaning given to it by Part 2 of the Measure, and the related Regulations 

 “Financial Loss Allowance in relation to community or town councils has 
the meaning as set out in Part 5 of the Regulations. 

 “Fire and rescue authority” means an authority constituted by a scheme 
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies. 

 “Head of paid service” means as designated under section 4(1) of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee means a committee or 
subcommittee set up by two or more principal councils under the Local 
Authority (Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) Regulations 
2013. 

 “Largest opposition group” means a political group other than a controlling 
group which has a greater number of members than any other political 
group in the authority.

Page 188



 

64  

 “Member” means a person who serves on an authority.  

 For a principal council or a community or town council a “Member” 
may be:  

 An “Elected Member” which means a person who has been elected to 
serve as a councillor for that authority. It is possible for a person to 
hold an elected office if, further to the completion of an election, no 
candidate has presented and a person holds that office subject to 
proper process. 

 A “Co-opted Member”’ which means a person who has been placed 
into membership of a council committee or to discharge a function 
subject to proper process. 

 For a national park authority, a “Member” means a person appointed 
by a constituent authority and a person appointed by Welsh Ministers.  

 For Welsh fire and rescue authorities a “Member” means a person 
appointed by a constituent authority. 

 

 “National Park Authority” means a national park authority established 
under section 63 of the Environment Act 1995. 

 “Official business” has the meaning contained in Section 142 (10) of the 
Measure in relation to the reimbursement of care, travel and subsistence 
costs necessarily incurred by members and co-opted members of a 
relevant authority (excluding community and town councils) when: 

 
a. Attending a meeting of the authority or any committee of the authority or 

any other body to which the authority makes appointments or nominations 
or of any committee of such a body. 

b. Attending a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member. 

c. Attending a meeting the holding of which is authorised by the authority or 
by a committee of the authority or by a joint committee of the authority 
and one or more other authorities. 

d. Attending any training or development event approved by the authority or 
its executive. 

e. A duty undertaken for the purpose of or in connection with the discharge 
of the functions of an executive within the meaning of Part 2 of the 2000 
Act, as amended. 

f. A duty undertaken in pursuance of a standing order which requires a 
member or members to be present when tender documents are 
opened. 

g. A duty undertaken in connection with the discharge of any function of 
the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises. 

h. A duty undertaken by members of principal councils in connection with 
constituency or ward responsibilities which arise from the discharge of 
principal council functions. 

Page 189



 

65  

i. Any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of class so 
approved, undertaken for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 
discharge of the functions of the authority or any of its committees. 

 
 “Other political group” means a political group other than a controlling 

group or the largest opposition group (if any) which comprises not less 
than ten per cent of the members of that authority. 

 “Overview and Scrutiny Committee” means a committee of the authority 
which has the powers set out in sections 21(2) and (3) of the 2000 Act, as 
amended by Part 6 of the Measure. 

 “Panel” means the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out in 
section 141(1) and schedule 2 of the Measure. 

 “Pay policy statement” means a statement produced by a relevant 
authority under section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 ‘Political group’ may be formed from members of a recognised political party 
or be a group of independent members unaffiliated to any recognised 
political party. “Presiding Member” means a member of a principal council 
who has been designated by that council to carry out functions in relation to 
the chairing of its meetings and proceedings. 

 “Principal Council” is as defined by the 1972 Act and means a county or county 
borough council. 

 “Proper officer” has the same meaning as in section 270(3) of the 1972 Act In 
community and town councils, the ‘Proper Officer’ may be the clerk or other 
official appointed for that purpose. “Public body” means a body as defined in 
section 67(b) of the 2013 Act. 

 “Qualifying provision” means a provision that makes a variation to a 
previous decision of the Panel. (Section 65 (c) of the 2013 Act). 

 “Qualifying relevant authority” is an authority within the meaning of section 63 
of the 2013 Act, required to produce a pay policy statement. 

 “Relevant authority” is set out in Section 144(2) of the Measure (as amended) 
and in section 64 of the 2013 Act and, for the purposes of these Regulations, 
includes a principal council, a community or town council, a national park 
authority and a Welsh fire and rescue authority. 

 “Relevant matters” are as defined in Section 142(2) of the Measure. 

 “Schedule” means a list setting out the authority’s decisions in respect of 
payments to be made during the year (as relating to that authority) to all 
members and co-opted members of that authority. 

 “Senior Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 11 of these 
Regulations and may be qualified as “Principal council Senior Salary” to refer 
to the senior salary of a member of a principal council; “National Park Senior 
Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a member of a national park authority; 
or “Fire and Rescue authority Senior Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a 
member of a Fire and Rescue authority. 

 “Sickness absence” means the arrangements as set out in the Annual 
Report. 

Page 190



 

66  

 “Supplementary report” has the meaning contained in section 146(4 to 8) of 
the Measure. 

 “Travelling and subsistence payment” has the same meaning as set out in 
paragraph 25 of these Regulations. 

 “Year” has the following meanings: 

“financial year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 March; 

“calendar year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 December; 

“municipal year” – the year commencing on the date of the annual 
meeting of the authority and ending the day before the annual meeting 
of the following year; for national park authorities and Welsh fire and 
rescue authorities it is the period of up to twelve months following the 
annual meeting of the authority. 

 

Part 2: Schedule of member or co-opted member payments 
 
Commencement of term of office 

 
3. The term of office of: 

 
 An elected member of a principal council or community or town 

council begins 4 days following the election subject to making the 
declaration of acceptance of that office under section 83(1) of the 
1972 Act. 

 A councillor member of a national park authority begins on the date on 
which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and 
the term of office of a Welsh Government appointed member begins on 
the date of that appointment. The term of office of the chair and deputy 
chair of the national park authority begins on their acceptance of that 
office further to being either elected or appointed as a chair or deputy 
chair of a national park authority. 

 A councillor member of a Welsh fire and rescue authority begins on the 
date on which that member is appointed as such by a constituent 
authority and the term of office of the chair and deputy chair of the fire 
and rescue authority begins on the date of election by that authority to 
that office. 

 A co-opted member of a relevant authority begins on the 
date of appointment by the relevant authority. 

 

Schedule of payments to members (the Schedule) (does not apply to 
community or town councils – see Part 5) 

 
4. An authority must produce annually, a schedule of payments it intends to 

make to its members and co-opted members. The amount of those payments 
must accord with the Panel’s determinations made for that year in its Annual 
or Supplementary Reports. The Schedule must be produced no later than four 
weeks following the annual meeting of the authority. 

 

Page 191



 

67  

Amendment to the Schedule 
 
5. An authority may amend the Schedule at any time during the year (as relating 

to the authority) provided that such amendments accord with the Panel’s 
determinations for that year. 
 

Basic salary 
 

6. An authority must provide for the payment of a basic salary, as determined by 
the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports, to each of its members. 
The amount of the salary must be the same for each member. For principal 
councils only, this salary remains payable during a period of family absence. 

 

7. A member may not receive more than one basic salary from a relevant 
authority, but a member of one relevant authority may receive a further basic 
salary by being appointed as a member of another relevant authority (except 
in the case as indicated in paragraph 16). 

 
8. The amount of the basic salary will be set in accordance with Section 142(3) 

of the Measure and will be one of the following: 

 

 The amount the authority must pay to a member of the authority. 

 The maximum amount that the authority may pay to a member of 
the authority. 

 

9. Where the term of office of a member begins or ends other than at the 
beginning or end of the year (as relating to the authority), the entitlement of 
that member is to such proportion of the basic salary as the number of days 
during which the member’s term of office subsists during that year bears to 
the number of days in that year. 

 
10. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member 

of an authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the basic salary 
payable to that member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which 
that member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the 
authority. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the Welsh Ministers 
(Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

 

Senior salary 
 
11. Subject to paragraphs 12 to 18 an authority can make payments of a senior 

salary to members that it has given specific responsibilities. Such payments 
must accord with the Panel’s determination for the year (as relating to the 
authority) that the payments are made and must be set out in the Schedule of 
that authority. For principal councils only, a senior salary will remain payable 
during the family absence of the office holder. 

 
12. The Panel will prescribe in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the following: 

 
 The categories of members eligible for the payment of a senior salary 

Page 192



 

68  

which may not be the same for all authorities or categories of 
authorities. 

 The discretion available to authorities in relation to the payment of 
senior salaries which may not be the same for all authorities or 
categories of authorities. 

 
13. The amount of the senior salaries payable will be in accordance with 

section 142(3) of the Measure and specify: 

 The amount that a relevant authority must pay to a member of 
the authority. 

 The maximum amount that a relevant authority may pay to a member 
of the authority. 

 

14. The Senior Salary will comprise an amalgam of the basic salary and an 
additional amount for the relevant specific responsibility determined by the 
Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. This may not be the same for 
all authorities or categories of authorities. 

 
15. The Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports will determine either the 

maximum proportion of its membership or the total number of members that 
an authority can pay as senior salaries. The percentage may not exceed fifty 
percent without the express approval of Welsh Ministers (Section 142(5) of 
the Measure). For principal councils only, the maximum proportion or number 
may be exceeded to include payment of a senior salary to an additional 
member who is appointed to provide temporary cover for the family absence 
of a senior salary office holder (subject to the 50% limit). 

 

15(a). For, Fire and Rescue Authorities and National Park Authorities the maximum 
proportion or number may be exceeded to include the payment of a senior 
salary to an additional member who is appointed to provide temporary cover 
for the sickness absence of a senior salary holder as determined in the 
Annual Report or a Supplementary Report. 

 
15(b). Payments to chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Sub 

Committees are additional to the maximum proportion of its membership that 
an authority can pay as senior salaries subject to the overall maximum of fifty 
percent as contained in Section 142(5) of the Measure. The Panel will 
determine the amounts of such payments in an Annual or Supplementary 
Report. 

 

16. An authority must not pay more than one senior salary to any member. A 
principal council member in receipt of a senior salary as leader or executive 
member of an authority (determined as full-time by the Panel) may not 
receive a second salary as a member appointed to serve on a national park 
authority or a Welsh fire and rescue authority. 

 

16(a). Paragraph 16 does not apply to payments made to a chair of a Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee who is in receipt of a senior salary 
for a role that is not classified as full time equivalent. It continues to apply to 
leaders or members of the executive. 

Page 193



 

69  

 

17. Where a member does not have, throughout the year specific responsibilities 
that allow entitlement to a senior salary, that member’s payment is to be such 
proportion of the salary as the number of days during which that member has 
such special responsibility bears to the number of days in that year. 

 
18. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member 

of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make 
payments of the member’s senior salary for the duration of the suspension 

(Section 155(1) of the Measure). If the partial suspension relates only to the 
specific responsibility element of the payment, the member may retain the 
basic salary. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the Welsh 
Ministers. 

 

Co-opted member payment 
 
19. A relevant authority must provide for payments to a co-opted member as 

determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. In relation 
to this regulation ‘co-opted member’ means a member as determined in 
Section 144(5) of the Measure and set out in paragraph 2 of these 
Regulations. 

 

20. Where a co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from an 
authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payment 
of a co-opted member fee for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) 
of the Measure). 

 
Payments Contribution to Costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

 
21. Authorities must provide for the payment to members and co-opted members 

of an authority the reimbursement in respect of such expenses of arranging 
the care of children or dependants or for the individual member as are 
necessarily incurred in carrying out official business as a member or co-opted 
member of that authority. Payments under this paragraph must not be made: 

 
 In respect of any child over the age of fifteen years or dependant 

unless the member or co-opted member satisfies the authority that 
the child or dependant required supervision which has caused the 
member to incur expenses that were necessary in respect of the 
care of that child or dependant in the carrying out of the duties of a 
member or co-opted member. 

 To more than one member or co-opted member of the authority in 
relation to the care of the same child or dependant for the same 
episode of care. 

 Of more than one reimbursement for care to a member or co-opted 
member of the authority who is unable to demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the authority that the member or co-opted member has to 
make separate arrangements for the care of different children or 
dependants. 

 

Page 194



 

70  

22. The arrangements in respect of the contribution to cost of care and 
personal assistance payable by an authority is to be determined by the 
Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 

 

23. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially 
suspended from being a member or co-opted member of the authority 
(Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the contribution to the cost of 
care and personal assistance payable to that member or co-opted 
member in receipt of the responsibilities or duties from which that member 
or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended must be 
withheld by the authority. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the 
Welsh Ministers for reasons other than suspension (Section 155(1) of the 
Measure). 

 

24. An authority’s Schedule must stipulate the arrangements regarding the 
contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance payable and its 
arrangements for making claims, taking full account of the Panel’s 
determinations in this respect. 

 

Travel and subsistence payments 
 
25. Subject to paragraphs 26 and 27 below a member or co-opted member is 

entitled to receive payments from the authority by way of travelling and 
subsistence payments at rates determined by the Panel in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. Such payments are in respect of expenditure 
incurred by a member or co-opted member in the performance of the official 
business within or outside the boundary of the authority. 

 

(Paragraphs 26 & 27 apply only to principal councils) 
 
26. Payment of a subsistence payment to a principal council member for the 

performance of official business within the boundaries of a county or county 
borough where they are a member should only be made when the authority 
is satisfied that it can be justified on economic grounds. This does not apply 
in respect of co-opted members of a council who live outside that authority. 

 
27. A principal council may make provision, subject to any limitations it thinks 

fit, for members to claim mileage expenses for official business in 
connection with constituency or ward responsibilities where they arise out 
of the discharge of the functions of the county or county borough. 

 

28. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended 
from being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 
Act refers), travelling and subsistence payments payable to that member or 
co- opted member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that 
member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the 
authority. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the Welsh Ministers 
for reasons other than suspension (Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

  

Page 195



 

71  

Part 3: Further provisions 
 
Pensions 

 
29. Under Section 143 of the Measure, the Panel may make determinations in 

respect of pension arrangements for principal council members in its Annual 
or Supplementary Reports. Such determinations may: 

 
 Define which members for whom the principal council will be 

required to pay a pension.  

 Describe the relevant matters in respect of which a local authority will 
be required to pay a pension. 

 Make different decisions for different principal councils. 

 
Payments to support the function of an authority member 

 
30. An authority must provide for the requirements of a member to undertake 

their role and responsibilities more effectively. The way in which this support 
should be provided is determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary 
Reports. 

 

Arrangements in relation to family absence 
 
31. Part 2 of the Measure sets out the rights of principal council members in 

relation to family absence. The Panel will set out its determinations and the 
administrative arrangements in relation to these payments in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. 

 

Sickness Absence 
 
32.  Arrangements for long-term sickness absence of senior salary holders of 

principal councils, Fire and Rescue Authorities and National Park Authorities 
will be as set out in the Panel’s Annual Report or Supplementary Report. 

 

Part 4: Payments 
 

Repayment of payments 
 
33. An authority can require that such part of a payment be repaid where 

payment has already been made in respect of any period during which the 
member or co-opted member concerned: 

 
a. is suspended or partially suspended from that member’s or co-

opted member’s duties or responsibilities in accordance with 
Part 3 of the 2000 Act or Regulations made under that Act. 

b. ceases to be a member or co-opted member of the authority. 

Page 196



 

72  

c. or in any way is not entitled to receive a salary, allowance or fee in 
respect of that period. 

 

Forgoing payments 
 
34. Under Section 154 of the Measure, any member or co-opted member may by 

notice in writing to the proper officer of the authority elect to forgo any part of 
their entitlement to a payment under the determination of the Panel for that 
particular year (as relating to the authority). 

 

Part 5: Specific provisions relating to community and town 
councils (“the council”) 
 
Interpretation 

 
35. For the purposes of this Part the term member means both an elected 

member and a co-opted member. 
 
Payments 

 
36. Payments  

 

a) The Annual Report or a Supplementary Report determines the 
arrangements and amount of an annual payment to members in respect of 
costs incurred in carrying out the role of a member and if appropriate take 
account of the variation in size or financial circumstances of different 
councils. 

b) The council may make payments to members in respect of costs of 
travel for attending approved duties within or outside the area of the 
council. The amounts claimable will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

c) The council may reimburse subsistence costs to its members when 
attending approved duties within or outside the area of the council. The 
arrangements for reimbursement will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

d) The council may pay compensation for Financial Loss to its members 
where such loss has occurred for attending approved duties within or 
outside the area of the council. The payments will be set out in the 
Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

e) The council may make a payment to the chair or mayor and deputy chair 
or mayor of the council for the purposes of undertaking the role of that 
office. The payment will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary 
Report of the Panel. 

 

f) The Annual Report or a Supplementary Report determines the 
arrangements for payments to members of a council who undertake 
senior roles and if appropriate take account of the variation in size or 
financial circumstances of different councils. 

Page 197



 

73  

g) The council must reimburse the contribution to costs of care and 
personal assistance to a member if claimed, as determined in the 
Annual Report of the Panel. 

 

37. A member may elect to forgo any part of an entitlement to payment under 
these Regulations by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the 
council. 

 

38. A member making a claim for compensation for Financial Loss must sign a 
statement that the member has not made and will not make any other claim in 
respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

 
39. “Approved Duty” under this Part means 

 
i. Attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee or sub- 

committee of the council or of any other body to which the council makes 
appointments or nominations or of any committee or sub-committee of 
such a body. 

ii. Attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the 
council or a committee or sub-committee of the council, or a joint 
committee of the council and one or more councils, or a sub-committee of 
such a joint committee provided that at least two members of the council 
have been invited and where the council is divided into political groupings 
at least two such groups have been invited. 

iii. Attendance at a meeting of any association of councils of which the 
council is a member. 

iv. Attendance at any training or development event approved by the council. 

v. Any other duty approved by the council or duty of a class approved by the 
council for the discharge of its functions or any of its committees or 
sub-committees. 

 

Part 6: Miscellaneous 
 
Arrangements for payments 

 
40. The Schedule of an authority must set out the arrangements for payment to all 

members and co-opted members of that authority. Such payments may be 
made at such times and at such intervals as determined by the authority. 

 
Claims 

 
41. An authority must specify a time limit from the date on which an entitlement to 

travelling or subsistence payments arise during which a claim for must be 
made by the person to whom they are payable. However, this does not 
prevent an authority from making a payment where the allowance is not 
claimed within the period specified. 

Page 198



 

74  

42. Any claim for payment of travelling, subsistence or care costs in 
accordance with these Regulations (excluding claims for travel by private 
vehicle or bicycle) shall be accompanied by appropriate receipts proving 
actual cost. 

 

Avoidance of duplication 
 
43. A claim for a payment of travelling, subsistence or care costs must include, 

or be accompanied by, a statement signed by the member or co- opted 
member that the member or co-opted member has not made and will not 
make any other claim in respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

 

Records of payments 
 
44. An authority must keep a record of the payments made in accordance with 

these Regulations as set out in an Annual or Supplementary Report. 

 
 

Publicity requirements 
 
(The required content of publicity requirements is contained in an annex to the 
Annual Report) 

 

45. An authority must, as soon as practicable after determining its Schedule of 
Remuneration for the year under these Regulations and any Report of the 
Panel and not later than 31 July of the year to which the Schedule refers, 
arrange for the Schedule’s publication within the authority’s area and to notify 
the Panel. (This section does not apply to community and town 
councils). 

 
46. As soon as practicable and no later than 30 September following the end of 

the financial year all relevant authorities must publicise within the authority’s 
area and notify the Panel:  

 

 the total sum paid by it to each member or co-opted member in respect 
of basic salary, senior salary, co-opted member fee, travel and 
subsistence payments. 

 

 the total expenditure on contribution towards costs of care and 
personal assistance.  

 

47. In the same timescale and in the same manner, an authority must publicise 
any further remuneration received by a member nominated or appointed to 
another relevant authority. (This section applies only to principal 
councils). 

Page 199



 

75  

Publicising the reports of the Panel 
 
48. Under Section 146(7) (a) and (b) of the Measure, the Panel will send a 

consultation draft of its Annual Report or Supplementary Report to all relevant 
authorities for circulation to authority members and co-opted members, so that 
representations can be made by members and co-opted members to the 
Panel, normally in a period of eight weeks. 

 
49. The Panel will determine in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the 

arrangements publicising its Reports in accordance with Section 151 and 152 
of the Measure. 

 

Monitoring compliance with the Panel’s determinations 

 
50. Section 153 of the Measure determines that relevant authorities must comply 

with the requirements imposed by the Panel in its Annual Reports. It also 
empowers the Panel to monitor the payments made by relevant authorities 
and for it to require the provision of information that it specifies. The 
requirements under this section will be set out in the Annual Report of the 
Panel. 

 

Page 200



 

76  

Annex 3: Schedule of Member Remuneration 

 
1. Principal councils, national park authorities (NPAs) and Welsh fire and rescue 

authorities (FRAs) (but not community and town councils) must maintain an 
annual Schedule of Member Remuneration (the ‘Schedule’) which is in accord 
with the Panel’s determinations on member salary and co-opted member 
payments and which must contain the following information: 

 

In respect of a principal council: 
 

a. Named members who are to receive only the basic salary and the amount 
to be paid. 

b. Named members who are to receive a Band 1 and Band 2 senior salary, 
the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

c. Named members who are to receive a Band 3, Band 4 and Band 5 senior 
salary, the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

d. Named members who are to receive a civic salary and the amount to be 
paid. 

e. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and whether 
chair or ordinary member and the amount to be paid. 

f. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as a chair of a Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee and the amount to 
be paid. 

 

g. Named members in receipt of a specific or additional senior salary 
approved by the Panel and the amount to be paid. 

 

In respect of National Park and Fire and Rescue Authorities: 
 

a. Named members who are to receive a basic salary and the amount to be 
paid. 

 

b. Named member who is to receive a senior salary as a chair of the 
authority and the amount to be paid. 

 

c. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as deputy chair of 
the authority or a committee chair and the amount to be paid.  

 
d. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and 

whether a chair or ordinary member and the amounts to be paid. 
 

2. Amendments made to the Schedule during the municipal year must be 
communicated to the Panel as soon as it is practicable. 

 
3. Principal councils must confirm in their annual Schedule that the maximum 

limit of senior salaries set for the council has not been exceeded. 

Page 201



 

77  

4. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must include a statement of allowable 
expenses and the duties for which they may be claimed for care, travel and 
subsistence in their annual Schedule which is in accord with the Panel’s 
determinations. 

 

5. The Schedule must set out the arrangements for the payment of salaries, 
allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of the relevant 
authority (IRPW Regulation 35); arrangements for making claims for care and 
personal assistance, travel and subsistence expenses (IRPW Regulations 24 
and 36-37); arrangements for the avoidance of duplication (IRPW Regulation 
38) and arrangements for re-payment of salaries, allowances and fees (IRPW 
Regulation 33). This schedule must also include the duties for which members 
and co-opted members are able to claim reimbursement towards travel, 
subsistence and care and personal assistance costs. 

 
6. Principal councils must declare in the Schedule whether: 

 

 A statement of the basic responsibility of a councillor is in place. 

 Role descriptors of senior salary office holders are in place. 

 Records are kept of councillor attendance. 

 

7. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must make arrangements for the 
publication of the Schedule of Member Remuneration as soon as practicable 
after its determination and no later than 31 July of the year to which it applies. 
The Schedule should be published in a manner that provides ready access for 
members of the public. 

 

8. The Schedule must also be sent to the Panel Secretariat to be received by 31 

July. 

 

9.  Any changes to the schedule during the year must be promptly publicised in the 

above manner and all changes notified to Panel Secretariat promptly. 

 

10. Retention. The time limit for the schedule to be retained should be consistent 

with the council’s policy on document retention.

Page 202



 

78  

Annex 4: Publication of Remuneration – the Panel’s 
Requirements 

 
In accordance with Section 151 of the Wales (Local Government) Measure 2011 the 
Panel requires that: 

 

1. Relevant authorities must publish a Statement of Payments made to its 
members for each financial year. This information must be published in a 
form and location that is easily accessible to members of the public no later 
than 30 September following the end of the previous financial year and in the 
same timescale also provided to the Panel. The following information must 
be provided: 

 

a. The amount of basic salary, senior salary, civic salary and co-opted 
member fee paid to each named member or co-opted member of the 
relevant authority, including where the member had chosen to forego all or 
part of the salary, or fee for the municipal year in question. Where a senior 
salary has been paid, the title of the senior office held is to be provided. 

b. The payments made by community and town councils to named members 
as: 

 

 Payments in respect of telephone usage, information technology, 
consumables etc. 

 Responsibility payments 

 Allowances made to a mayor or chair and deputy mayor or deputy 

chair 

 Compensation for Financial Loss 

 Costs incurred in respect of travel and subsistence 
 

c. All travel and subsistence expenses and other payments received by 
each named member and co-opted member of the relevant authority, 
with each category identified separately. 

d. The amount of any further payments received by any named member 
nominated to, or appointed by, another relevant authority or other public 
body as defined by Section 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) 
(Wales) Act 2013, namely: 

 a local health board 

 a police and crime panel 

 a relevant authority 

 a body designated as a public body in an order made by the Welsh 
Ministers. 

e. Names of members who did not receive basic or senior salary because 
they were suspended for all or part of the annual period to which the 
Schedule applies. 

f. In respect of the publication of the contribution towards costs of care 
and personal assistance, relevant authorities are only required to 

Page 203



 

79  

publish the total amount reimbursed during the year. It is a matter for 
each authority to determine its response to any Freedom of 
Information requests it receives. However, it is not intended that details 
of individual claims should be disclosed. 

 
 

2. Nil returns are required to be published and provided to the Panel by 

30 September. 

 

3. Retention. The time limit for the publications to be retained should be 

consistent with the council’s policy on document retention. 

  

Page 204



 

80  

Annex 5: Summary of new and updated determinations 
contained in this report 

 
The numbers of most of the determinations contained within this report have changed 
from previous reports. 
 
To assist authorities, this table sets out the determinations in this report which are 
entirely new or have been updated.  
 

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Principal Councils 

Determination 1: 
The basic salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be £16,800. 

Determination 2:  
Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in 
Table 4. 

Determination 3:  
Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in accordance with 
Table 4. 

Determination 4:  
Where paid, a Deputy Civic Head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in accordance 
with Table 4. 

Determination 5:  
Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid £25,593 in 
accordance with Table 4. 

Assistants to the Executive 

Determination 13:  
The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if any, for 
Assistants to the Executive. 

National Park Authorities 

Determination 22:  
The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be £4,738 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 23:  
The senior salary of the Chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 24: 
A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a Deputy Chair where appointed.  

Determination 25: 
Committee Chairs or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £8,478. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

Determination 29:  
The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be £2,369 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 30:  
The senior salary of the Chair of a FRA shall be £11,162 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 31:  
A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the Deputy Chair where appointed. 

Determination 32: 
Chairs of Committees or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £6,109.  
 

Community and Town Councils 

Determination 47:  

Page 205



 

81  

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Each council can decide to introduce an attendance allowance for members. The amount 
of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss will not be entitled to claim attendance allowance for 
the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a system of Attendance Allowances must set out the 
details of the scheme and publish on their website.  

Determination 51:  
The application of the Remuneration Framework by relevant Group. 

 
 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales  
Room N.03 
First Floor  
Crown Buildings  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 
Telephone: 0300 0253038 
E-mail irpmailbox@gov.wales 
 
The Report and other information about the Panel and its work are available on 
our website at: 

 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
 

Page 206

mailto:irpmailbox@gov.wales
http://irpw.gov.wales/

	Agenda
	3 To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 21 May 2021 and to consider any matters arising
	Minutes

	4 To consider a Report on aspects of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act relevant to the Democratic Services Committee
	5 To consider a report on the Diversity in Democracy Action Plan
	cover report - diversity in democracy
	diversity in democracy action plan

	6 To consider a report on the Electoral Review Ward Boundaries
	report - ward boundaries
	Written Statement - Electoral Arrangements Decision - 12 August 2021 (e)

	7 To consider a report on Elected Member Role Descriptions
	cover report - Members' role descriptions
	Framework+Member+Role+Descriptions+and+Person+Specifications

	8 To consider a report on a Development Framework for Councillors in Wales 2021
	cover report - competency framework
	20210403 Competency Framework ENG

	9 To consider a report on Member ICT Provision post elections 2022
	10 To consider a draft Ceredigion County Council Candidates' Guide
	report - County Council candidates' guide
	Pecyn Darpar Gynghorwyr (s)

	11 To consider a draft Members' Induction Programme 2022
	cover report - Members' training programme
	10. (S) Members' Training Programme

	12 To consider the Democratic Services' Committee Annual Report
	Front cover Saesneg
	Democratic Services Committee Annual Report 2020-21

	13 To consider a report in relation to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales' Draft Annual Report 2022/23 consultation
	02_Report re Draft IRPW Annual Report
	Covering letter for draft annual report 2022 - 2023
	Draft IRPW Annual report


